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Dear Shareholders,

In 2021, 51 Credit Card Inc. (the “"Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”, “we" or "us") forged ahead to implement business transformation and
upgrading. During the year, our focus remained on the operation of three main
segments which are the provision of technology services for financial institutions,

credit facilitation business and “Little Blue Book™ business.

STEADY INCREASE IN USER TRAFFIC

The 51 Credit Card Manager App has created a comprehensive ecosystem,
including credit management services, credit card technology services, and credit
facilitation services, etc. User traffic also increased steadily. As at 31 December
2021, the number of registered users increased to approximately 88.3 million,
and the number of credit cards we had managed cumulatively also increased to
approximately 149.9 million. Our professional and honest service attitude not
only increased the loyalty of our existing users, but also earned the trust of more

quality users.

INITIAL SUCCESS IN TRANSFORMATION

In 2021, we implemented transformation and upgrade of our principal business
and improved our business competitiveness constantly with our own advanced
technologies. We stuck to the philosophy of operation compliance, and
enhanced our innovative and creative abilities. The “Little Blue Book™ business
was promoted gradually and in an orderly way and steady recovery was also
seen in the credit facilitation business. Our overall performance has improved as
compared with 2020. All these have demonstrated that initial success has been
achieved in our transformation. In the future, we will focus on the enhancement
of our technical strength and business capabilities with a pure heart, carry out

business practically and strive to create long-term value for the Shareholders.

Last but not least, on behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
"Directors") of the Company, | would like to thank all the Shareholders for their
support and express my sincere gratitude to all our staff for their dedication and

contribution to the Group.

Sun Haitao

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

30 March 2022
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BIEE W RO

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group operates a widely-used credit card management platform, 51 Credit
Card Manager App (51 Credit Card Manager™). As at 31 December 2021, the
number of registered users of 5| Credit Card Manager was approximately 88.3
million, and the number of credit cards we had managed cumulatively amounted
to approximately 149.9 million. In September 2019, we launched a commercial
information searching tool, Little Blue Book App (‘“Little Blue Book™),
with an aim to provide users with valuable commercial information. As at
31 December 2021, Little Blue Book had approximately 6.5 million registered

users.

In 2021, the scale of the existing customers of the credit facilitation business
increased steadily, and through the adoption of more stringent risk control
measures, the delinquency rate of credit facilitation assets maintained at a low
level. In terms of new customers, we restarted the credit facilitation business
targeting new customers and achieved a certain level of credit facilitation scale
with risk under control. Meanwhile, we adopted multiple measures to continue
to intensify efforts in the collection of overdue assets generated from historical
credit facilitation business, so that the recovery of overdue assets has maintained

a positive momentum.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

In 2021, we repositioned Little Blue Book as a “smart sales growth cloud
platform” and launched the “Intelligent Smart Expansion” product targeting small
and medium-sized enterprises and sales solutions for medium and large-sized
enterprises. In the meantime, we launched a membership system of Little Blue
Book for individual users to provide them with multiple dimensions of corporate
information inquiry services, social network recommendation, etc. In this process,
we have established a competitive C To B model to provide resources and
business opportunities for the own development of To B business of Little Blue
Book. We believe that To C service for individual users and To B service for
enterprises of Little Blue Book can develop collaboratively and mutually promote

to maintain a leading edge in the market competition.

In summary, in 2021, the scale of credit facilitation business recovered steadily,
the delinquency rate maintained at a low level and the efficiency of overdue
assets recovery maintained a positive momentum, providing a solid foundation
for the Group's day-to-day operations and the development of new businesses
such as the software as a service (“SaaS”) business. For the year ended 3l
December 2021, our revenue was approximately RMB440.| million, representing
an increase of approximately 60.4% from approximately RMB274.3 million
for the corresponding period in 2020; our operating loss was approximately
RMB199.3 million, representing a decrease of approximately 86.1% from
approximately RMB1,438.4 million for the corresponding period in 2020; and
our net loss was approximately RMB260.7 million, representing a decrease
of approximately 84.8% from approximately RMBI,716.4 million for the
corresponding period in 2020.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEwmR

As for non international financial reporting standards (‘non-IFRS") measures,
for the year ended 31 December 2021, our non-IFRS adjusted operating
profit was approximately RMBI.8 million, as compared with non-IFRS adjusted
operating loss of approximately RMB927.2 million for the corresponding period
in 2020; and our non-IFRS adjusted net loss was approximately RMB57.7 million,
as compared with non-IFRS adjusted net loss of approximately RMBI,222.2
million for the corresponding period in 2020. Please refer to the section headed
“FINANCIAL REVIEW — Non-IFRS measures” of this report for the definitions,

explanations of usage and reconciliations of non-IFRS measures.

FFER RS R (FEEBRMBREEDN)) 5=
FEEZE2021E 12831 BIEEE > HMIBIERE RS
KRS HECABRKEZHNANAREISEE T
M2020F EHABY FECO PR B TS 3R 5 ZE A AC R BE IS 65
BANARE2728E8 T ; REMNIEE K BR
HEAKLRAEFEERHOARES7.78& 7T M2020
FRANFERMFHREENCHEZEBRBAOA
RIE1222B8 T - F2EARENTH B —IE
BRI RS 25t 2 — 81 IFE B R 5 iR & 22 A1
AENTEER BABERER.

Year on

2021 2020 year change

20214 20206F Gila=d

Percentage Percentage
RMB'000 of revenue RMB000 of revenue  Percentage
1z = 6y

ARETFT B ANEETT =piin =

(approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate)

#) #) (#) #) #)

Revenue i 440,098 100% 274309 100.0% 60.4%

Credit facilitation and service fee SERSRRGE 237411 53.9% 95,427 34.8% 148.8%

Payment service fee SRBE 78,560 17.9% 44976 16:4% 747%

Credit card technology service fee ERRRRBE 39,902 9.1% 45829 16.7% (12.9%)

SaaS service fee SaaS fRFE 32,716 7.4% 29,850 10.9% 9.6%

Other revenue Hitilz 51,509 11.7% 58,227 21.2% (11.5%)

Operating loss for the year FELEEHE (199,301) (1,438,437) (86.1%)

Net loss for the year FEEHR (260,701) (1,716,406) (84.8%)

Non-IFRS measures FFEIRM SR &R E

Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit/(loss) JEBIRM IR S R FEL N/A

for the year () AR (BB 1,783 (927.235) TEH
Non-IFRS adjusted net loss R BRESEREER

for the year @ HEFHERY (57,656) (1222,204) (95.3%)
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit/(loss) for the year is defined as operating
loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 excluding share-based
compensation expenses, fair value loss of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL"), impairment loss of intangible assets and impairment loss of
investments accounted for using equity method. For more details, please see the

section headed “Non-IFRS measures” below.

Non-IFRS adjusted net loss for the year is defined as net loss for the year ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 excluding share-based compensation expenses, fair
value (loss)/gain of financial assets/(liabilities) at FVPL, impairment loss of intangible
assets and impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity method. For

more details, please see the section headed “Non-IFRS measures” below.

Credit Facilitation Service

The Group refers qualified borrowers to partnered financial institutions to
provide loan services and receives service fees upon successful drawdown
of loans to borrowers.We also provide credit enhancement to partnered
financial institutions through a licenced financial guarantee company within

the Group.

In 2021, the total volume of credit facilitation business was approximately
RMB4,317.2 million, all being businesses under the cooperation with
financial institutions, representing an increase of approximately 78.6%
from approximately RMB2,416.9 million for 2020. Through the adoption
of stringent risk control measures, the Day-| delinquency rate (defined
as the total amount of overdue principal as of a specified date divided
by the total amount of principal due for repayment as of such date) of
the credit facilitation assets facilitated in 2021 was lower than 6.0%, and
the total delinquency rate of the credit facilitation business maintained
at a low level. Meanwhile, the 30-day collection rate of overdue assets
was approximately 84.6%. The average tenure of loans decreased from
approximately 104 months in 2020 to approximately 8.9 months in
2021, and the average amount of loans decreased from approximately

RMB9,900 in 2020 to approximately RMB7,500 in 2021.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEwmR

10

SaaS Business

The Saa$ business consists of the Little Blue Book business and the smart
retail business. Little Blue Book is a smart sales growth cloud platform that
generates subscription income from corporate customers and individual
users. The smart retail business serves corporate customers, and obtains
fixed income from system development and hardware and software sales
and agency fees based on customer usage such as transaction payment
amount, cloud server usage and SMS traffic. Revenue from SaaS business
increased from approximately RMB29.9 million in 2020 to approximately
RMB32.7 million in 2021.

Credit Card Technology Service

In 2021, credit card technology service mainly focuses on the issuance of
co-branded cards under the cooperation with financial institutions. We
evaluate the investment in each business line based on market conditions

from time to time.

In co-branded cards business, the Group carries out the online credit card
applications under the cooperation with financial institutions. Individual
users will receive co-branded credit cards issued by financial institutions
after passing a series of risk assessments. We share the revenue generated
by co-branded credit cards with financial institutions over several years.
For individual cooperative financial institutions, the Group also provides

compensation for the risk of individual repayment default.
The revenue from credit card technology service decreased from

approximately RMB45.8 million in 2020 to approximately RMB39.9 million
in 2021.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report
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Management Discussion And Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our total revenue increased by approximately 60.4% from approximately
RMB274.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB440. | million for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Credit facilitation and service fee increased by approximately [48.8% from
approximately RMB95.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB237.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2021. We
generally collect credit facilitation service fee from borrowers according to
the pre-confirmed fee schedules, and recognize in the consolidated financial
statements the upfront credit facilitation service fee at the inception of the loan
and the post credit facilitation service fee over the loan during the year The
increase of credit facilitation service fee was mainly attributable to the increase
of the credit facilitation business volume and the increased rate of return along

with the decrease in the risk level of credit facilitation business in 2021.

Payment service fee increased by approximately 74.7% from approximately
RMB45.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB78.6 million for the year ended 3| December 2021, mainly due to the

increase in business volume of payment service in 2021.

Saa$ service fee increased by approximately 9.6% from approximately RMB29.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB32.7
million for the year ended 31 December 2021, mainly due to the increase in
the transaction volume of the smart retail business and the increase in the

subscription income of Little Blue Book in 2021.

Credit card technology service fee decreased by approximately 12.9% from
approximately RMB45.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB39.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. In 2021,
credit card technology service mainly focused on the issuance of co-branded
cards under the cooperation with financial institutions. After evaluating the
market situations, we reduced the investment in the co-branded card business,

which led to a decrease in credit card technology service fee.

Other revenue decreased by approximately | 1.5% from approximately RMB58.2
million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB5I1.5
million for the year ended 3| December 2021, mainly due to the decrease
in the referral service fee from approximately RMB26.6 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMBI10.2 million for the year
ended 3| December 2021. In 2021, the number of referral service partners
decreased, thus resulting in a decrease in business volume as compared with the

corresponding period in 2020.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

BEEwmR

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by approximately 62.7% from approximately
RMBI,712.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMB639.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2021.

Origination and servicing expenses decreased by approximately 14.2% from
approximately RMB309.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB265.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
including (i) the staff compensation and benefit expenses for the year ended
31 December 2021 decreased by approximately 20.5% to approximately
RMB55.6 million from approximately RMB69.9 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 due to the decreased average wages; and (ii) the depreciation
and amortization expenses for the year ended 31 December 2021 decreased
by approximately 67.7% to approximately RMBI 1.2 million from approximately
RMB34.7 million for the corresponding period in 2020 due to the expiration of

certain leases and useful lives of certain fixed assets.

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by approximately 12.3% from
approximately RMB60.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMB53.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. In 2021,
we optimized the investment model and achieved growth in the scale of credit
facilitation business on the basis that sales and marketing expenses decreased as

compared to the corresponding period in 2020.

General and administrative expenses decreased by approximately 28.19% from
approximately RMB140.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately RMBIOI.| million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
including (i) the staff compensation and benefit expenses for the year ended 31
December 2021 decreased by approximately 13.5% to approximately RMB66.5
million from approximately RMB76.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 due to the number of administrative staff was reduced; and (i) the lease
amortization expenses for the year ended 3| December 2021 decreased by
approximately 69.9% to approximately RMB6.4 million from approximately
RMB21.3 million for the corresponding period in 2020 due to the expiration of

leases of certain fixed assets leased.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Research and development expenses decreased by approximately 28.3%
from approximately RMB70.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
to approximately RMB50.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2021,
mainly due to the decrease of research and development staff as the result
of business transformation, which led to a decrease in employee benefit
expenses for research and development department by approximately 22.9%
to approximately RMB39.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from
approximately RMB5 .5 million for the corresponding period in 2020.

Expected credit loss (“ECL") decreased by approximately 97.7% from a loss
of approximately RMB665.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
to approximately RMBI5.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2021,
mainly because (i) the expected credit loss related to quality assurance fund
and contract assets of approximately RMB516.4 million for the year ended 3|
December 2020 turned to a reversal of a loss of approximately RMB32.7 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021, mainly because in 2021, the impact of
the exit of P2P business and the pandemic of the coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19") on our business was weakened substantially. Meanwhile, we
adopted stringent risk control measures and the risk level of the credit facilitation
business maintained at a low level; (i) the ECL related to loans to customers from
approximately RMBI.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 turned
to a reversal of a loss of approximately RMBO.4 million for the year ended 31
December 2021. Loans to customers, net are mainly historical overdue assets, and
the overdue recovery in 2021 was maintained well; and (iii) the ECL related to
receivables are mainly caused by the expected credit loss on accounts receivables
under the credit card technology service, which decreased by approximately
72.7% from approximately RMB100.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately RMB27.3 million for the year ended 3| December
2021, mainly due to the reduction of the scale in business. The management
has closely monitored all outstanding overdue assets and regularly reviewed the

recoverability of various loans and receivables.

Other losses, net decreased by approximately 67.0% from approximately
RMB466.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
RMBI154.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, which mainly
represents that (i) the impairment loss on goodwill and licence under intangible
assets accrued with reference to the market prices in the same period
decreased to approximately RMB148.9 million for the year ended 3| December
2021 from approximately RMB342.7 million for the corresponding period
in 2020; and (i) the fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL decreased by
approximately 63.6% to approximately RMBI13.7 million for the year ended 3|
December 2021 from approximately RMB37.6 million for the year ended 31
December 2020, as the business of several investees was underperformed in
2021, resulting in a lower market value as at 31 December 2021 as compared to
that of 31 December 2020.
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Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method

Share of net loss of associates accounted for using equity method decreased
by approximately 63.8% from approximately RMB5.8 million for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately RMB2.1 million for the year ended 31

December 2021, because of the decrease in losses of several associates in 2021.

Fair value (loss)/gain of financial liabilities at FVPL

Fair value (loss)/gain of financial liabilities at FVPL changed from a gain of
approximately RMB17.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to a loss
of approximately RMB2.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, mainly
because of the increase in market value of such liabilities as at 31 December
2021 as compared to that of 31 December 2020.

Finance expenses, net

Finance expenses, net increased by 120.6% from expenses of approximately
RMB3.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2020 to expenses of
approximately RMB7.5 million for the year ended 3| December 2021. Such
increase mainly reflected the decrease in interest income due to the decrease in

deposits.
Income tax expense

Income tax expense decreased by 82.6% from approximately RMB285.8 million
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB49.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2021, mainly due to the decrease in the deferred

tax assets written off.
Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, our loss for the year decreased substantially by
approximately 84.8% from approximately RMBI,716.4 million for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to approximately RMB260.7 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, primarily due to (i) the rebound in scale of credit
facilitation business which resulted in an increase in revenue in 2021; (ii) through
the adoption of stringent risk control measures in 2021, the delinquency rate
of credit facilitation assets continued to maintain at a low level, which led to
a significant decrease in the amount of ECL under International Accounting
Standards (“IAS") 9 as compared to the corresponding period in 2020; and (iii)
in 2021, the impairment loss on licence under intangible assets with reference to
the market prices in the same period of approximately RMB148.9 million was

recorded.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

Non-IFRS measures

To supplement our consolidated financial statements that have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs, we also use adjusted operating profit/(loss) and adjusted
net loss as additional financial indicators, which are not presented in accordance
with IFRSs. We believe that adjusted operating profit/(loss) and adjusted net
loss facilitate comparisons of operating performance from period to period by
eliminating potential impacts of items which the management considers non-
indicative of our operating performance, and provide useful information to
investors and others in understanding and evaluating our consolidated results of
operations. The use of adjusted operating profit/(loss) and adjusted net loss has
limitations as an analytical tool, and such measures should not be considered as
an isolation from, or as a substitute for an analysis of, our results of operations
or financial conditions as prepared under IFRSs. As non-IFRS measures do not
have a standardised meaning prescribed by IFRSs, such non-IFRS measures may
be defined differently from similar terms presented by other companies, and
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures presented by other

companies.

When measuring adjusted operating profit/(loss) and adjusted net loss for
the year, we excluded share-based compensation expenses, fair value (loss)/
gain of financial assets/(liabilities) at FVPL, impairment loss of intangible assets
and impairment loss of investments accounted for using equity method from
operating loss and net loss, respectively. We excluded these items because they
were either non-operating in nature or not indicative of our core operating
results and business outlook, or did not generate any cash outflows: (i) share-
based compensation expenses were excluded because they were non-cash in
nature and did not result in cash outflow. In particular, as the types of incentive
available and valuation methodologies used may vary in different companies, we
believed that excluding such item provides investors and others with greater
visibility to the underlying performance of our business operations; (i) fair value
(loss)/gain of financial assets/(liabilities) at FVPL were non-cash in nature and did
not result in cash outflow. We believe that this item was not reflective of our
ongoing operating results and there was no direct correlation to the operation
of our business; and (iii) impairment loss of intangible assets and impairment loss
of investments accounted for using equity method were non-cash items and

there were no direct correlation to the operation of our business.
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BEER RO

The following tables reconcile the non-IFRS adjusted operating profit/(loss) for TR & T IFEH R RS FALBFRELE HF)
the year and the adjusted net loss for the year presented to the most directly /" (E518) R ERNK BB FHEHABBEAKMBERS
comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with ZERIFFEREJNREZIELRVFFE BIER

IFRSs, which are operating profit for the year and net loss for the year: K HMMENFER N
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
F220214F 1220204
12A31H 12831H
RMB’000 RMB000
AREFT ARETFT
Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit/(loss) JEER I RS R RARLE
=H 7 (E518)
Operating loss S0 OF (199,301) (1,438437)
Adjusted for: MATREMEAE
Share-based compensation expenses DARG 7 7 B R Bl BA 2 35,653 49,039
Fair value loss of financial assets at FVPL BARBEFABTNEMREE
MAREBEER 13,711 37,580
Impairment loss of intangible assets mILEERMEERXE 148,903 344,722
Impairment loss of investments accounted AR EARNRENRER
for using equity method S 2,817 79,861
Non-IFRS adjusted operating profit/(loss) JEE PR A PR R S A B AR R B AR
wHl, (E518) 1,783 (927,235)
As at As at
3| December 31 December
2021 2020
7220214 12202045
12A31H 12831H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AERETFT AEBTFT
Non-IFRS adjusted net loss JEEIPR A Fs e R B A R A IR E5 18
Net loss FE1E (260,701) (1,716,406)
Adjusted for: MU T BB R
Share-based compensation expenses DUBG 15 2 BRI BN B 2 35,653 49,039
Fair value loss/(gain) of financial liabilities at FVPL A ABESIABZNEMEE
WA BERSE W) 1,961 (17,000)
Fair value loss of financial assets at FVPL BARBESABTNEMEE
MAREEER 13,711 37,580
Impairment loss of intangible assets mILEERMBEL 148,903 344,722
Impairment loss of investments accounted for using AT VA A BRIV E BV R E B
equity method ES 2817 79,861
Non-IFRS adjusted net loss JFEIRRA B R S A RERE RS IR (57,656) (1222,204)
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Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing

The Group maintained a net cash position throughout the period under review.
Our net cash positions as of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as

follows:

B ES RO

MBEERMHERREEARLEE

AEEBREELDBEHRERTFREER L - HMAEE
202112831 HK2020E 12831 B FEIR SRR
T

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2021 2020

K021 1220205

12A31H 12H31H

RMB’ million RMB’ million

AREEHET AEBEHET

Cash and cash equivalents HRERREEEY 314 413
Liquid investments B 00 -
Borrowings EE (192) (199)
Net cash FHRE 122 214

(@) Due to rounding.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at banks and other short-term deposits
with original maturities of three months or less. Our cash and cash equivalents
and liquid investments are denominated in the United States dollars (the "“US

dollars™), Renminbi (“RMB”) and HK dollars.

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the Group recorded net cash outflow
of approximately RMB99.5 million, primarily representing net cash outflow
in operating activities of approximately RMB22.9 million; net cash outflow in
investing activities of approximately RMB56.5 million; and net cash outflow in

financing activities of approximately RMB18.2 million.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves, banking
facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, continuously monitoring forecast and
actual cash flows, and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and

liabilities.

The gearing ratio, calculated as total borrowings divided by total assets,
was approximately 12.3% as at 31 December 2021 (31 December 2020:
approximately 10.6%).

[0) HRUE A AER A0

REAREFEYEERTRERRERARAS=
BREIUTHAEMERER - RAMANEERREEE
BYMERRENET (M%) - ARE (TARK)
R TEE.

HE202IF2A3IBEEE  AEBREBEFRERMN
HOAREISERT TEAKE THEENFR
ERENARB2LRIBEET REEFHELNFRSE
MENARES6SBRIT ; ARMBEEEFHFIR
ERHANAREI82BE T

FAEERBEFENRSFHE RITDERFERE
PRE FEEERAKRBERRERER TR SR
EERGRBRHNERAREERSES AR

R2021F 12A3 1A EESRBLEE (RERERER
LB ESE) 895123% (2020F 128318 1 &
10.6%) ©
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The following table sets forth the maturity profile of our borrowings within the

TREHRFIREEARR MBI ERB R

years indicated:

As at

31 December

As at

31 December

2021 2020

K021 1220205

12A31H 128318

RMB’ million RMB’ million

AREHET AEBEHET

Within | year —FR 171,942 171,563
| year to 2 years —EmME 7,344 6,942
2 years to 5 years —EhREF 13,197 20,541
Total borrowings fEmR4a%EE 192,483 199,046

The bank and other borrowings as at 3|1 December 2021 were denominated in
RMB (31 December 2020: RMB). For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
annual interest rates of borrowings ranged from 5.64% to 8.04% (year ended
31 December 2020: 5.64% to 8.04%). Details of the Group's bank borrowings,
including maturities, currencies and interest rates, are set out in Note 32 of the

consolidated financial statements.
Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and are exposed to
foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with

respect to US dollars and HK dollars.

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if US
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 31 December
2021 would have been approximately RMBI,9 11,000 higher/lower, and the loss
before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been
approximately RMB,934,000 higher/lower, as a result of net foreign exchange

gains/(losses) on translation of net monetary liabilities denominated in US dollars.
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Management Discussion And Analysis

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional currency is RMB, if HK
dollars had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, the loss before income tax for the year ended 31 December
2021 would have been approximately RMB300 lower/higher, and the loss
before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2020 would have been
approximately RMB300 lower/higher, as a result of net foreign exchange gains/

(losses) on translation of net monetary assets denominated in HK dollars.

The Group would enter into foreign exchange forward contracts depending on
circumstance to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts within the

exposure generated from time to time.

BEEE w1

MAEBMBETIEEEASAREHNTIEKNBASM
EOWMBLRAREBAE BZES% MAEEME
EREFAE HRBRENEB TS ENEKEEFE
EENINEWRE (BB 35 & E2021F1283]
BIEFENRASRATGER KL IENOARE
30070 B E2020F 12831 B IEFEERRFFERAE
BAED A AR #E3007T ©

FEERFBERTLIERMEL URETR Y
R B9 TE S EE U ST ©

Loans to Customers ERE™M
Loans to customers comprise the following: BEREMEE
Loan to Expected Loan to
Tenor Interest rate customers balance Credit Loss customers, net
FRHA fE XREM®RE FEHEREX TRERFHE
RMB000 RMB00O RMB000
NEBFT ANEETFT ANEBFT
Loan arising from continuing activity: FEEHELNER
Financial guarantee provided for credit HEEENRMHTHER 6 to 12 months 439% to 10.66% 124,927 65,853 59,074
facilitation 6Z 12188 4.39% E10.66%
Loan arising from discontinued activities: RIEFHEENER
Purchase of credit-impaired loans upon ~ P2PEFSBRIHEEBAS A 3 to 24 months 324% 1o 8.14% 95,000 - 95,000
exiting of P2P business TREX 3E4ER 324%%8.14%
Consolidated trust scheme REfEstEtEl 6 to |18 months 5.53% to 21.90% 172,585 168,161 4424
6Z 18R 5.53% E21.90%
Micro loan INEER within 24 months 5.53% to 33.86% 48,074 48,074 =
1#EAR 553%E 33.86%

Total Hast

440,586 282,088 158,498

ECL of loans to customers is calculated by using a complex model by taking into
consideration of the Group's historical settlement pattern and forward looking

information (as detailed in Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements).

As at 31 December 2021, the five largest borrowers in loans to customers

occupy less than 30% of the total loans to customers.

BEREMNERERAEARRERNEENELEEE
XA E R GRS EN GHERAE Y
BMRME30) 0

HEQIFENRAIB AAREEERNERAGLE
F BB BIE30%
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Trade receivables

Trade receivables comprise the following:

B SRR

B RUEGHRIESEUTAR :

Trade receivables Expected Net trade
balance Credit Loss receivables
B 5 EURIRERER FEHERIE% EBSRWNERIESE
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ANRETT AEBTT ABRETFT

Trade receivables arising from: B ZEUBFRIBELER :
Co-branded credit cards BaER+ 205,790 202,320 3470
Other credit card technology HiEARREER 12,461 10,688 1,773

businesses

Other businesses HhZER 13,920 - 13,920
Total mest 232,171 213,008 19,163

ECL of trade receivables is calculated by taking into consideration of the Group's
historical settlement pattern and forward looking information (as detailed in

Note 3.1 to the consolidated financial statements).

As at 31 December 2021, the five largest borrowers in trade receivables occupy

less than 30% of the total trade receivables.
Charge on Assets

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had charged its properties
located at Building B3, No. 588 Wenyi West Road, Hangzhou, PRC in favour of
Wenchuang Branch of Bank of Hangzhou and Hangzhou Branch of Bank of
Wenzhou for obtaining mortgage loans of RMB53.0 million and RMB90.0 million,

respectively.

Material Investment and Future Plans for Material Investments on Capital

Assets Acquisition

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material
investments (year ended 31 December 2020: Nil). The Group had no other
specific plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at 3|

December 2021.
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Material Acquisition and Disposal

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material

acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries (year ended 31 December 2020: Nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: Nil).

Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 300 staff. For the
year ended 3| December 2021, the total staff cost incurred by the Group was
approximately RMB168.2 million.

The Company has established an effective compensation management system
and talent incentive mechanism by following the principle of “competitive
compensation to attract high-quality talent”. The Company's compensation
system is linked to the performance appraisal system and the Group'’s operating
results to create a more fair and humane working environment for each
employee to fully exert his/her own value, so as to provide human resources
guarantee for the Group's sustainable and stable development. In addition, the
Company focuses on employee training system construction, including new
employee induction training and on-the-job training, covering professional
training to improve vocational skills, management training to enhance leadership

quality and general-purpose training to develop comprehensive quality.

The Company has also adopted the 51 Stock Scheme and 51 Award Scheme to
reward the employees. For details, please refer to the section headed “Report of

the Directors — Restricted Share Unit (“RSU") Schemes” in this report.
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OUTLOOK

In 2021, with the steady increase in the scale of credit facilitation business and
the steady development of SaaS business, the Company will focus on adjusting
the business model of financial technology business and the pace of development

of Saa$S business in 2022. Specifically:

For financial technology business, we will rely on the scale of our existing
quality customers, historical customer credit data, mature risk control models
and strategies, and excellent customer operation capabilities to provide de-
guaranteed credit facilitation services to licenced credit institutions such as banks
and consumer finance companies subject to the stabilized business scale, so as
to reduce the Company's risk profile. At the same time, we actively follow the
policy trend, optimize our customer structure and focus on providing credit
service products of reasonable credit facilitation and service fee to quality

customers.

In terms of operation services for bank customers, we will focus on well
serving the bank customers we have already cooperated with, and after the
service capability and quality have been fully verified, we will launch a large-scale

marketing campaign in a timely manner.

For the innovative business, we will continue to increase our investment in the
Little Blue Book business and further enhance the abilities of big data, cloud
computing and artificial intelligence technology in collecting and digging business
data and improving the effectiveness of the sales chain to help enterprises
improving the scale, accuracy and timeliness of potential customer clues, so as to
facilitate business opportunities and improve sales efficiency. For individual users,
we will continuously optimize product features and user experience, and launch
new derivative value-added services in due course. For corporate customers, we
will further study the sales pain points of small and medium-sized enterprises
in order to refine the product design of key sections in sales chains, enhance
product standardization and strengthen the customized service capability of
personalized solutions for medium and large-sized enterprises, so as to achieve

steady growth in customers and revenue.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (#4387%), aged 41, has been appointed as the chairman of the
Board and an executive Director since September 2017. He is also the chief
executive officer (the “Chief Executive Officer’”) of the Company. Currently,
Mr Sun serves as the chairman of the board of directors, chief executive officer
and general manager of Hangzhou Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (74
BHHB48 7B FR/A ) (“Enniu Network™), and also serves as a director of
various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Sun also serves as the chairman of the
board and an executive director of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(“China Netcom") (listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), stock code: 8071), a subsidiary of the Company.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a Bachelor's degree in business
administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic Industry (now known as
the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the PRC in June 2002. He has been engaging
in Internet businesses since 2004, and founded several Internet companies from
2004 to 2012. In May 2012, Mr Sun led the team to create the credit card

management mobile application named 51 Credit Card Manager.

Mr. Zhu Jianfei ((RBIFR), aged 39, was appointed as an executive Director
and an authorised representative of the Company in September 2021. He
is also a vice-president of the Company. He has considerable experience in
management consultancy, human resources practices and business management,
as well as ample experience in and insightful views on different aspects such as
organizational planning and management, business innovation and operations, etc.
in each development stage of enterprises. He served as an executive director, an
authorised representative, the compliance officer and a member of the senior
management committee of China Netcom. He also served as a general manager
of Hangzhou Panniu Financing and Guarantee Co., Ltd* (HT/ &4 Bh B (R
BIRAE]), which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. From
May 2015 to present, Mr. Zhu served a number of positions at the Company,
including the director of the human resources and administration department of
the Company, etc. From June 2010 to April 2013, Mr. Zhu served in a number
of positions at Cloudary Corporation* (B ZE (5 21T (£/8) BRAE], also
known as BR A2, and subsequently served as the managing director of

DataYes Inc.* GEEf #IEIR1AD A ) from April 2013 to April 2015.

Mr. Zhu obtained a Bachelor's degree in human resources management from
the Peking University in the PRC in July 2006 and obtained a Master's degree
in accounting from the Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the
PRC in June 2012. Mr. Zhu has resigned as an executive Director and authorised

representative of the Company on 4 April 2022.
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EERSREEREEREFS

Ms.Wu Shan (2 H}), aged 37, has been appointed as an executive Director and
an authorised representative of the Company since January 2022 and April 2022,
respectively. She is also a vice-president of the Company. She has extensive and
solid experience in corporate and commercial affairs. Ms. Wu has held senior
position in the corporate legal department of a large state-owned enterprise,
and subsequently joined the Company in November 2014, where she has served
as the director of the legal department of the Company up to January 2022.
Ms. Wu is mainly responsible for the investment, finance and legal affairs of the

Group. Ms.Wu also serves as the executive director of China Netcom.

Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor's degree in science majoring in mathematics and
applied mathematics from Hubei University in the PRC in June 2008 and
obtained a Master's degree in law from Nankai University in the PRC in June
2012. Ms. Wu currently holds a legal professional qualification certificate in the
PRC.

Mr. Zheng Haiguo (EB38El), aged 49, was appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer and an executive Director in February 2021. From August 1994 to
January 2021, Mr. Zheng served in various positions at Agricultural Bank of
China Limited (“ABC") (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code:
601288, and listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1288). From August
1994, Mr. Zheng served as the deputy section chief, section chief and deputy
general manager of the software section in the sales department and technology
information department, the deputy general manager of the technology
information department and electronic banking department, and the deputy
general manager and general manager of the electronic banking department and
information technologies management department of ABC Zhejiang Branch, etc.
From March 2011, Mr. Zheng served as the chief branch secretary of the Party
Committee and the president of ABC Hangzhou Baochu Branch. From June
2015 to January 2021, Mr. Zheng served as the deputy general manager and
general manager of the electronic banking department and the general manager

of the e-financing department of ABC Zhejiang Branch, etc.

Mr. Zheng has extensive experience in information technology (“IT") and
e-financing in the banking industry and has relatively long-term experience
in serving as a president of bank. He has deep knowledge and rich practical

experience in the integration of finance and Internet and other T technologies.

Mr. Zheng obtained a Bachelor's degree in applied electronic technology from
Zhejiang University of Technology in the PRC in July 1994 and completed a
postgraduate course in economics at Zhejiang University in the PRC in July 2001.
He also holds a senior economist qualification. Mr. Zheng has resigned as the

Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director on 7 January 2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhao Ke (#8#T), aged 38, was appointed as the chief financial officer of
the Company and an executive Director in November 2017. From July 2006
to October 2015, Mr. Zhao served in a number of positions, including as a
senior manager of the capital markets services group at the Hong Kong Firm of

PricewaterhouseCoopers.

Mr. Zhao graduated from the Xi'an Jiaotong University in the PRC in July 2005
with a Bachelor’s degree in finance and obtained a Master’s degree in economics
from the University of Ottawa in Canada in October 2006. Mr. Zhao has
resigned as the chief financial officer of the Company and an executive Director

on 3 September 202 1.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli (BRZERE), aged 49, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since November 2017. Currently, Ms. Zou also serves as a director of
Enniu Network, a subsidiary of the Company. From October 1994 to June 2010,
Ms. Zou served at a number of companies, including Shenzhen Tianjian Xinde
Accounting Firm* CRIIKEREEGHAIEHAARIERFD), Shenzhen
Jingjia Group Co., Ltd. CRIIEN = E B BB B BRA E)) (listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange, stock code: 002191) and Shenzhen Tiantu Venture Capital Co.,
Ld* CRIITTREBIZEREBRAB]). Ms. Zou joined Tian Tu Capital Co,
Ltd. CRYITF KRB EBEIRM 5 B PRAB)) (National Equities Exchange and
Quotations System, stock code: 833979) in June 2010 and has held various

positions, including as a director and a financial controller.

Ms. Zou obtained a Bachelor's degree in auditing from Zhongnan University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC (now known as Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law) in July 1994, a Master's degree in professional accountancy
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2004 and an executive
Master's degree in business administration from The Hong Kong University of

Science and Technology in June 2017.

Ms. Jiang Cuicui (FEHERE), aged 38, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since April 2022. Ms. Jiang has been the president of Hangzhou Zhijiang
New Industrial Investment Management Co, Ltd* (UM Z T B X R EEIE
BRAE]) since November 2018.

Ms. Jiang obtained a Bachelor's degree in business (marketing) and Master's
degree in international business from Monash University in Australia in

December 2005 and October 2007, respectively.
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Ms. Gao Li ((F#), aged 40, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
since April 2022. Ms. Gao has been the director of the securities affairs centre
of Xinhu Zhongbao Co. Ltd.* (MR ERMHBRAFD, a substantial
Shareholder; since July 2010.

Ms. Gao obtained a Doctor's degree in economics from Zhejiang University in
the PRC in June 2008.

Mr. Yu Jin (F#), aged 61, was appointed as a non-executive Director in
February 2021. Mr.Yu had served in a number of positions from April 2000 to
September 2018, including the deputy general manager of the human resources
department, the general manager of the electronic banking department and
the head of the technology and product management bureau of ABC and the
chairman of ABC-CA Fund Management Co, Ltd* (RIREREE S EEBR
‘AT)) . He served as a director of Beijing Runbo Internet Digital Technology Co.,
Ltd* (b R 18 B B 807 B 4 A BR 2 B)) since March 2019,

Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor's degree in engineering from Renmin University of
China in July 1983 and a Master's degree in finance from Nanjing Agricultural
University in the PRC in July 1999. He also holds a senior economist qualification.

Mr Yu has resigned as a non-executive Director on 14 April 2022.
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ti GE#8), aged 63, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director in February 2018. Mr. Wong joined PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian (EEXKEAX L HENEFEFT) in December 1990 and has held various
positions successively. Mr. Wong served as senior auditor; senior manager and
partner in the PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian before retiring in June 2015.
He has nearly 25 years of experience in serving financial service industry clients.
Mr. Wong has also served as an independent non-executive director of China
Merchants Securities Co., Ltd. (listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock
code: 600999 and on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 6099) since January 2018.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong obtained a Master's degree in business administration from the
University of California, Los Angeles in the United States of America (the
“United States”) in March 1986. He was accredited as a certified public
accountant by The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants in October
2002 and a certified public accountant in the United States in May 1993.
Mr. Wong has resigned as an independent non-executive director on 14 April
2022.

Mr. Ye Xiang (E2#), aged 58, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since February 2018. From August 2001 to November 2007,
MrYe served in a number of positions, including as a director of China affairs of
the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr Ye has served as the
managing director of Vision Gain Capital Limited (FE15 & Z&B R/AE) since
November 2007.

Mr Ye has also served as an independent non-executive director of each of
Wauling Motors Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 305)
since October 2008, Datang Environment Industry Group Co,, Ltd. (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 1272) since June 2015 and Jinshang Bank Co., Ltd.
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2558) since December 2018.

Mr. Ye obtained a Bachelor's degree in engineering from Zhejiang University
in the PRC in July 1983 and obtained a Master's degree in economics from
Zhejiang University in the PRC in January [991. Mr Ye obtained his doctoral
degree in Economics at the Financial Research Institute of the People’s Bank of
China (P EIA RER1TABITERBFZTFT) in January 1995. He was accredited as
a chartered financial analyst by the CFA Institute in September 2004.

Mr. Xu Xuchu (fRB#]), aged 59, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since April 2020. Mr. Xu joined Hangzhou Dianzi University in
the PRC in June 1989 and is currently a professor at the law school of the said
university. Currently, Mr. Xu is also an adjunct professor of the China Academy
for Rural Development of Zhejiang University in the PRC. He has thirty years of

experience in economics, management and sociology.

Mr. Xu obtained a Doctorate degree in management from Zhejiang University of
the PRC in June 2005.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhang Xi (BEB&), aged 48, was appointed as the vice-president of the
Company in June 2016. Currently, Mr. Zhang serves as the general manager of
Fuzhou Enniu Network Micro Loan Co, Ltd* (M B4434/ NEEERE
FR/AF]), a subsidiary of the Company. He has served as the person in charge
of the finance department of the Group since July 2015. From October 2015
to April 2017, he served as a director of Enniu Network, a subsidiary of the
Company. From August 1992 to July 2015, he served in a number of positions
including as a supervisor in the personal finance loans department of the Bank of

China.

Mr. Zhang obtained a Bachelor's degree in finance from Zhejiang University in
the PRC in June 2004 and obtained a Master's degree in global economics from
Jilin University in the PRC in June 2013. He was accredited as an accountant by
the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in May 1998, a senior certified credit analyst
by the China Center for Financial Training (R B2 B )IIFE /00 in April 2014
and a member of the national committee of experts on the Internet financial
security technology (B4R k&R B ITZ B E) since August 2016, Mr.
Zhang has resigned as the vice-president of the Company on 30 September
2021,

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon (# &2 58) , has been appointed as the company secretary (the
“Company Secretary’) of the Company since June 2020. He was appointed as
the financial controller of the Company since July 2018 and the chief financial
officer of the Company since September 2021. Mr. Lam has over |5 years of
auditing and finance experiences from various international accounting firms
and Hong Kong listed companies. He obtained a Master of Science degree in
Professional Accounting and Corporate Governance and a Bachelor of Applied
Science degree in Computer Engineering. He is a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accounts, a member of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of British Columbia Canada, a Certified Internal Auditor and a
Certified Treasury Professional. Currently, Mr. Lam is also the company secretary

of China Netcom.
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The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December

2021,

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding whilst its major
operating subsidiaries operate the online credit card management platform.
Details of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's performance
for the year ended 3| December 2021 by business segments is set out in Note

2 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group's loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Company as at that date are set out in the consolidated

financial statements on pages 142 to 149.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure on declaring
and recommending the dividend payment of the Company, a dividend policy
(the “Dividend Policy”) is adopted by the Board which aims to allow the
Shareholders to participate in the Company's profits whilst preserving the

Company's liquidity to capture future growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company's ability to pay dividends,
which will depend upon, including but not limited to, the financial performance
and position of the Company, Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and
strategies, and any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in addition to the
interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews the Dividend Policy and
its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required to ensure the benefit of the
Shareholders as a whole is taken into consideration from time to time during

recommendation and declaration of dividends.

The Board did not recommend the declaration of the final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing by the Group, and an indication of likely future development
in the Group's business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman'’s
Statement”, “Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this report. These discussions form part of this

“Report of the Directors”.
ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group's commitment to protecting the environment is well reflected by
the continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in its daily
business operations. The Group encourages environmental protection and
promotes awareness towards environmental protection to the employees. The
Group also implements green office practices such as promoting the use of
recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching off idle lighting

and electrical appliances.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time and will
consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and practices in the

operation of the Group's businesses and enhancing environmental sustainability.
COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS
During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach

or non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group that had a

significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets. Thus, the
Group provides competitive remuneration packages to attract and motivate
its employees. The Group regularly reviews the remuneration packages of
its employees and makes necessary adjustments to conform to the market

standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good relationship
with its business partners to achieve its long-term goals. Accordingly, the
Directors or senior management have kept good communication, promptly
exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them when appropriate.
During the year, there was no material and significant dispute between the

Group and its business partners.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES ISSUED IN THE YEAR

Details of the movements in the Company's share capital during the vear
together with reasons therefor, are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated

financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial statements and the

consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account
is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following the
date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As
at 31 December 2021, the Company had reserves available for distribution of
approximately RMB6,260,304,000 (2020: approximately RMB6,231,229,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group

during the year are set out in Note |7 to the consolidated financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company's articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the
Cayman lIslands, there is no provision for pre-emptive rights which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares (“Shares”) to its existing Shareholders first on

a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years as extracted from the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out on page 304 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the year.
CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of approximately
RMBI 1,000 (2020: approximately RMB41,000).
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out
of the assets of the Company against all losses or legal liabilities incurred or
sustained by him/her as a Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil
or criminal, in which judgment is given in his/her favour, or in which he/she is
acquitted. During the year, there was appropriate directors” and senior officers’

liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of the Group.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes for its
employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong employees, the Group
operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme") under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the

MPF Scheme vest immediately.

Regarding its employees in the PRC, pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules
and regulations in the PRC, the Group participates in defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the
relevant local government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required
to make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a certain rate of the
standard wages determined by the relevant authorities in the PRC during the

year. Contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no forfeited contribution
under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit Scheme which may be used by
the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions (2020: Nil).

Details of the Group's contributions to the retirement schemes are shown in

Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the Company, or existed

during the year

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING (THE
((|P0!Y)

The Shares were listed and commenced trading on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 13 July 2018. The gross proceeds and net proceeds
raised by the Company from the IPO amounted to approximately
HK$1,009.0 million and approximately HK$988.3 million, respectively, and
an additional gross proceeds and net proceeds of approximately HK$62.9
million and approximately HK$61.3 million, respectively, were raised from
the allotment and issue of the Shares as a result of the partial exercise of

the over-allotment option.

In order to meet the current operation needs, increase the Group's
competitiveness and provide more buffer to cope with the economic
uncertainties in the future, on 31 August 2020, the Board resolved
to change the use of approximately HK$257.6 million (equivalent to
approximately RMB228.7 million) out of the remaining unutilized net
proceeds as at the date of the Announcement (as defined below), which
were originally allocated for (i) user acquisition; (ii) enhancement of
technology and risk management capabilities; and (iii) investment (the
“Change"”). The Board considered that the Change was in the best
interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole. For details of
the Change, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 31
August 2020.
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The net proceeds from the IPO have been fully utilised as follows: BRAWHEBEMESNIBEFHRESZHBAUWT
Revised
approximate
Amount unutilized up to proportion of Reallocation of Amount utilized up to
Planned use of net proceeds Net proceeds from the [PO the date of the Announcement net proceeds unutilized net proceeds 31 December 2021
FisaA
BESALEMZ BFREEED BNEL ERNIENANAZ
ittt vy s BRAREERERRTE RHRA watk  REBHEIARE BaBRRE
HKS millon RMB' millon FKS million RMB' millon HKS millon RMB'millon HKS millon RMB millon
BE¥r A\RKBEm  BEET AREBER BEEr AREGEmR  BEET \RBBER
(approvimate) | ) (approximate) ) ( ) (approvimate) | ) i)
#) ) #) ) ) ) ) )
User acquisttion 4198 3%97 546 41 388% 419 370 419 370
ERAR
Enhancement of technology and risk management capabilties 3149 2698 36 29 392% 1304 1157 1304 1157
RITRERERENER
Ivestment 2099 1798 1694 1517 39% - - - -
k&
Working capital and other 1050 899 - - 181% 853 760 83 760
general corporate purposes
BEALRAM-REERRE
Total 10496 899 1576 m7 1000% 1576 087 1576 087
&
SERRARAT 200 £EHS (189



Report of the Directors
EEEHRT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SUBSCRIPTIONS

On 13 July 2020, the Company entered into subscription agreements with each
of Guanrui Investment Limited (“Guanrui Investment”), Tiantu Investments
Limited (“Tiantu Investments”) and East Jump Management Limited (“East
Jump”), pursuant to which the above subscribers agreed to subscribe, and the
Company agreed to allot and issue, an aggregate of 166,666,666 subscription
shares at the subscription price of HK$0.6 per subscription share. The gross
proceeds and net proceeds raised from the above subscriptions amounted to

approximately HK$100.0 million and HK$99.4 million, respectively.

As at 3| December 2021, the above proceeds were fully utilized and in
consistent with the usage as disclosed in the supplemental announcement and
the circular of the Company dated 16 July 2020 and 3 August 2020, respectively,

in the manner set out below:

RBEEFSRERR

72020F78 130 » KA B B Guanrui

Limited (T Guanrui Investment]) ~ Tiantu Investments

Investment

Limited (M Tiantu Investments ) M K East Jump
Management Limited (T East JumpJ) & Bs] L0 1H
FoOBLL FARBARERERARATDRERE &
BEITEET166,666,666RDIEIRN - BBERERT
R P06 T LD E RIS RIEAREE P ER
DR ZRAI000BEBTRIIAREBTT

202112831 H EifBREBEBERRBRART D

A HEFA2020F 78 6 A 7T A 5 &20205F8H3H
BUERIFRFB R 28ELTER !

Amount utilized up to

Planned use of net proceeds Proportion Net proceeds from the subscriptions 31 December 2021
EX0512A31HZ
FIfEMIEREZ s BIAE (]: REBEMERARR BHARE
HK$ million RMB’ million HK$ million RMB’ million
BEET  ARKEET BEET  AREEET
(approximate) (approximate) (approximate) (approximate)
(#) (#) (#) #)
Salary and welfare 50% 49.7 442 49.7 442
HERER
Expansion of customer base 30% 299 265 299 265
BRERH
Enhancement of collection capabilities 10% 9.9 88 99 88
RFHEWREE
Working capital and other general corporate purpose 10% 99 88 99 88
EEESRAM—REXRR
Total 100% 994 883 994 883
A
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS EREY

No contracts, other than the employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the

business of the Group were entered into or existed during the year.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the major

customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set out below:
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FERRRMER

FRrERTEERPRHEREEDGHERKEK
BRZEDLNT

Approximate

percentage of

the Group’s
total sales
A EBEHE AR
ZBHES
(1) Sales
— the largest customer 7.8%
-RAZR
— the five largest customers (combined) 17.6%

-EXRER (BH)

Approximate

percentage of

the Group’s
total purchases
AL E R ABAEEE
ZBHNESL
(2)  Purchases
REE

— the largest supplier 1.3%

- RAHER
— the five largest suppliers (combined) 4.0%

- BRMHtFER (56D

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of their close
associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)), or any Shareholders (that, to the
knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of issued Shares) had any
beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the

year.

BEEMI EFARSE2AETEEHEAL (ER
RExprEs EmAR (TEHRA)) IR EEFAA
BEEBEITRMSU LEm 2 ERRE > FAHE
REEBRLARERRBEFESEAEm#D-
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 7 January 2022)
Mr. Zhu Jianfei (Vice-President) (appointed on 3 September 202 |
and resigned on |4 April 2022)
Ms.Wu Shan (Vice-President) (appointed on 7 January 2022)
Mr. Zheng Haiguo (appointed on |9 February 2021 and
resigned on 7 January 2022)
Mr. Zhao Ke (Chief Financial Officer) (resigned on 3 September 2021)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli
MrYu Jin (appointed on |9 February 2021 and resigned on 4 April 2022)

Ms. Jiang Cuicui (appointed on 14 April 2022)
Ms. Gao Li (appointed on 4 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr.Wong Ti (resigned on 14 April 2022)

Mr. Ye Xiang
Mr. Xu Xuchu

Pursuant to article 16.18 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director, including those appointed for a

specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three

years.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group

are set out on pages 23 to 28 of this report.
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CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS UNDER RULE
[3.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

Below is the information relating to the Directors required to be disclosed

pursuant to Rule 13.51B(l) of the Listing Rules:

. the Director’s fee of Mr.Ye Xiang has been changed to HK$180,000 with
effect from 14 April 2022; and

. the Director’s fee of Mr Xu Xuchu has been changed to HK$150,000
with effect from 14 April 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be disclosed

pursuant to Rule 13.51B(l) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration committee considers and recommends to the Board the
remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company to the Directors.
The remuneration of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
remuneration committee to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and
compensation are appropriate. References to the remuneration standards of
the industry as well as the business development of the Company are made to
ensure the level of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain the
Directors, and the Company should avoid paying more than necessary for this

purpose.

Details of the Directors’ and senior management's remuneration of the Group

are set out in Notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s businesses to which any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director or an
entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS,ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or any
of its subsidiaries and controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during at
any time during the year. In addition, no contract of significance for the provision
of services was entered into between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and

a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors and
chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO™) (Cap. 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong)), which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register of the Company referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long Position in the Shares

Name of Director(s) Capacity and nature of interest
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Approximate
percentage of

Number of Shares issued Shares("

HBRITRR
EFENSH B REDEEE & E ZEEHE DO
Mr. Sun Haitao (“Mr. Sun™) Founder of a discretionary trust who can influence how the 108,159,464 7.96%
‘mEERE (TR trustee exercises his discretion
AEEZEANATEERNBEENRIBESERILA
Others 50,355,0000 3.71%
H1th
Others 142,708,272 10.51%
Hith
301,222,736 22.18%
Mr. Zhu Jianfei® Beneficial owner 2,656,810 0.20%
KBIRAfE® BmEBA
Ms. Zou Yunli Interest of spouse 200,000® 0.01%
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Notes:

M

@

©)

©®)

©)

The calculations were based on the number of Shares as a percentage of the total
number of issued Shares (i.e. 1,358,320,188 Shares) as at 3| December 2021.

Rising Sun Limited, which is the beneficial owner of the 108,159,464 Shares, is
wholly owned by Wukong Ltd., 20,000,000 Shares of which were charged in favour
of a lender other than a qualified lender. Wukong Ltd. is beneficially wholly owned
by Wukong Trust, which was established by Mr. Sun as the settlor TMF (Cayman)
Ltd. is the trustee of Wukong Trust. Mr. Sun, as the beneficiary of Wukong Trust, is

taken to be interested in those Shares.

Rising Sun Limited entered into a limited partnership agreement (the “Limited
Partnership Agreement”) with Tai Yong Holdings Ltd for the purpose of establishing
51 Xinhu L.P, a Cayman lIslands exempted limited partnership and regulating the
activities and operation of the partnership. Pursuant to the Limited Partnership
Agreement, Rising Sun Limited serves as the general partner and Tai Yong Holdings
Ltd serves as the limited partner. In addition, Rising Sun Limited has the power to
exercise all voting rights on behalf of 51 Xinhu LR As 51 Xinhu L.P is the beneficial
owner of the 50,355,000 Shares, and by virtue of the SFO, Mr. Sun is deemed
to be interested in the 50,355,000 Shares and the share capital of its associated

corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is or is deemed to be interested.

The Company entered into a voting proxy agreement (the “Voting Proxy
Agreement”’) with Rising Sun Limited, 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited
(other than the Company, each, a “Party to the Voting Proxy Agreement’,
collectively, the “Parties to the Voting Proxy Agreement”). Pursuant to the Voting
Proxy Agreement, Rising Sun Limited is entitled to exercise, in its sole discretion, all
the voting powers associated with the 142,708,272 Shares on behalf of the Parties
to the Voting Proxy Agreement on all matters submitted to a vote of Shareholders
at any meeting of Shareholders. By virtue of the SFO, Mr Sun is deemed to
be interested in the 142,708,272 Shares and the share capital of its associated

corporation in which Rising Sun Limited is or is deemed to be interested.
Mr. Li Anxin, the spouse of Ms. Zou Yunli, is the beneficial owner of the 200,000
Shares. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Zou Yunli is deemed to be interested in the Shares

held by her spouse.

Mr. Zhu Jianfei has resigned as an executive Director on 14 April 2022.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other Director or chief

executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short

position in any shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any

of its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which

were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short

positions which were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the

SFO), as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the

SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.
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Report of the Directors
EEEHRT

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL FTERFREMATRAATNGG 80
SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND B RESDEENESR XA

DEBENTURES OF AND OTHER PERSON THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2020, so far as was known to the Directors, the persons or  JR202 1 1283 1B MEBEFRH U TFTA LTS E/E
entities, other than the Director or chief executives of the Company, who had (BEFHAEARTRSITHRAERIN REATRKRM
or was deemed to have an interest or a short position in the Shares, underlying  HREIRR D RESPEE AW R AEEREZ S LE
Shares and debentures of the Company which were recorded in the register E{&HIEIEREBLERN AT BEFEZELH
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which 2 # s kA > NiB B S R EEAEXVEE LR
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 $30 7 W EBRAKR AT INE 2 HFa %A -

and 3 of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Number of
Shares directly or Approximate
Capacity and nature indirectly held percentage
Names of interests and category® of issued Shares("
BEREE
FERM HEETRG
B S kE=EEE HERERH ZBHBEDLEO
Mr. Huang Wei® Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
BELED RREREEZ#E
Ms. Li Ping® Interest of spouse 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
FHELLO PofB
Zhejiang Xinhu Group Co., Ltd.” Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("Zhejiang Xinhu')®
ACLHMEBRRMERAS (TSI O RREFEEZ#R
Xinhu Zhongbao Co., Ltd.” (“Xinhu Zhongbao™)® Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
WP EROBRAT (AP E)® R E 2
Hong Kong Xinhu Investment Co., Limited Interest in controlled corporation 327,352,666 (L) 24.10%
("HK Xinhu")®
ERNHEEBRAT (EHMH) O RREGEEZ#E
Taichang Investment Limited® Beneficial owner 109,217,000 (L) 8.04%
BmEEA
Tai Shun Holdings Ltd.® Beneficial owner 101,114,000 (L) 7.44%
BmEEA
EasternGate SPC® Security interest 210,331,000 (L) 15.48%
R D
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EFEHRS
Number of
Shares directly or Approximate
Capacity and nature indirectly held percentage
Names of interests and category® of issued Shares!"
BEiESEE
FERKRA HEZEITRM
£y B ktEmtE BB KLER ZBHBE SO
TMF (Cayman) Ltd.® Trustee 301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
ZEEA
Wukong Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation 108,159,464 (L) 7.96%
REEREEZ#Ex
Other 50,355,000 (L) 371%
Hith
Other 142,708,272 (L) 10.51%
Hith
301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
Rising Sun Limited® Beneficial owner 108,159,464 (L) 7.96%
BmEREA
Other 50,355,000 (L) 371%
Hth
Other 142,708,272 (L) 10.51%
Hith
301,222,736 (L) 22.18%
Mr. Wang Yonghua® Interest in controlled corporation 183,874,334 (L) 13.54%
FREREO RREGEEZ #wm
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd." (“Tian Tu Capital)® Interest in controlled corporation 183,874,334 (L) 13.54%
AYHREREEERGBRAT RREGEEZ #wm
(TRE®RE)©
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 128,661,334 (L) 9.47%

REIFEHABRRATO
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Capacity and nature

Number of

Shares directly or

indirectly held

EEEHRT

Approximate

percentage

Names of interests and category® of issued Shares!"
BEiESEE
FENRMG HEZEITRM
ey B ktEmtE BB KLER ZBHBE SO
Tiantu Investments(® Beneficial owner 128,661,334 (L) 9.47%
BmEEA
Mr. Shen Guojun® Founder of a discretionary trust who 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
B E S ED can influence how the trustee exercises
his discretion
AR B ANATEENEE
BB IEEFERILA
Cantrust (Far East) Limited” Trustee 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
ZEEA
Weihan Evergreen Limited?” Interest in controlled corporation 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
RREGEEZ
East Jump Beneficial owner 188,716,623 (L) 13.89%
BEmdEA A
The Core Trust Company Limited® Trustee 166,519,739 (L) 12.26%
EREFTERLFTO ZEEA
TCT (BVI) Limited® Other 166,519,739 (L) 12.26%
HAth
51 Stock Limited® Nominee for another person (other 72,365,536 (L) 5.33%
than a bare trustee)
F—ABREA GREZFEARRIN
51 Award Limited® Nominee for another person (other 94,154,203 (L) 6.93%

than a bare trustee)

AR A REZFEARIN
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The calculations were based on the number of Shares which each party is
interested in (whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to be interested)
as a percentage of the total number of issued Shares (i.e. |,358,320,188 Shares) as
at 3| December 2021.

Mr. Huang Wei directly holds approximately 53.06% shareholding interest in
Zhejiang Xinhu and holds approximately 57.09% shareholding interest in Xinhu
Zhongbao in total. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Zhejiang Xinhu or Xinhu Zhongbao is deemed
to be interested. For details of the deemed interests of Zhejiang Xinhu or Xinhu
Zhongbao, please refer to Note (4) below.

Ms. Li Ping is the spouse of Mr. Huang Wei, and thus is deemed to be interested in
the Shares in which Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be interested under the SFO.

109,217,000 Shares and 101,114,000 Shares are directly held by Taichang
Investment Limited and Tai Shun Holdings Ltd., respectively, and have been pledged
in favour of EasternGate SPC; 50,355,000 Shares are directly held by 51 Xinhu
LP (wholly owned by Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. and Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. is deemed
to be interested in the Shares held by 51 Xinhu LP); and 66,666,666 Shares are
directly held by Guanrui Investment. Each of Taichang Investment Limited, Tai Shun
Holdings Ltd. Tai Yong Holdings Ltd. and Guanrui Investment (collectively, the
"“Xinhu Subsidiaries”) is wholly owned by HK Xinhu, which is in turn wholly owned
by Xinhu Zhongbao. Xinhu Zhongbao is deemed to be controlled by Zhejiang
Xinhu under the SFO. Therefore, for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO, each of
HK Xinhu, Xinhu Zhongbao, Zhejiang Xinhu and Mr. Huang Wei is deemed to be

interested in the Shares or deemed interests held by the Xinhu Subsidiaries.

Same for the interests as disclosed in Notes (2) to (4) in the section headed
“INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVES OF THE COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION" of
this report.

Such 183,874,334 Shares represent 128,661,334 Shares directly held by Tiantu
Investments and 55,213,000 Shares directly held by Tiantu Xingbei Investments
Limited Company (“Tiantu Xingbei"). Tiantu Investments is wholly owned by Tiantu
Advisory Company Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital.
Tiantu Xingbei is indirectly owned by Tian Tu Capital. Mr. Wang Yonghua holds
approximately 40.35% shareholding interest in Tian Tu Capital. Therefore, under the
SFO, Tiantu Advisory Company Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Tiantu Investments, and each of Tian Tu Capital and Mr. Wang Yonghua
is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Tiantu Investments and Tiantu
Xingbei.
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BEAR20IENRAIBFERET ERABEEER
WRAFEENER) NROEEGERITRD4ES (B
1,358,320, 188B% A% 17) I B D EEat & o

HEREEBERBNINMA53.06%MR R 55 A 4

BHAY57 09% 18 - RIFE F RG] mBEE
AL P ERE S ER R PRAEST
AP REEB #m - BRI ISP IR E R B R %
BRmpsE 2R T XEAE) -

FHRLLHERBEENELS FRBEIESFRBEEG
WEREARBRERGAAER EHmAIRMN -

109,217,0008% B&15 K2 101,114,0008% B& {3 43 B! F Taichang
Investment Limited & Tai Shun Holdings Ltd BE1%#HH I
B E R fAEasternGate SPC; 50,355,0008 B 1A H51 Xinhu
LP (HHTai Yong Holdings Ltd. 2 & # %A KTai Yong Holdings
Ltd. #ARAHS | Xinhu LPRFARIRD A B B
58 ; 66,666,6668HGuanrui InvestmentE IZF A ©
Taichang Investment Limited, Tai Shun Holdings Ltd. Tai Yong
Holdings Ltd.5zGuanrui Investment (4775 8 B A F))
XEREBMNEERE MEBMABEMNETER
EHA RBEEFRBERY) MNP ERESZNL
HEIES - AL MBS RS R EXVEIMN S » &4
M SR E LI R EREER BRARINN
HNBEARFKAENROTABRESEENREDES
I o

BAREPEEREARAERSTHRABRERTHK
EREEEENRD  BEROKESTERNED
BB I— BRI EQ)E @R EZ B AR o

5%55183,874,334M A 16 M Tiantu InvestmentsEIZIFH
H9128,661,3348% B 15 K Tiantu Xingbei Investments Limited
Company (ITiantu Xingbeil) B %155 #955213,0008% 5%
3 o Tiantu Investments A KEBFEABRABDI 2 BEH#ES
MXEEAERABDIHREREZERES ° Tiantu
Xingbe H KRB R EMFFH - EXELEFHFERER
B #940.35%0 1 - AL > IRIFFE FRIBERA > REE
HERABERA R Tiantu InvestmentsiF A BIRRD H#E
AR RRBREREKELERBRRB N Tantu
Investments K Tiantu Xingbeit:f 8 HY R (7 R HES # o



@ 188,716,623 Shares are directly held by East Jump. East Jump is wholly owned
by Weihan Evergreen Limited, which is beneficially wholly owned by the Weihan
Evergreen Trust. Weihan Evergreen Trust is a family trust established by Mr. Shen
Guojun as the settlor; while the beneficiaries of Weihan Evergreen Trust are Mr
Shen Guojun and his family members. Cantrust (Far East) Limited is the trustee of
Weihan Evergreen Trust. Hence, each of Weihan Evergreen Limited, Cantrust (Far
East) Limited and Mr. Shen Guojun is deemed to be interested in the interests of
East Jump for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

(8) Both 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited are wholly owned by TCT (BVI)
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by The Core Trust Company Limited. The
Core Trust Company Limited is the trustee and each of 5| Stock Limited and 51
Award Limited is the nominee to administer the RSU Schemes (as defined below).
Each of 51 Stock Limited and 51 Award Limited holds the Shares underlying the
RSUs granted by the Company for the benefit of eligible participants pursuant to
the RSU Schemes.

) (L) — Long position

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 3l
December 2021, there was no person (not being a Director or a chief executive
of the Company) who had or was deemed to have an interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which were
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RESTRICTED SHARE UNIT (“RSU”) SCHEMES

Summary

The Company has adopted the 51 Stock Scheme and the 51 Award Scheme
(collectively, the “Schemes”) by a resolution of the Board on 20 November
2017. The Schemes are not subject to the provisions of Chapter |7 of the
Listing Rules as the RSU Schemes do not involve the grant of options by the

Company to subscribe for new Shares.
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Purpose

The purpose of the Schemes is to recognize and reward the participants (as
detailed in the paragraph headed “Participants” below) of each of the Schemes
for their contribution to the Group, to attract suitable personnel, and to provide

incentives to them to remain with and further contribute to the Group.
Awards

Each of the awards of RSUs under the 5| Stock Scheme (together with the
awards of RSUs under the 51 Award Scheme, referred to as the “Award(s)")
gives a participant an option, and an Award of RSUs under the 5| Award
Scheme gives a participant an entitlement, upon vesting of the Award(s) to
obtain either Shares (in case of the 51 Stock Scheme only) or an equivalent
value in cash with reference to the market value of the Shares less any tax, fees,
levies, stamp duty and other applicable charges. An Award may include, if so
specified by the 51 Stock RSU Administration Committee and the 51 Award
RSU Administration Committee (each as the “RSU Committee”) in their entire
discretion, cash and non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale
proceeds of non-cash and non-scrip distributions in respect of those Shares from

the date that the Award is granted to the date that it vests.
Limit

Unless otherwise duly approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
underlying the 51 Stock Scheme shall not exceed 112,341,261 Shares and the
total number of Shares underlying the 5| Award Scheme shall not exceed
102,060,261 Shares (excluding the Shares underlying RSUs that have lapsed or

been cancelled in accordance with the Schemes).
Grants

As at 31 December 2021, 15,110,448 Shares and 56,055,060 Shares underlying
RSUs were granted to participants under the 51 Stock Scheme and the 51
Award Scheme, representing approximately 8.47% and 4.13% of the issued
Shares, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, 3,189,081 Shares and 46,005,201
Shares underlying RSUs remained outstanding under the 51 Stock Scheme and

the 51 Award Scheme, respectively.
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Participants

Participants of the 51 Stock Scheme include:

0) any member of senior management of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.

Participants of the 51 Award Scheme include:

0) any employee of the Group; or

(i) any person who, in the sole opinion of the RSU Committee, has
contributed or will contribute to any member of the Group (including
business partners of any member of the Group, such as suppliers,
customers or any persons who provide technical support, consultancy,
advisory or other services to any member of the Group), as may be

specifically identified by the RSU Committee.

Transferability

According to the terms of the Schemes (as amended from time to time), the
participant may transfer the granted Award(s) upon the approval of the Board
or an authorized body or person appointed by the Board in accordance with
the terms of the Schemes. The transferee should be bound by the terms of
the Schemes, notices of grant and other relevant applicable documents and

agreements.

Term

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant to
the termination clauses of the Schemes, the Schemes are valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on the date of adoption (i.e., 20 November
2017), after which no Awards will be granted, but the provisions of the Schemes
shall in all other respects remain in full force and effect and the Awards granted
during the terms of the Schemes may continue to be valid and exercisable in

accordance with their terms of grant.
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RSU Trustee

The Company has appointed The Core Trust Company Limited, a trustee service
provider and an independent third party, to administer the granting and vesting

of RSUs granted to the grantees pursuant to the Schemes.
Rights attached to Awards

The RSUs under the 51 Stock Scheme do not carry any right to vote at
general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the rights
of a Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 51
Stock Scheme, unless and until such Shares underlying the Award are actually
transferred to the grantee upon the vesting of the RSUs provided that the
grantee, his/her wholly-owned entity or any such trust arrangement as directed
by him/her shall enter into an agreement in writing with Mr. Sun delegating
the voting rights attached to such Shares by proxy to Mr. Sun or his delegated
entity(ies). Unless otherwise specified by the RSUs Committee in its entire
discretion in the notice of grant, the grantees do not have any rights to any cash
or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-

cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying an Award.

Similarly, the RSUs under the 5| Award Scheme do not carry any right to
vote at general meetings of the Company. No grantee shall enjoy any of the
rights of a Shareholder by virtue of the grant of an Award pursuant to the 51
Award Scheme. Unless otherwise specified by the RSU Committee in its entire
discretion in the notice of grant, the grantees do not have any rights to any cash
or non-cash income, dividends or distributions and/or the sale proceeds of non-

cash and non-scrip distributions from any Shares underlying an Award.
Rights attached to Shares (in case of the 5| Stock Scheme only)

Any Shares to be transferred to a grantee or his/her wholly-owned entity upon
the vesting of RSUs granted pursuant to the 51 Stock Scheme shall be subject to
all the provisions of the Articles and shall rank pari passu in all respects with the
existing fully paid Shares in issue on the date of transfer, or; if that date falls on a
day when the register of members of the Company is closed, the first day of the
re-opening of the register of members, and accordingly shall entitle the holder of
such Shares to participate in all dividends or other distributions paid or made on

or after the date of transfer.
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ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “"RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS" and “"CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" of this report,
at no time during the year and at the end of the year was the Company or
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of

acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain activities with parties regarded as “Related
Parties” under applicable accounting principles. These mainly relate to the
activities in the ordinary course of the Group's business and were negotiated
on normal commercial terms and on an arm'’s length basis. The related party
transactions that did not constitute connected transactions under the Listing
Rules were disclosed in Note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.
The disclosures required by Rule [4A.71 of the Listing Rules during the year
are provided in the paragraph headed "CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS" as

identified below.

Report of the Directors
EEEHRT

BERMDHEFHIZH

BABRETRESRZ I RTHERZ ) —HMKRES
Sy MEFEREAFBAKRER XA HEEMZER
RE-MBLRBAHBRWE AR BES EFT LM
2 UBEFTEBAT RS REFMAMMKE L
BB 7 SRR M ES F

RIS X5

AEEERBEERAESHRARER TRABSI Z AL
ENTETEBLRD RFEXEFIBZRETLEEBE
EBEBREDPETZEHAER BEREEBHERRK
NTRAER RS RXH (NG E M B RERMEEIS
TR ER) W AE RN £ T AR R PR E &~ BB 32 7 BY R B
B FRRE LHRAE AT R RFH Z M E
BHEN TITXRAERZ I —&-

SHUER-EARAR 202 #ERE | 51



Report of the Directors
EEEHRT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

a)

52

Contractual Arrangements with connected persons

In order to maintain and exercise control over the PRC Operating Entities
(as defined below), the Company has entered into certain contractual
arrangements. The contractual arrangements allow the Company to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits of the PRC Operating
Entities and consolidate their results of operations into the Group's. For
the purposes of Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules, and in particular the
definition of “connected person”, the PRC Operating Entities | will be
treated as the Company's wholly-owned subsidiaries, and their directors,
chief executives or substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing
Rules) and their respective associates will be treated as the Company's

connected persons'.

Hence, the transactions carried out under the Contractual Arrangements
| (as defined below) during the year constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company. As the Company has applied to the
Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from
strict compliance with the announcement, circular and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter [4A of the Listing
Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements | pursuant to Rule [4A.105 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions are only subject to the reporting and annual review under
Chapter 4A of the Listing Rules. Further details of the waiver are set
out in the sections headed “Waivers from Strict Compliance with the
Listing Rules” and “Connected Transactions — B. Non-exempt Continuing
Connected Transactions” of the prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of the
Company dated 29 June 2018.

Further details of the contractual arrangements are set out in the section
headed “CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS" of this report.
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(b)

Financial assistance to connected person

On 14 September 2021,
Technology Co., Ltd.* (FUMNIRFEERELARAF

Zhenniu") (the “Lender” or “Zhenniu Information”) (an indirect wholly-

Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Information

) (“Hangzhou

owned subsidiary of the Company) and Mr. Sun entered into the loan
agreement (the “Loan Agreement”), pursuant to which the Lender
agreed to lend to Mr Sun the loan (the “Loan") in the principal amount
of RMB10,000,000 at an interest rate of 5.8% per annum for a term of
three years. 20,000,000 Shares legally and beneficially owned by Rising
Sun Limited (a company wholly-owned by Mr. Sun through trust) were

charged in favour of the Lender as security for the Loan.

As Mr Sun (an executive Director and a substantial Shareholder) is
a connected person of the Company, the transaction contemplated
under the Loan Agreement constitutes a connected transaction for the

Company under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules.

As the applicable percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) for
the Loan exceed 0.1% but are less than 5%, the Loan Agreement and
the transaction contemplated thereunder are subject to reporting and
announcement requirements but are exempt from the circular and the
independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of

the Listing Rules.

Details of the Loan Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder were disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated

14 September 2021 and 20 October 2021, respectively.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Board had reviewed the major issues arising from the implementation and

performance of the contractual arrangements of the year ended 31 December

2021, and had discussed the matters relating to compliance and regulatory

enquiries from governmental authorities.

Overview

The PRC Operating Entities (defined as below) of the Group are required

to hold the Value-added Telecommunication Service Operating Permit (the

“ICP Licence”) to operate the mobile applications and the provision of online

information services.
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On || December 2001, the State Council of the PRC promulgated the
Provisions on the Administration of Foreign-funded Telecommunications
Enterprise (the “FITE Regulations”), which were amended on 10 September
2008 and 6 February 2016, respectively. According to the FITE Regulations,
foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the equity interests
in a company providing value-added telecom services (“VATS"), including ICP
services. In addition, a foreign investor who invests in a VATS business in the
PRC must possess the qualification requirements. The Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the PRC issued the guidance memorandum (the
“Memorandum”) on the application requirement for establishing foreign-invested
VATS enterprises in the PRC on | March 2017, and updated the same on 6
March 2019 which took effect on the same day. According to the Memorandum,
the foreign investor's proven track record of good performance of VATS business
and satisfactory proof of prior experience in such business are required to
be provided. For the year ended 31 December 2021, no applicable PRC laws,
regulations or rules have provided any guidance or interpretation on the proof

of the qualification requirement.
Structured Contract |

Zhenniu Information is an indirect wholly-owned PRC subsidiary of the

Company.

Enniu Network was jointly held by domestic enterprises such as Pingxiang Jiniu
Asset Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)* CE4 44+ EEE
BEBLE (BREH)), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen Tiantu Xingbang
Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)* GRIIKE AP ERE (BIR
& %)) . Enniu Network has obtained the ICP Licence.

Zhenniu Information entered into: (1) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement | with Enniu Network in November 2017, then amended and
renewed the same in December 2017; and further entered into: (2) the
Exclusive Option Agreement |; (3) the Share Pledge Agreement |; and (4) the
Powers of Attorney | and supporting documents (collectively referred to as the
“Structured Contract 1) with Enniu Network and domestic enterprises such
as Pingxiang Jiniu Asset Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)* (¢
MLFEECEEPLE (BREE)), Xinhu Zhongbao and Shenzhen
Tiantu Xingbang Investment Enterprise (Limited Partnership)* (3l K & £ #13
HERH (BREH)) (the "Nominee Shareholders 1") to enable the Group
to obtain the power and ability to control the business of Enniu Network and

acquire economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements |").
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Exclusive Option Agreement |

Enniu Network and the Nominee Shareholders |, entered into the
exclusive option agreement | (the “Exclusive Option Agreement 1)
with Zhenniu Information in December 2017, pursuant to which the
Nominee Shareholders | agreed to grant to Zhenniu Information (or
the Company or any subsidiary of the Company (the “Designee"),
an irrevocable and exclusive option to acquire or purchase from the
Nominee Shareholders | and/or Enniu Network all or any part of their
equity interests in and/or assets of Enniu Network at a nominal price,
unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws request
that another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case
the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request. In
compliance with the current regulations and requirements of the PRC
laws, the Nominee Shareholders | and/or Enniu Network shall return any
amount of purchase price they have received to Zhenniu Information. At
Zhenniu Information’s request, the Nominee Shareholders | and/or Enniu
Network will promptly and unconditionally transfer their respective equity
interests in and/or assets of Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information (or

the Designee) after Zhenniu Information exercises its purchase right.

In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Enniu Network
and its subsidiaries (the "PRC Operating Entities 1", together with
the PRC Operating Entities 2 (defined as below), collectively, the “PRC
Operating Entities”) to the Nominee Shareholders I, during the term
of the Exclusive Option Agreement |, Enniu Network shall not, and
shall procure its subsidiaries not to, sell, transfer; mortgage or otherwise
dispose of any of its assets without the prior written consent of Zhenniu
Information. In addition, Enniu Network shall not, and shall procure its
subsidiaries not to, make any distributions to its shareholder(s) without
the prior written consent of Zhenniu Information. In the event that the
Nominee Shareholders | receive any distribution from Enniu Network
and/or its subsidiaries and subject to the PRC laws, the Nominee
Shareholders | must immediately pay or transfer such distribution to
Zhenniu Information (or the Designee). If Zhenniu Information exercises
its purchase right, all or any part of the equity interests in and/or assets
of Enniu Network acquired would be transferred to Zhenniu Information
and the benefits of equity ownership and/or assets, as applicable, would

flow to the Company and the Shareholders.

The Exclusive Option Agreement | is for an initial term of ten years
and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu Information

confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement |

Enniu Network and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement | (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement |") with Zhenniu Information in December 2017, pursuant
to which Enniu Network agreed to engage Zhenniu Information and
its designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities | of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Zhenniu Information’s adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities |. Zhenniu Information may adjust
the service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities | from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Zhenniu Information upon issuance of payment
notification by Zhenniu Information. Zhenniu Information enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities | and bears Enniu Network's business risks. If Enniu Network
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Zhenniu

Information will provide financial support to Enniu Network.
The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | is for an initial term

of ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu

Information confirms a new renewal term in writing.
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Share Pledge Agreement |

Enniu Network and the Nominee Shareholders | and Zhenniu
Information entered into the share pledge agreement | (the “Share
Pledge Agreement ") in December 2017. Under the Share Pledge
Agreement |, the Nominee Shareholders | pledged all of their respective
equity interests in Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information as collateral
security for any or all of their payments due to Zhenniu Information and
to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement |, the Exclusive Option Agreement | and the
Powers of Attorney | (as defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement
I will not terminate until (i) all obligations of Enniu Network and the
Nominee Shareholders | are satisfied in full; (i) Zhenniu Information
exercises its exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests
of the Nominee Shareholders | in Enniu Network and/or the entire
assets of Enniu Network pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option
Agreement | when it is permitted to do so under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations; (i) Zhenniu Information exercises its unilateral and
unconditional right of termination; or (iv) the agreement is required to
be terminated in accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations.
In addition, under the Exclusive Option Agreement |, none of the
Nominee Shareholders | may transfer or permit the encumbrance of
any of their equity interests in and assets of Enniu Network (including
any equity interests in and assets of the subsidiaries of Enniu Network)
without Zhenniu Information’s prior written consent. The Share
Pledge Agreement | will be terminated when all the said obligations
of the Nominee Shareholders | contemplated under the Contractual
Arrangements | are fulfilled or terminated in accordance with the

requirement of the relevant applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Powers of Attorney |

An irrevocable power of attorney | (the “Powers of Attorney |)
was entered into between the Nominee Shareholders |, Zhenniu
Information and Enniu Network in December 2017, whereby the
Nominee Shareholders | appointed Zhenniu Information or, according to
the instruction of Zhenniu Information, a director of its offshore holding
company or a liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of
those directors as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf
on all matters concerning Enniu Network and to exercise all of its rights

as a Nominee Shareholders | of Enniu Network.

©)]

4)
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Save as disclosed above, there was no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the
PRC Operating Entities | and/or the Nominee Shareholders | for the year
ended 31 December 2021. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements | and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for

the year ended 31 December 2021.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement | which involves
the payment of a service fee by Enniu Network to Zhenniu Information, and
the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Zhenniu Information to
the Nominee Shareholders | under the Exclusive Option Agreement |, the

Contractual Arrangements | do not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract |, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Enniu Network to be consolidated into the Group, as if it were
the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing
to the Company. Through the appointment of senior management of Enniu
Network, the Company believes that Zhenniu Information is able to effectively
supervise, manage and operate the business operations, expansion plans,
financial policies and assets of Enniu Network, and at the same time, ensure due

implementation of the Structured Contract |.

The Structured Contract | enables the Company to exercise control over and
receives economic benefits generated from the business operation of Enniu
Network. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract | have been
confirmed by the PRC legal advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair
and reasonable for Zhenniu Information to be entitled to all the economic
benefits generated from Enniu Network. The Structured Contract | also permits
Zhenniu Information to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interests
in Enniu Network, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group's lack of equity ownership in Enniu Network, the
Group is able to control the business and financial position of Enniu Network
in substance through the Structured Contract |. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements |, Enniu Network is accounted for as the Company's subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results being consolidated into the

Group's consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net loss for the year ended 3| December 2021 and net
deficit of Enniu Network as at 31 December 2021, pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements |, amounted to approximately RMB54.8 million, approximately

RMB405.8 million and approximately RMB2,336.1 million, respectively.
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Structured Contract 2

Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co., Ltd.* (11 52 #F F: 5 BR A &) (“Hangzhou
Jiahao™") was jointly held by Mr Weng Chang and Mr. Guan Jun. Hangzhou Jiahao
has obtained the ICP Licence.

Zhenniu Information entered into: (I) the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 2 with Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2019, and further entered into:
(2) the Exclusive Option Agreement 2; (3) the Share Pledge Agreement 2; and
(4) the Powers of Attorney 2 and supporting documents (collectively referred
to as the “Structured Contract 2"') with Hangzhou Jiahao, Mr. Weng Chang and
Mr. Guan Jun (the “Nominee Shareholders 2") to enable the Group to obtain
the power and ability to control the business of Hangzhou Jiahao and acquire

economic benefits (the “Contractual Arrangements 2").
(1)  Exclusive Option Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2, entered into the
exclusive option agreement 2 (the “Exclusive Option Agreement
2") with Zhenniu Information in August 2021, pursuant to which the
Nominee Shareholders 2 agreed to grant to Zhenniu Information (or the
Designee), an irrevocable and exclusive option to acquire or purchase
from the Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao all or any
part of their equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao at a
nominal price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC
laws request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in
which case the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such
request. In compliance with the current regulations and requirements
of the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders 2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao
shall return any amount of purchase price they have received to Zhenniu
Information. At Zhenniu Information’s request, the Nominee Shareholders
2 and/or Hangzhou Jiahao will promptly and unconditionally transfer their
respective equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu
Information (or the Designee) after Zhenniu Information exercising its

purchase right.
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In order to prevent the flow of the assets and value of Hangzhou Jiahao
and its subsidiaries (the "PRC Operating Entities 2") to the Nominee
Shareholders 2, during the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement 2,
Hangzhou Jiahao shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, sell,
transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any of its assets without the
prior written consent of Zhenniu Information. In addition, Hangzhou
Jiahao shall not, and shall procure its subsidiaries not to, make any
distributions to its shareholder(s) without the prior written consent of
Zhenniu Information. In the event that the Nominee Shareholders 2
receive any distribution from Hangzhou Jiahao and/or its subsidiaries and
subject to the PRC laws, the Nominee Shareholders 2 must immediately
pay or transfer such distribution to Zhenniu Information (or the
Designee). If Zhenniu Information exercises its purchase right, all or any
part of the equity interests in and/or assets of Hangzhou Jiahao acquired
would be transferred to Zhenniu Information and the benefits of equity
ownership and/or assets, as applicable, would flow to the Company and

the Shareholders.
The Exclusive Option Agreement 2 is for an initial term of ten years

and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu Information

confirms a new renewal term in writing.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report

ABELEMNETRAERBEAE (FREERR
2 ) NEEREBEERAREARR2 £EKE
BERGZR2HMREA  HRERINIRFELS
HREZ MMBEFIrFSILEREERBAST
BHE - EE P IUAEMAXREEREM
BE I WARSHMMNIRGSAEEEER
MMNBFARLAREANBEAD R ERAER
RFEERD K MAEARR2ZENIMNE
W R /A B A B BER 2K > 7E R EDEE
RIRBIERT > REARR2BI AR A
FEEAMDIRT MRS GUIEEAL) o fH
MMIERFITHEAEBER  ARENRNETFS
AR D RER,HEEREEETINER
FoBREFRMAEER,/NEE EFERME)
B R B A A B R RRFIA °

BREERBZ2NNGBHRAS 5 L E
HABRS BB HA > BROFEFUNIRF U E 5 TSR
BB HAMR -



0]

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and its subsidiaries entered into the exclusive business
cooperation agreement 2 (the “Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement 2") with Zhenniu Information in August 2019, pursuant to
which Hangzhou Jiahao agreed to engage Zhenniu Information and its
designated persons as the exclusive provider to the PRC Operating
Entities 2 of business support, technical and consulting services, including
technical services, network support, business consultation, intellectual
property licensing, equipment, leasing, marketing consultancy, system
integration, product research and development and system maintenance,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, the service fees,
subject to Zhenniu Information’s adjustment, are equal to all of the net
profit of the PRC Operating Entities 2. Zhenniu Information may adjust
the service fees at its sole discretion, after consideration of certain factors,
including but not limited to the deduction of necessary costs, expenses,
taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to the respective fiscal
year, and may also include accumulated losses of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 from previous financial periods, which will be wired to the
designated account of Zhenniu Information upon issuance of payment
notification by Zhenniu Information. Zhenniu Information enjoys all the
economic benefits derived from every business of the PRC Operating
Entities 2 and bears Hangzhou Jiahao's business risks. If Hangzhou Jiahao
runs into financial deficit or suffers severe operation difficulties, Zhenniu

Information will provide financial support to Hangzhou Jiahao.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 is for an initial term
of ten years and is automatically renewable upon expiry unless Zhenniu

Information confirms a new renewal term in writing.

@

Report of the Directors
EEEHRT

BREBSERZE2

TN 32 47 B EL MY BB A B) R AR N R AR 5220195 8
BiIUBREBCFENE2 (BREFSER
#:2) B MNREFREBFENINRFT RE
BFEALATHZEERINERE XM
Rtk (BIE R M AR ~ 4848 24k ~ 558
A ABERSFA KRB -HE EHER &
MES EmFERAGEE BROER
37 4 AR 75 B IR ENAR 75 - IR F 2 8 IR
BB (ATREFNRFAR) BEFRNTREERE
NEHEFNH-MIMERFEERETHERR
A2ERERBE SEETERENGRES
MREEREBNAMEAE X MEKHEM
AERT FEUEETHEEERNBEY
BURB R R ZFRFERF RN
EHMRBHNREEEMMNRTHIEERR -
FMNIRFEETRHEEERRBEBREL
HNEMREMNG  URENMMNEBEFNETR
B MPMBEFEREMBAT ABREEN
EERE FUNRT AN R TR HEM B
o

BREZSEWZ2DT B+ W0 EE
By B BE R FRIENUNIR A UE B 75 URERR AT
BIRBAIHAR -

SHUEE-EARAR 202 #ERE | 61



Report of the Directors
EFEHRT

®3)

4)

62

Share Pledge Agreement 2

Hangzhou Jiahao and the Nominee Shareholders 2 and Zhenniu
Information entered into the share pledge agreement 2 (the “Share
Pledge Agreement 2") in August 2021. Under the Share Pledge
Agreement 2, the Nominee Shareholders 2 pledged all of their respective
equity interests in Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information as collateral
security for any or all of their payments due to Zhenniu Information and
to secure performance of their obligations under the Exclusive Business
Cooperation Agreement 2, the Exclusive Option Agreement 2 and the
Powers of Attorney 2 (as defined below). The Share Pledge Agreement
2 will not terminate until (i) all obligations of Hangzhou Jiahao and the
Nominee Shareholders 2 are satisfied in full; (i) Zhenniu Information
exercises its exclusive option to purchase the entire equity interests
of the Nominee Shareholders 2 in Hangzhou Jiahao and/or the entire
assets of Hangzhou Jiahao pursuant to the terms of the Exclusive Option
Agreement 2 when it is permitted to do so under the applicable PRC
laws and regulations; (i) Zhenniu Information exercises its unilateral and
unconditional right of termination; or (iv) the agreement is required to
be terminated in accordance with applicable PRC laws and regulations. In
addition, under the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, none of the Nominee
Shareholders 2 may transfer or permit the encumbrance of any of their
equity interests in and assets of Hangzhou Jiahao (including any equity
interests in and assets of the subsidiaries of Hangzhou Jiahao) without
Zhenniu Information’s prior written consent. The Share Pledge Agreement
2 will be terminated when all the said obligations of the Nominee
Shareholders 2 contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements 2 are
fulfilled or terminated in accordance with the requirement of the relevant

applicable laws and regulations of the PRC.

Powers of Attorney 2

An irrevocable power of attorney 2 (the “Powers of Attorney 2")
was entered into between the Nominee Shareholders 2, Zhenniu
Information and Hangzhou Jiahao in August 2019, whereby the Nominee
Shareholders 2 appointed Zhenniu Information or, according to the
instruction of Zhenniu Information, a director of its offshore holding
company or a liquidator or a successor who are acting the function of
those directors as their exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf
on all matters concerning Hangzhou Jiahao and to exercise all of its rights

as a Nominee Shareholders 2 of Hangzhou Jiahao.
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Save as disclosed above, there was no other new contractual arrangement
entered into, renewed and/or reproduced between the Group and the
PRC Operating Entities 2 and/or the Nominee Shareholders 2 for the year
ended 31 December 2021. There was no material change in the Contractual
Arrangements 2 and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for

the year ended 31 December 2021.

Save for the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement 2 which involves the
payment of a service fee by Hangzhou Jiahao to Zhenniu Information, and
the nominal purchase consideration to be paid by Zhenniu Information to
the Nominee Shareholders 2 under the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, the

Contractual Arrangements 2 do not involve payment of any consideration.

The Structured Contract 2, taken as a whole, permit the results and financial
operations of Hangzhou Jiahao to be consolidated into the Group, as if it were
the Company's subsidiary resulting in all economic benefits of its business flowing
to the Company. Through the appointment of senior management of Hangzhou
Jiahao, the Company believes that Zhenniu Information is able to effectively
supervise, manage and operate the business operations, expansion plans, financial
policies and assets of Hangzhou Jiahao, and at the same time, ensure due

implementation of the Structured Contract 2.

The Structured Contract 2 enables the Company to exercise control over
and receives economic benefits generated from the business operation of
Hangzhou Jiahao. The validity and legality of the Structured Contract 2 have been
confirmed by the PRC legal advisor. The Company is of the view that it is fair and
reasonable for Zhenniu Information to be entitled to all the economic benefits
generated from Hangzhou Jiahao. The Structured Contract 2 also permits
Zhenniu Information to exclusively acquire all or part of the equity interests
in Hangzhou Jiahao, to the extent permitted by the PRC laws and regulations.
Notwithstanding the Group's lack of equity ownership in Hangzhou Jiahao, the
Group is able to control the business and financial position of Hangzhou Jiahao
in substance through the Structured Contract 2. As a result of the Contractual
Arrangements 2, Hangzhou Jiahao is accounted for as the Company's subsidiary,
and its financial position and operating results being consolidated into the

Group's consolidated financial statements.

The revenue and net loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 and net deficit
of Hangzhou Jiahao as at 31 December 2021, pursuant to the Contractual
Arrangements 2, amounted to approximately RMB225,000, approximately
RMB1,042,000 and approximately RMB2,833,000.
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Reasons for adopting the Contractual Arrangements

As a company directly held by foreign shareholders is not allowed to engage
in the Internet business in which Enniu Network, Hangzhou Jiahao and each of
their subsidiaries, are engaged, the contractual arrangements are adopted by the
Group. The 51 Credit Card Manager which is developed and owned by Enniu
Network acts as the major channel through which the Group approaches its
users and conducts business. Enniu Network presents information to specific
users by connecting the 51 Credit Card Manager to its cooperating Internet
platforms, thereby providing credit card management service and other related
service to potential users. Hangzhou Jiahao, through its subsidiary, Shenzhen
Xiaolanben Network Technology Ltd.* CRYINEE ABLERMER AT,
developed and operated a mobile application named Little Blue Book, and
provides commercial information searching services to users by Little Blue Book.

Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements are crucial to the Group.

The Company will keep exploring various opportunities in building up its ICP
services operations for the purposes of being qualified as early as possible, to
acquire the entire equity interest of each of Enniu Network and Hangzhou

Jiahao, respectively, if and when the foreign investment restrictions are lifted.
Risk factors related to Contractual Arrangements and actions to be taken
Certain risks related to Contractual Arrangements, including:

if the PRC government deems that the Contractual Arrangements in
relation to the PRC Operating Entities (including the PRC Operating
Entities | and the PRC Operating Entities 2) do not comply with the PRC
regulatory restrictions on foreign investment in the relevant industries, or
if these regulations or the interpretation of existing regulations change
in the future, we could be subject to severe penalties or be forced to

relinquish our interests in those operations;

2. if the imposition of any of these penalties or requirements to restructure
our corporate structure by the PRC government cause us to lose the
rights to direct the activities of the PRC Operating Entities or our right
to receive their economic benefits, we would no longer be able to
consolidate the financial results of the PRC Operating Entities in our

consolidated financial statements;
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3. we could face material and adverse tax consequences if the PRC tax
authorities determine that our Contractual Arrangements with the PRC
Operating Entities were not made on an arm’s length basis and adjust our
income and expenses for the PRC tax purposes by requiring a transfer

pricing adjustment;

4. the nominee shareholders of the PRC Operating Entities may have
potential conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and adversely

affect our business and financial position; and

5. if any of the PRC Operating Entities become subject to winding up or
liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability to use and enjoy certain

important assets held by the PRC Operating Entities.

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the contractual arrangements, including:

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with the
Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from government
authorities will be submitted to the Board, if necessary, for review and

discussion on an occurrence basis;

2. the Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with the

contractual arrangements at least once a year; and

3. the Company will engage external legal advisors or other professional
advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the contractual arrangements, review the legal compliance of Enniu
Network, Hangzhou Jiahao and the PRC Operating Entities to deal with

specific issues or matters arising from the contractual arrangements.
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Annual review by the independent non-executive Directors and the auditor

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual

Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@)  the transactions carried out for the year ended 31 December 2021 had
been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the

Contractual Arrangements;

(b)  no dividends or other distributions had been made by the PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group; and

()  any new contracts had been entered into, renewed and/or reproduced
between the Group and the PRC Operating Entities for the year ended
31 December 2021 are fair and reasonable, or advantageous to the
Shareholders, so far as the Group is concerned and in the interest of the

Group and the Shareholders as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that the
transactions carried out pursuant to the Contractual Arrangements for the year
ended 31 December 2021 had received the approval of the Board, had been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Contractual
Arrangements, and that no dividends or other distributions had been declared by
the PRC Operating Entities to the holders of its equity interests which were not

otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.
COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

The Directors confirmed that during the year, they did not have any interest in
a business, apart from the business of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group, that would require

disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total issued Shares was at all
times held by the public during the year and up to the date of this report. The
Company has maintained a sufficient public float in compliance with Rule 8.08 of

the Listing Rules.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION FOR HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holdings of the Company's securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 68 to 88 of this

report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution
for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the auditor of the
Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed at the annual general
meeting of the Company (the “"AGM"). Since the date of which the Shares were
initially listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company has not changed its auditor.

By order of the Board
51 Credit Card Inc.
Sun Haitao

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

30 March 2022

* The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective Chinese

name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate governance
in order to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value and accountability. In addition, the Group is also committed to

continuously improving its corporate governance practices.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") as set out in Appendix
I4 to the Listing Rules has been amended with effect from | January 2022.
As this Corporate Governance Report covers the finance period for the year
ended 3| December 2021, all the corporate governance principles and code
provisions mentioned herein refer to those stated in the CG Code before the

amendments, not the revised CG Code.

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the Company had applied and complied

with all the code provisions in the CG Code with exceptions set out as follows:
Code Provision A.l.1 (Four Regular Board Meetings)

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the Board held three regular meetings
instead of four as required by code provision A.I.| of the CG Code. The Board
considers that the three meetings were sufficient to deal with the matters of
the Company. Apart from the Board meetings, consents of Directors on certain

issues were also sought through circulating resolutions in writing.
Code Provision E.|.2 (Chairman’s Attendance at Annual General Meeting)

Mr: Sun, the chairman of the Board, was unable to attend the AGM held in 2021
due to unexpected business engagements. Mr. Zheng Haiguo, a former executive
Director; took the chair of that AGM. Mr. Zhao Ke, a former executive Director
and the former chief financial officer of the Company, and the representatives of
the independent auditor of the Company were also present to answer questions

from the Shareholders.
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THE BOARD
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board is made up of eight Directors including
two executive Directors, three non-executive Directors and two independent
non-executive Directors. The biographical details of the Directors are set
out under the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this report. During the year ended 3| December 2021 and up
to the date of this report, the Board consisted of the following:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr: Sun Haitao (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed as the Chief Executive Officer on 7 January 2022)
Mr. Zhu Jianfei (Vice-President) (appointed on 3 September 202 |
and resigned on 14 April 2022)
Ms.Wu Shan (Vice-President) (appointed on 7 January 2022)
Mr. Zheng Haiguo (appointed on |9 February 2021 and
resigned on 7 January 2022)
Mr. Zhao Ke (Chief Financial Officer) (resigned on 3 September 2021)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Zou Yunli
MrYu Jin (appointed on |9 February 2021 and resigned on 4 April 2022)

Ms. Jiang Cuicui (appointed on 14 April 2022)
Ms. Gao Li (appointed on 14 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MrWong Ti (resigned on 14 April 2022)
Mr.Ye Xiang
Mr. Xu Xuchu

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company had three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the Board
with one independent non-executive Director possessing the appropriate
professional accounting or relevant financial management expertise as required
under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. Following the resignation of Mr Wong
Ti as an independent non-executive Director on 14 April 2022, the number
of independent non-executive Directors falls below the requirements of (i)
Rule 3.10(l) of the Listing Rules that the Board must include at least three
independent non-executive directors; and (ii) Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
which requires the number of independent non-executive directors representing
at least one-third of the Board.

As at the date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Board, save as
disclosed in this report, there was no financial, business or family relationship
among members of the Board or the chief executives of the Company.

The Company had received from each of the independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and considers that all of them are independent.
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Directors participate in appropriate continuous professional trainings to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant. The Company Secretary circulated timely
updates and reading materials to all Directors relating to the Listing Rules, the
SFO, and relevant statutory and regulatory guidelines on obligations and duties
of a director of a listed company. During the year ended 31 December 2021,
the Company Secretary had also arranged an induction training for the newly
appointed Directors. All Directors have complied with code provision A.6.5 of
the CG Code in relation to the training of Directors. According to the records
provided by the Directors and maintained by the Company, the training received
by the Directors for the year ended 3| December 2021 is summarised as
follows:

ESHIIRFFEEERE

EEQHPENFEZES I LURBRILFENFEE
MR BREEEESEZEENRTEGFE
HERTHEESEHEMR ATINWEGTREBF
BEERERMEMLEEEN AR EBLEMR
B BERBERIUKR IR EHRABEETET X
BEEZHEBEZENEEER - HZE2021F12831H
EFE  RAMENANEEZETET T ARSE
Mo R ABIFFEESCETERESTRIZLEE
ATRISFAME X EACSE  RIBEZRERA QT
BEEMNZH ESHE20IFNA3BLEFEMRES
RIS IR AL an T

Legal and Corporate

Name of Directors Directors’ duties regulatogl updates Business updates  governance
B4 EEXBE FEREEEN EFEM TEER
Executive Directors
BITES
Mr. Sun Haitao Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
mBERE
Mr. Zhu Jianfei) Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
RBIFRFTED
Ms.Wu Shan® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
E=%:xequnC)
Mr. Zheng Haiguo® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
EB?’S%E@
Mr. Zhao Ke® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
B S
Non-executive Directors
ERITES
Ms. Zou Yunli Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
MERER L
Mr.Yu Jin® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
TFHEREO
Independent Non-executive Directors
BIAFERITES
Mr: Wong Ti® Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
SER S 0
Mr.Ye Xiang Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
Mr. Xu Xuchu Yes B Yes B Yes B Yes B
RIBR L
Notes: Biat :
(1) Appointed as an executive Director on 3 September 2021; and resigned on 14 (1)  FR202IF9B3HEZEAHMITES ; W R20225F48 14

April 2022. HEERITES-

) Appointed as an executive Director on 7 January 2022.
3) Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director on 19
February 2021; and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive

Director on 7 January 2022.

4) Resigned as the Chief Financial Officer and an executive Director on 3 September
2021.

) Appointed as a non-executive Director on |9 February 2021; and resigned on 14
April 2022.

6) Resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 14 April 2022.
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Board and Committees Meetings

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company held three Board
meetings in total. At least fourteen days’ advance notice is given for all
regular Board meetings to give all Directors an opportunity to attend and to
include matters for discussion in the agenda. All Directors are provided with
meeting agenda and board papers at least three days before the meetings. The
Directors have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further
information, and when required, seek independent professional advice at the
Company's expense. Minutes of meetings are kept by the Company Secretary.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, all Directors had been provided with
monthly updates by the Company to ensure they are informed of the Group's
performance, financial position and significant business developments and to

facilitate them to discharge their duties as Directors.

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the attendance records of Directors at

Board and committees meetings are set out as follows:

EXRER/RS

EXEREEEEH

uul

:/—r

HE202IF12A3IBEFE > ARABREITH=
EEggR EERMACHERMYRAR m+@
KB EFEESEARERTEHRE LIREKT
AN EENRIAZREZRN -MEEERG&A
E“i%®%%@%%&&%$ﬁiﬁo%$ﬂm

EEBEHLERE-—SEN BARERERE
HBUEXER  AHBRABRARTX - E&Li

HASMWMEEEFE #EZ20201E 2831 HEEE  &AA
BHMEESEREXEMER MRFREENE
REENKRFE -MBRAIREAEBERE LA
ERTEENBHE-

HEXNIFENAIBLEFE - BEFEHEEETENE
BggENRIAOT

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HERY, BAREEEERE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General

Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Name of Directors EXg BEZZEEY R%ZEE HMEES
EEATE EE e o o BEAR
Executive Directors
WITES
Mr. Sun Haitao" 2/3 - 171 12 o/1®
HEBLED
Mr. Zhu Jianfei® I/1 - 0/0 0/0 0/0
KRBIRALED
Ms.Wu Shan® N/A A 5E 3 N/A 38 3 N/A 8 3 N/A N N/A 83
C=$1i keguut)
Mr. Zheng Haiguot 3/3 - - - I/
BB E®
Mr. Zhao Ke® 2/3 - - - I/1
HE RO
Non-executive Directors
FERITES
Ms. Zou Yunli 3/3 3/3 - - 0/0
MWEEL L
MrYu Jin®© 3/3 - - - 0/0
FEREO

SUER-EARAR 202 FERE | (1
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AN =50 V= =
TEER/AHRS
Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend
HERY BARLEEERE
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

Name of Directors BExg BEREEY RLZEEY FNEEE

EERE g2 = = g2 IRERRE

Independent Non-executive Directors

BIFRTES

Mr.Wong Ti?) 3/3 3/3 - - 0/0

AR ED

Mr.Ye Xiang 3/3 3/3 [/1 212 0/0

Mr. Xu Xuchu 2/3 - 0/1 12 0/0

HBR et

Notes: Mtst -

(1) Details of and the reason for Mr. Sun’s absence from the AGM are set out under (1) HRAEERERRBFAGZHBRERIN ARSE
the section headed “Code Provision E.I.2 (Chairman’'s Attendance at Annual ISFAMEX SR 1 2R (EREHEREBEFRE) I—Hic
General Meeting)" of this report.

@) Appointed as an executive Director on 3 September 2021; and resigned on 14 ) 20219 A3EEZERNITES ; WH20226F48 14
April 2022. HEEHITES

(3)  Appointed as an executive Director on 7 January 2022. (3) 200N FIA7TEEZERIITES-

(4)  Appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director on 19 (4)  F2021F28 19HEZRTATTEAEHFNTES ; 1N
February 2021; and resigned as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive 2022 | B7HBHEITEMR R R RITES -

Director on 7 January 2022.

) Resigned as the Chief Financial Officer and an executive Director on 3 September ®) 2021 9 A3HB T E R B ERNITES-
2021.

6) Appointed as a non-executive Director on |9 February 2021; and resigned on 14 (6) 202128 1I9BEZERIFHITES ; WHit20226F48
April 2022. 4B FHEFERITE S -

@) Resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 14 April 2022. @) 2022648 4B BHEEILIFITES -
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Responsibility of the Board and Delegation of Management Function

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the Group,
including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term strategies and
appointment and supervision of senior management to ensure that the
operation of the Group is conducted in accordance with the objectives of the

Group. Execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the management.

Appointment and Election of Directors

All executive Directors and non-executive Directors have entered into
service contracts with the Company for a term of three years. In addition, all
independent non-executive Directors have entered into letters of appointment
with the Company for a term of one year. In accordance with the Articles, all
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the annual general meeting. Any new Directors appointed by the Board either
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board are subject to re-election
by the Shareholders at the next general meeting of the Company. At each annual
general meeting, at least one-third of the Directors shall retire from office. A
retiring Director shall retain office until the close of the meeting at which he
retires and shall be eligible for re-election thereat. The retiring Directors, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election. There is no cumulative voting in
the Director elections. The election of each candidate is done through a separate
resolution. Details with respect to the candidates standing for election as the

Directors are set out in the AGM circular to the Shareholders.

The Board, with support of the nomination committee, is responsible for
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of Directors, monitoring the appointment of Directors and

assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. The Company has made specific
enquiries with all Directors and all Directors confirmed that they had complied

with the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2021.
Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal
actions taken against its Directors and officers. The insurance coverage will
be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that the Directors and officers are

adequately protected against potential legal liabilities.
BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit Committee

The main responsibilities of the audit committee include (but not limited to)
supervising the annual auditing work, assessing the truthfulness, accuracy and
completeness of the audited financial statements and submitting the assessment
to the Board for consideration; proposing the engagement or change of external
auditor and supervising their performance; reviewing and evaluating the financial
supervising system and internal audit system of the Company; discussing the
risk management and internal control systems with management to ensure that
management has performed its duty to have effective risk management and
internal control systems; and reviewing the financial information of the Company

and its disclosure.

The audit committee consists of three members, of whom Mr. Wong Ti
(independent non-executive Director) was the chairman (up until 14 April
2022), and other members are Ms. Zou Yunli (non-executive Director), Mr Ye
Xiang (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent
non-executive Director) (since 14 April 2022). Mr.Ye Xiang has been appointed
as the chairman of the audit committee since 14 April 2022. Mr. Wong Ti and
Mr. Ye Xiang (independent non-executive Directors) have the professional
qualification, and appropriate accounting or relevant financial management

expertise.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021, the audit committee held three

meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the audit committee are

set out on pages 71 to 72 of this report. Summaries of works completed by the

audit committee during 2021 are as follows:

reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements, annual results
announcement and the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2020;

reviewed the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements,
interim results announcement and the 2021 interim report for the six

months ended 30 June 2021;

reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal
control systems, and the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the

Group;

made recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of auditor of

the Company; and

discussed the audit plan of the year of 2021 with the auditor before the

commencement of audit work.

Auditor’s Remuneration

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the remuneration in respect of the audit

and non-audit services rendered by the auditor of the Company are as follows:

EXRER/RS

HEXIFNAIBIEFE BEXEZEGEEHA=X
ERoAHBEREZEEZENERERSRFIN
RBEFTIENH - BEZEZE G201 FERMAT
EREWT :

- EREHE200F 283 HEFEEREZESHT
BHRE - EEEBEANERER;

= EREE2021F6B30H IENER R EZE
BREBRER PHEEASTR202IFHH
R

- BREFENYHFHRRGE BREERAEE
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- DENWZALARAEZEIREFTTIRHES

Y4

- EEH TERIAR R BT 38002 EE B
52l

BB =

HEXIFNASIHLEFEE siAQABAZEMER
EBtRIEBHRBEZMESWT ¢

Type of services Amount

ARFSEEEY (approximate)

ot L

#))

RMB'000

AE¥FT

Audit services 1,980

BETARTS

Non-audit services Mete 1,600
JREE ST AR (v

Note: The non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company for the year ended — [iiat . B{E20214F 12531 HIEFZ » K2\ E]1Z #ATIE 2 IF &

31 December 2021 include the review of the Company's unaudited consolidated

financial statements for the six months ended 30 June 2021.
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EXRERRS

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of financial
statements which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In
preparing such financial statements, it is fundamental that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of
the Company about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”
of this report.

Remuneration Committee

The main responsibilities of the remuneration committee include (but not
limited to) reviewing and examining the remuneration policies and proposals
of Directors and senior management; reviewing and assessing the performance
of Directors and senior management in discharging their responsibilities and
conducting annual performance evaluation; approving the terms of the executive
Directors' service contracts; making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of executive Directors, non-executive Directors and
senior management; and considering the remunerations paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions for
other positions in the Group.

The remuneration committee consists of three members, of whom Mr.Ye Xiang
(independent non-executive Director) is the chairman, and other members are
Mr. Sun Haitao (chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and executive

Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent non-executive Director).

For the year ended 3| December 2021, the remuneration committee held
two meetings. Detailed attendance records by members of the remuneration
committee are set out on pages 7| to 72 of this report. Summaries of works
completed by the remuneration committee during 2021 are as follows:

- reviewed the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
policy, structure and packages of all Directors and senior management (i.e.
adopted the code provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG code);

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
package adjustments of individual executive Directors, non-executive

Director, and independent non-executive Directors; and

S considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages for Mr. Zheng Haiguo and Mr. Zhu Jianfei upon
their appointments as executive Directors and Mr. Yu Jin upon his
appointment as a non-executive Director.
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Nomination Committee

The main responsibilities of the nomination committee include (but not limited
to) reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience of the members) of the Board at least once a year and making
recommendations on proposed changes to the Board in accordance with the
Company's corporate strategy; reviewing the requirements and procedures
for the appointment of Directors and senior management and providing
suggestions to the Board; identifying qualified candidates for Directors and
senior management and reviewing and making suggestions on the qualification
of the candidates for Directors and senior management; and evaluating the

independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The nomination committee consists of three members, of whom Mr. Sun Haitao
(chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and executive Director) is the
chairman, and other members are Mr Ye Xiang (independent non-executive

Director) and Mr. Xu Xuchu (independent non-executive Director).

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the nomination committee held one
meeting. Detailed attendance records by members of the nomination committee
are set out on pages 7| to 72 of this report. Summaries of works completed by

the nomination committee during 2021 are as follows:

= reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and
the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”);

- reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for directorship during
the year;

- assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors;

S made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the

re-election of Directors; and

- considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointments of Mr. Zheng Haiguo and Mr Zhu Jianfei as executive

Directors and Mr. Yu Jin as a non-executive Director:
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Nomination Policy
The Group has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”).
Summary of the Nomination Folicy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member selection
process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the Board maintains
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company's business. The nomination committee has been
delegated to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for the selection

and appointment of new Directors.
Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy to achieve diversity at Board

level.
Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

Selection of candidates for members of the Board will be based on a number
of measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service, and will take into full consideration of the Company’s business
scale and specific requirements from time to time. Currently, members of the
Board have different business and professional backgrounds, and among all eight
members of the Board, two are female. The nomination committee is responsible
for supervising and reviewing the implementation of this policy, as appropriate, to

ensure its effectiveness.

The nomination committee has reviewed the Board Diversity Policy this year and

was satisfied that the diversity of the Board was optimal.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible for the

corporate governance duties. Such duties include but are not limited to:

= developing and reviewing the Company's policies and practices on

corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board;

= reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management;

= reviewing and monitoring the Company's policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

= developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the employees and the Directors;

and

= reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and the

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year, the Board had reviewed and performed the abovementioned

corporate governance functions.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon (“Mr. Lam") is the Chief Financial Officer and the Company
Secretary. Mr. Lam is an employee of the Group and is familiar with the affairs of
the Group. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary to ensure that Board procedures and all applicable law, rules and
regulations are followed. For the year ended 31 December 2021, Mr. Lam took
no less than |5 hours of relevant professional training as required by the Listing

Rules.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Effective risk management and internal control systems are crucial for achieving
the strategic goals of the Company. With the risk management and internal
control systems, the Company can ensure its law-compliant operation, which

keeps its operational risk within tolerable limits.

The Board is responsible for the comprehensive assessment of the key risks
exposed to the Company, identifying the risk level that the Company expects
and can absorb for achieving its strategic goals, determining risk strategies,
ensuring the establishment of internal control system and its effective
implementation, and monitoring the operational risk and performance indicators

in a timely manner.

The senior management is responsible for the implementation of the risk
management plans and risk strategies approved by the Board, organizing and
coordinating the implementation and daily operation of internal control system.
The senior management is also responsible for identifying and assessing the

material business risk exposed to the Company and taking measures accordingly.

The audit committee is responsible for assisting the Board to check the overall
risk profiles of the Company, conducting risk assessment and risk management,
inspecting internal control, overseeing the effective implementation of internal
control and the self-evaluation of internal control, and reviewing and monitoring

the effectiveness of the Company's internal audit.

The internal control department of the Company is responsible for monitoring
the risk management and internal control systems, independently auditing the
effectiveness and completeness of the risk management and internal control
systems and ensuring the compliance of internal control. Also, the internal
control department is responsible for assessing risks independently, identifying
material risks and making suggestion for improvement, carrying out subsequent
audit on issues identified, and regularly reporting the auditing results and follow-

ups to the audit committee.
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The Company has established a comprehensive risk management system to
effectively identify, assess, mitigate and monitor various risks, which enables
the Company to identify and manage its risks through continuous supervision
and auditing in a proactive and structured way. The Company has adopted the
following dynamic risk management procedures to cope with the ever-changing

risk profiles:

— all business units and functions will, from the bottom up, analyze, confirm,

manage and monitor the risks arising from the operation systematically;

= the senior management will be responsible for the overall organization,
coordination and planning of the operational risk management of the
Company, and conduct real-time monitoring on the risk management
work and internal control of all business units and functional departments,
for which the internal control department will collect and coordinate risks

and confirm and audit risk control;

- the internal control department will conduct post-inspection, audit and
monitoring on the risk management work, conduct inspection on the
Company's internal control system for defects, audit the compliance,
reasonableness and risk controllability of the principal business processes
of the Company, audit the economic responsibility of the personnel in

charge of operation, audit the effectiveness of enterprise information

system, and report relevant results to the audit committee semi-annually;

and

- the audit committee will, from the bottom up, promote the
implementation of strategies for coping with material risks by the

management.
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Risk management and internal control system on credit assessment

The Group upholds strong risk management and internal control in the area of
credit assessment on its borrowers. Such measures are critical for the Group's

credit facilitation and co-branded credit card businesses.

Credit assessment measures are implemented throughout the credit life cycle
and can be divided into three phases: product design, pre-lending assessment and

post-lending management.

Product design: The Group's products are carefully designed to minimize the
risk of borrower default. During product design, the Group carries out intensive
researches on the product’s target clientele, borrowing purpose, data integrity
and the market's risks and opportunities. The aim is to design a product that
can meet the desired needs of its intended users while also allowing for more

tailored risk control.

Pre-lending assessment: The Group performs stringent assessment on loan
applicants. We introduced multi-dimensional data sources into the intelligent
big data risk control model established by our own intellectual property rights
to conduct in-depth analysis and sophisticated testing to effectively distinguish
customers and measure their index scores, so as to further improve the risk

management ability.

Post-lending management: The ongoing borrower relationship management is
of paramount importance to the Group. Prior to each repayment deadline, the
Group sends early warnings to borrowers with potential repayment problems
on to promote prompt payment. Should a default event happen, the Group
would carry out the standard collection procedure on the overdue debt to
minimize credit loss, which would include necessary legal proceedings. On the
other hand, the Group also provides quality customer services to borrowers
with good repayment history thereby enhancing their stickiness to the Group's

products and the overall quality of the Group's customer pool.

The Group will continue to modify and improve its credit assessment process in

accordance with its business development and latest regulatory updates.

82 | 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report

SHH (& B TSRO B IR IR R PO R B 12

FEBHEERAETBRENRABREERANEE
o ELEREEHNAEENDEEBRBRERF
EHEEMBUERMER-

EEFLERESZNEBEELEHBH L&D
REMKR BREEREREE @R

EmRs  AEENEMSBFMANRETURDE
TARENRRE -REmMKRE ~EEYEMRD
BERERE-EREN BETEML -HHERERKD
BEFLTHMANME BEREEATRFTAEHN
BEREHEGENER LREFESAHEERE
1T R IE R o

ERiRRER  2EEREMEBAETEBAT
e RMSIANZHERBRREERNHERE
VHEERMBERZERED  ETRIBEREDNM KR
BHEASUENENER LA EEEEIERD &
E—TRARREEE

EREE NERANFTEMGREENAEERSR
BRFEZEZ-ESEENRARIRZA  2ERBE
HAEEBAEENBEENERAZLBREBN U e EE
REM - -MELBARERFTR AEEGHARAN
RETREREEFLURVERERL BEETH
BHNEREF -S—FHE cEERRFERCEN
BEEFREHEENEZERRS KEMEAZTREAE
ERERMNMFMEUREERRENEE

FEBEREEBREZRERENAT FERAE
TB{CEE B R ERE



MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A summary of the major risks and uncertainties faced by the Company is set
out below. With the changes of the business scale and external environment,

the risk profile of the Company may subject to changes. The following risks and

uncertainties are not exhaustive.

The major risks faced by the Company currently include:
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Economic and market risks

Any significant or prolonged slowdown in the Chinese or global economy
may have an adverse impact on the Company's business, financial position
and operation results. Facing an ever-changing market and due to the
limited operating history, the Company is subject to fierce competition in
the industry. If the Company does not compete effectively, its operation
results could be harmed. If the services provided by the Company are
insufficiently attractive to customers or fail to satisfy the demands of users,
applicants or cooperative institutions, the Company's business, financial

position and operation results will be affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company always pays close attention
to market and industry trends, actively promotes communication with
industrial peers and regularly conducts analysis on competing products.
At the same time, the Company places emphasis on the demands
and experiences of users, constantly promotes the innovation and
development of products and technologies, expands into new areas
and makes the strategies of the Company more in line with the market
and environment demand. In addition, the Company will continue to
strengthen the cooperation with excellent business partners to achieve

mutual benefits and joint development.
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Government policies and regulations risks

The PRC government has been improving laws and regulations on
Internet finance industry and referral services. With the gradual
implementation of regulatory policies and rules of self-regulation, if the
Company is unable to ensure that its existing practices are in compliance
with the laws, regulations and government policies relating to the industry,

the Company's business will be adversely affected.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up a professional
and strong in-house team to ensure operation compliance in all aspects
such as communication with regulatory authorities, law interpretation
and internal system construction. The Company maintains close contact
with regulators to update the regulatory trends in real time and pay
close attention to the new laws and regulations in the industry, so as to
conduct self-inspection immediately, comply with regulatory requirements
comprehensively and actively responds to regulations, thus improving its

compliance management.
Credit risk

The Company relies on the proprietary credit assessment model in
assessing the creditworthiness of the borrowers and the risks associated
with loans. If the proprietary credit assessment model of the Company is
flawed, or if the Company otherwise fails or is perceived to fail to manage
the default risks of loans facilitated through its platform, the reputation
and market share of the Company would be adversely affected, which
would impact the business and operation results of the Company. If the
Company is unable to maintain relatively low delinquency rates for loans
facilitated, or its ability to collect delinquent loans is impaired, the business,
financial position and results of operation of the Company might be

adversely affected.
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In order to reduce these risks, the Company has continued to improve
its credit risk management system. Based on the strengths of the
Company's mobile Internet platform, the Company has continued to
develop and focus on the quality credit customers; based on big data and
artificial intelligence technology, the Company has continued to expand
its risk management data and explore and improve its variables of risk
management; through accumulated experiences and outstanding practices
of its peers, the Company has kept optimizing its risk management
model and risk management policy; through enhancing its own after-
credit management team and applying artificial intelligence technology, the

Company has continuously enhanced its asset recovery ability.

Information system and security risks

The business and internal systems of the Company rely on highly technical
software and application. Undetected errors or significant disruption
in the IT system of the Company could restrain us from offering our
products and services, thereby reducing the attractiveness of our products
and services and resulting in a loss of users. In addition, if the Company
breached the requirements of national Internet security, or if our platform
is subject to attacks that result in unauthorised intrusion into our users’
personal information, the Company's services may be perceived as
insecure and unreliable, users may curtail or stop using related services

and the Company's business and operating results may be harmed.

In order to reduce these risks, the Company has set up an independent
and professional team dedicated to technology operation and
maintenance and information security construction. The Company
has well-established systems and control measures for technology
development, online management and information security management
and the above systems and measures have been implemented strictly.
Effective emergence plans have been made and emergence drill and
data backup are carried out regularly. In addition, the Company has
established a user management system to strengthen the access authority
management of important business systems, and conducts internal audit

and training and education on staff awareness regularly.
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EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

With the assistance of the audit committee, the Board continues to monitor
the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The relevant
procedures involve reviewing the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control and dealing with material internal control issues include (but not limited
to) meeting and communication with the management team, internal control
department, legal personnel and external auditor; and reviewing relevant work

reports and key performance indicators.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems. The
risk management and internal control systems can provide reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, and are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure in the process of attaining
business objectives. During the year ended 3| December 2021, the internal audit
team of the Group conducted internal audit on the principal businesses of the
Group independently. The Board and audit committee reviewed and monitored

the Group's internal audit function and considered it effective.

The Board had conducted annual review of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 3| December 2021 and was of the view that
the financial reporting system, the risk management and internal control systems

for the year ended 3| December 2021 were adequate and effective.

During the annual review for the year ended 3| December 2021, the Board also
assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, employee qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, the result with which the Board was satisfied.

The Board was not aware of any material internal control failings or weaknesses.

As for the procedure for handling and publication of inside information as well
as its internal control, the Company was aware of its responsibility under the
SFO and has adopted relevant internal policies covering the definition and
scope of inside information, guidelines on all insiders including Directors and
accountability for breaches etc. to ensure that the handling and publication of

inside information were in compliance with the SFO.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles, general meetings shall be convened on
the written requisition of any two or more members deposited at the principal
office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to
have such a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the written
requisition of any one member which is a recognized clearing house (or its
nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or,
in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not
within twenty one days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed
duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further twenty one days, the
requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of
the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the general meeting in the
same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held after the
expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT THEIR
ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and
reasonable disclosure of information to its Shareholders. The Company delivers
interim and annual reports and publication of the interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosure of information on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the Shareholders.

The Company endeavours to maintain two way communications with the
Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders are encouraged to put
their enquiries about the Group through the Company's email at ir@u5 |.com
or by mail to the address of the Company's principal place of business in Hong
Kong at Office 2401 A of 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway,

Hong Kong. All enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.

The Company has in place the shareholders’ communication policy which sets
out the policies in relation to communication with the Shareholders. Such policy
which is published on the website of the Company shall be reviewed by the

Board on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or move a resolution are encouraged
to convene an extraordinary general meeting in accordance with the section
headed "PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING" above.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no change in the Articles for the year ended 31 December 2021.The
Articles are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk)

and the Company (www.u5 |.com).
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

REPORTING STANDARD, PERIOD, SCOPE AND PRINCIPLES

This environmental, social and governance (the “ESG") report (the
“ESG Report”) is prepared by the Company in compliance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules, which
describes the ESG developments of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period”). In order to centralize
resources to monitor the performance more effectively, the key scope
of the ESG Report covers two principal offices located at Hangzhou and

Beijing (2020 ESG Report scope: Hangzhou and Beijing).

The Company prepares the ESG Report based on three reporting

principles, namely materiality, quantitative and consistency.

Materiality: The Company's ESG management approach is designed
with a focus on the key areas which are considered to be significant
to the Company. Such key areas are explained in the section headed
“STAKEHOLDERS AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT" of the ESG
Report.

Quantitative: The Company used the measurable forms to present for
disclosure when applicable, and also explained the choice of calculation
methods and the sources of the conversion factors used in disclosing the

KPls.

Consistency: The identical ESG Reporting framework is used to count and
calculate the KPIs in the annual ESG Report, so as to allow for meaningful

comparisons.
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BACKGROUND OF THE COMPANY

We were established in 2012 and have created a comprehensive
ecosystem built upon a widely-used credit card management platform,
51 Credit Card Manager App, which is developed by us, allowing users
to enjoy smart management service. Leveraging the highly-valuable user
base and the personal credit data accumulated from the credit card
management platform, we kept expanding the ecosystem boundary. In
September 2019, we launched a commercial information searching tool,
Little Blue Book, with an aim to provide users with valuable commercial
information. In the second half of 2020, we repositioned Little Blue Book
as a “smart sales intelligence platform” to help enterprises quickly identify

and accurately reach their customers, thereby improving sales efficiency.

Awards gained in the past year

Enniu Network was awarded the honorary qualification of Zhejiang

Enterprise Research Institute at Provincial Level in 2020;

2. Zhenniu Information was awarded the honorary qualification
of Hangzhou Enterprise High New Technology Research and
Development Center in 2020; and

3. Zhenniu Information was awarded the honorary qualification
of Zhejiang Provincial High New Technology Research and

Development Center in 2020.

In the future, adhering to the vision of “Better Credit, Better Life”, the
Company will stay true to its faith and stride ahead.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report

~

1
=

il

ul

/A\_

pl

IR IL 0201245 > BB IR FIOH E B — R E
ZEANERAFEETASIEAFTERERE
NEPBPETEEEERS LRI T2E
NWEERB -BBRERAFEETYEMRENS
BECREERURBAGHER RMAKE
TR ERRFIB R 2019898 > &
ML —EEERALERTANELS EER
RREHAEBENEREEM 2020F F+5F
B NEAEURESHEBRTE) &
FarUEMEENERRETRERBNE
EEE EMESHERK-

EEMENKE

B AR REN T AR R
ZEH (20206F) ;

2. BRSNS R B T b

FRLEEEE (202059) ; &

3. MMIRSSEEIISARSHIRMEE
MmO S BB E (20204F) ©

R ARBRIRRATREERNABE
BB - REPO MEATT



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

OUR ESG PHILOSOPHY AND GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK

The Company acknowledges the significance of effective ESG initiatives
at the operational level. We endeavor to provide long-term benefits
to all stakeholders by way of responsible operation, which take not
only the economic factors but also social and environmental factors
into consideration during operation, so as to maintain a sustainable

development of the Company.

The direction of our ESG practices is led by the Board, so as to assess
and identify our ESG related risks and opportunities, formulate our ESG
policies, strategies, priorities and manage significant ESG related issues,
allocate resources and examine and approve ESG achievement from top
to bottom, to ensure the proper and effective operation of relevant risk
management and internal control systems, and reflect the core value of

the Company.

The regulatory framework and functions of the Company on ESG issues

A

are as follows:
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Regulatory Functions

BEERAE

Regulatory Contents

EERR
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Board
EEg

Audit Committee

BEZEEE

Internal Control

Department
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Senior Management
SREEE

Business Units and

Functions Department
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being responsible for the comprehensive assessment of the key ESG risk exposures of
the Company (for instance major ESG issues relating to the Company, including product
responsibility, the understanding of sustainable needs of the society, etc.).
EE2AENGEEAASMEERNFARESCER MEREE - THRAENIFERESHA
FRF AR EEESGEE ) o

identifying the risk level that the Company expects and can absorb for achieving its strategic
goals, determining risk strategies, including ESG risks.
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being responsible for assisting the Board to check the overall risk profiles (including ESG risks
profiles) of the Company.
WHEFEREARTEERNERAMN R SIEESCERM R -

inspecting internal control, reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the Company's

internal audit.
BENEEEE WiRsT REBERARE NI E LML

promoting the implementation of strategies for coping with material risks (including ESG

risks) by the management.

HHEEEREEARBRNEH R  BEESCHERRR

being responsible for assessing risks independently, identifying material risks and making
suggestion for improvement, including the risk assessment and suggestions for improvement
for ESG.
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implementing the risk management plans and risk strategies approved by the Board, being
responsible for the overall organization, coordination and planning of the operational risk
management of the Company, including the operational risk management for ESG.
PTEFERHENRREEABNARRKE BALTKERAREETFETR
M B RERE BEMRESCHEERRER -

L

analyzing, confirming, managing and monitoring the risks (including ESG risks) arising from the
operation systematically.
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The Company has established written guidelines for the ESG
framework and would provide training and strive to invest resources
for improvements in the pursuit of sustainable development. With the
Company's guidelines, effective policies and relevant training, we could
integrate the ESG concept into all aspects of our operation from top
to bottom and thus effectively enhance the ESG awareness of the
employees, enabling each member of the Company to take part in our
sustainable development. This ensures that our ESG framework could fully

cover the key aspects of our business.

Driven by strong and effective ESG risk management, the Company is
devoted to continuously improving the performance in these key areas
through the ESG framework, so as to create sustainable values in the

long-term development.
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RIE- T ERELSHRS
4. STAKEHOLDERS AND MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Stakeholders

We strive to make constructive communication with stakeholders

(including Shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, regulatory

authorities and the public) to adopt their views and protect their interests,

so as to set long-term development direction for the Company and

maintain close engagement with them.

Set out below are the stakeholder groups, their expectations and the

common communication channels with the Company:

M- FpEREEMNTG

BinE

RAEHBBRAKNHERRRMENBRES F
mRE (BERR -FER BT -HEB -BEE
BENHEAR) NERRRERSEEZE > L
EEARBNRRAERS D REREFRFRY
BIRE (% ©

Hﬁ}%iﬁﬂu REMERKEFEART
BERRBW T :

]
&
e
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Stakeholders

RBinE

Expectations

HAEZ

Communication channels
BBRE

Government and regulatory

authorities

BT K EEEHE

Users

BR

*  Compliant in operation
ARARER

»  Compliant with the laws and regulations
BTERER

* Internal inspection
NEIRE

*  Workplace occupational health and safety

IrBFEEEERZS

* Protection of users’ interests
B R EmRE

» Capital and transaction safety of the platform
FToBEEkXZZE

* User experience of the platform
TERNAFER

* Fair transaction and reasonable charges
NIERGREE-E

* Protection of users' information, the timeliness
and authenticity of information
BREERE-EERFUEMNEEN!

* Preferential policies for marketing
EHEEBR

» Fair valuation standard

AT ERE
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*  Public information such as financial
reports, announcements, circulars,
etc.

MHRE NG -BRELHGE
B

*  Direct communication by email and
phone
HEBBETFHEMEEET
BiE

* Interview with government officials

HHNEES

* Risk warning documents
=R e

» Collection of complaints and
feedbacks
& &R A0 2 BR AT U ER

* Public information such as
financial reports, announcements,
circulars, etc.
MHBERE RE-BREAFRE
2

* Maintaining good communication
with customers
HERRFRENES

* Satisfaction survey

MRERE
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Expectations

RIE- B RELSHRS

Communication channels

BinE HAZ BERE
Employees * Training and career development potential *  Employee activities
BT Bl 2 R 2 BIEH
*  Wages and benefits * Employee bulletin board
TEER ETfER
*  Working environment * Periodic employee memorandum
TRIRIRE ETERESE
* Health and safety « Collecting employee's views
BEEZE through direct communication
» Career development and opportunities HEERBEBREETIERR
HEZRENEE * Employee trainings, seminars and

Shareholders and investors

RRERNEEE

* Return on investment
BRERHK

* Information disclosure and transparency
ERKBEMNERE

» Protection of Shareholders’ interests
REER R

* Timely and accurate disclosure of relevant
information
R B Fe #E e st e SR AR A (5 B

* Improving corporate governance
e ABERNKTE

* Compliant with the laws and regulations
BTRRER

* Anti-corruption

RIEEREk

briefings
BT st M ER

»  Cultural activities such as team
building
BB ERE LA

* Public information such as
financial reports, announcements,
circulars, etc.
MHERE NG -BREQHE
B

* Road show/teleconference/
meeting with investors/
Shareholders
BREERRETRE /B
E=f V-

* Inquiry by phone/email
B/ BTHHEH

*  On-site visit by investors
REHERGHH

* Information disclosure on the
websites of the Stock Exchange

and the Company
BT R A A B HILE B IRE
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Stakeholders Expectations Communication channels
BinE HAZ BERE
Local communities, * Employment opportunities * Charitable activities
non-governmental organizations, TEKE BEEE
potential customers and » Ecological environment *  Community investment and
the public ARIRIR services
Eithit &~ JEBUST AR A «  Community development HERE B R
BERRMAR HaEE + Stakeholders’ engagement
* Devotion to public welfare FHE2H
HAmBENRIF * Environmental protection
» Charitable donation activities
EERE RRES
* Reduction of pollutant discharge
D5 2 HE R
* Reduction of wastes
W EEY)
Media * Information transparency * Information disclosure on the
IR ERERE websites of the Stock Exchange
* Good media relations and the Company
RFBOERBRA % BT R AR A BB E BRI E

* Public information such as
financial reports, announcements,
circulars, etc.

MBRE - REMNEREARH
=1=)
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Materiality assessment

The Company has collected many potential issues relating to ESG after
the abovementioned communications with its stakeholders during the
Reporting Period. We have grouped these issues into areas set out in the
ESG Reporting Guide, and further collected more internal and external
information about the Company in relation to these issues from the
employees and external consultants to estimate the impact and assess
the materiality of these issues on the Group. Based on the materiality
assessment results, the stakeholders and the Group regard issues relating
to product responsibility (including compliance) and employees as the
most— concerned issues. The Group is committed to review these
issues from time to time and strives to improve and achieve sustainable

development.

The Company keeps on improving its ESG performance to meet
stakeholders’ expectations and to deal with the risks faced by it. During
the Reporting Period, details of the ESG practice and KPIs (as defined in
the ESG Reporting Guide) which are considered to be relevant to the
Group's operation and of great importance are described in the following

four subject areas.

Our Service

B FIRIARTS

Our Community

E2 3] |

RIF-HERERBRS

EE S

RRATEREMAKE LR BEHFHENE
B BEIFZHESCA BB ZERE - 1M
BELERERANESGREESIFNEIHES
oW HE-—SHMEERERDES T RINEER
BEFZTHANREARATHRIMER  UBFHZTF
ESCRENAEBNTERTIHHERME R
BEZUTEREER ERER (BESH)
RETHMZEERERFNERESEERAR
AHNZBE - FEBRHARBEREFRE 1
REBFHERERERIFES R

KRB REREHESGH R UK MNE
BYHAEE % FE ¥ A 2 B) P [ 3 B9 R B © 3R 5 £8
R HPREREAEENEFEMIEIERRE
AEENESCTEFIRMRERIER (E&ERESG
WEIES)) LT B ERE R R ET 4B o

Our Environment

FHAIIRE

Our Employee
BANWET
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OUR ENVIRONMENT

We are principally engaged in the operation of online credit card
management platform. In view of our online nature, the operation has
minimal direct impact on the environment. Nevertheless, we acknowledge
the importance of environmental protection and have adopted certain
measures which are regularly implemented in our business operations to

manage emissions and wastes.

Aspect Al: Emissions

Air and greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions

Since the publication of ESG Report by the Group, the only source of air
emissions and GHG emissions under scope | was the use of corporate
motor vehicles. The emission generated was maintained at a low level
due to infrequent use of vehicles, and the KPI of which was of relatively
less materiality. For cost-efficiency optimization, the Company no longer
discloses data relating to this issue since the Reporting Period but will
closely monitor the Company's air emissions and GHG emissions under
scope | and its materiality to the Company so as to disclose in a timely

manner.
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During the Reporting Period, the approximate carbon dioxide equivalent RBEHANZEEHREE (1CO2ey) &
("CO2e") MNete D is set out as below: RBAT .
2021 2020
20216 20206
GHG emissions Source of emissions Total emissions Density®™2  Total emissions DensityMete 2)
(tonne COz)  (tonne COz)  (tonne COx)  (tonne COz)
BEREHRY BRI g BE® e mE®
(B5COz) (BiCOz) (BCOz) (BCOz)

Scope 2: Energy indirect N3 Electricity purchased 562.87 281.44 689.09 34455

HE : AR SNEED

Notes: Kisz -

() COze (tonne) is a measurement unit based on the greenhouse effect caused (h —&EtmEsE () B —EUEE _SbkF
by one tonne of carbon dioxide, and used to measure and compare the EENRENEAERNEESEMN UEEK
greenhouse effect caused by emissions of different GHGs such as carbon LEBRAEIRERBEIE_—ALH (CO) ~ Bl
dioxide (COz), methane (CH+) and nitrous oxide (N20). (CHs) ~|EER (NO) EHMFTEERNRE

R

) Density is the average of the total emissions divided by the number of (2) BERBUEBIRERUEIEMAGIINHMET
principal offices. BB -

(3) GHG emissions is calculated by making reference to “China regional power 3) RERRNESEPREBRIEIE MR
grid baseline emission factor’” published by the Ministry of Ecology and EE s EREEGRBERMATF)NGES %

Environment of China.

During the Reporting Period, electricity purchased represents the major BEHN IEEHEETREHERMNETER
source of the GHG emissions. The electricity consumed is sourced from EOoHEENE RS EEEFREMHIZH -BE
the national power grid in relevant regions. During the Reporting Period, B e EREN R T R i St FEE R
the GHG emissions from the energy indirect reduced by approximately DE18% BRERIN R MIFEIRIN—Z2 5B MR
18% as compared with the previous year because of a series of effective DHE Z B 2 5SS BESGHR S BB RE K
ongoing emission mitigation measures we have adopted. For details, TR — o

please refer to the section headed “Environmental protection policies and

measures’ of the ESG Report.
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Waste

The waste generated by us is non-hazardous in nature, minimal in quantity
and mainly from day-to-day work activities, such as disposal of food
packaging, beverage cans and bottles, waste paper and office stationery.
Therefore, we did not collect the relevant data for the Reporting
Period, considering that the analysis result of such data and its impact is

insignificant as compared with other KPls.

Nevertheless, we have implemented various waste-reduction measures
to further reduce the waste generated from day-to-day work activities,
which are detailed in the section headed “Environmental protection

policies and measures” of the ESG Report.

Aspect A2: Use of Energy and Resources

During the Reporting Period, electricity was our major energy source,
which was used for general lighting at office, IT rooms and office
equipment such as air-conditioners, projectors, computers and printers.
During the Reporting Period, the total energy consumption was
approximately 685 MWh (2020: 832 MWh), the density calculated based
on the numbers of principal offices was approximately 343 MWh (2020:
approximately 416 MWh), representing an average monthly consumption
of approximately 57,104 kWh (2020: approximately 69,363 kWh). The
reasons for a decrease of approximately 8% as compared with the

previous year were explained above.

During the Reporting Period, general domestic water was our major
use of resource, which was used for office facilities such as washrooms
and tea rooms, and we have no issue in sourcing water. The sewage
generated has been properly discharged through the designated pipe
connected finally to the main pipe of the urban central sewage disposal
network. During the Reporting Period, we consumed approximately 4,547
tonnes of water (2020: approximately 6,384 tonnes) in total, the density
calculated based on the numbers of principal offices was approximately
2,274 tonnes of water (2020: approximately 3,192 tonnes), representing
an average monthly consumption of approximately 379 tonnes (2020:
approximately 532 tonnes), decreased by approximately 29% as
compared with the previous year, which reflected a series of effective
ongoing emission mitigation measures we have adopted were effective.
For details, please refer to the section headed “Environmental protection

policies and measures” of the ESG Report.
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In addition, the business of the Company does not involve production and

thus no packaging materials has been used.

For details of our energy and water use efficiency initiatives, please refer
to the section headed “Environmental protection policies and measures”

of the ESG Report.

Aspect A3:The Environment and Natural Resources

Given that the Group is principally engaged in the operation of online
credit card management platform, apart from the use of resources
described above, the Group's operation does not consume other natural
resources, nor does it have any significant impact on the environment.
As a result, the Group has very limited direct impact on the natural
environment. However, the Group is committed to environment
protection and has adopted a series of effective measures to mitigate the

negative impact on the environment and resources.

Environmental protection policies and measures

As a highly competitive comprehensive financial service company, we are
committed to do the best in fulfilling our environmental responsibility and

ensure the Company is in compliance with relevant laws as follows:

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Air Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Water Pollution

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes

Law of the People's Republic of China on Noise Pollution Prevention and
Control

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy Conservation
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wE

To achieve our environmental protection strategy, we regularly implement

the following measures in the course of our business operations:

0]

(i)

reminder slogans are posted on the bulletin boards and public
spaces in the Company to enhance the environmental awareness

among employees and visitors;

contracts are entered into with green plants service firms to
regularly maintain and replace the green plants placed at the
designated office areas, for the purpose of raising greening

awareness and beautify the environment; and

regularly update the Company's policies and procedures, and
incorporate the environmental protection rules and standards
into daily work procedures. For the purpose of saving energy and
resources and reducing GHG emissions, we encourage employees

to adopt the following practices at work:

(1) turn off electronic equipment not in use or when they leave

the office to save energy;

(2)  save water at washroom and tea room, and reduce the use

of tissue paper;

(3)  advocate green travel and use of carpooling for business

trips;

(4)  conduct regular check on electrical equipments to ensure

safety and operational efficiency;

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report

AN EHEEBREPERAITUTRIER U
BHRAEFIRMRE

@)

(iif)

ARABLAEWMRAHERENRMET
|Vit$$:u:| J’/(TEET:I}S’Z%%EIJER1$EDAH& )

BGERB AR R HE > EHEEM
EMEMAIETE B ANE B LIR
SHIEREERENER S &

EHEMARATMNBERMEZR  RKIRIE
RENRAMENMABETIFRE
EF‘°%%1F'ﬂ§§2%7]§ilhnmu"l:5’]11’ﬁﬁi
DUERIBIMER - BERRBDRERE
R

() ETEARMEMOETME
BB

ﬁb/\;

() TEFEMFKEELNBKKED
ERHRFA

3) BReRTRINHERFERD

4) THBREENXRE UBRRZEHM

fi
NN
)
S
N
M



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

(5)  make centralized purchase of office supplies for various
departments and shorten the distance for delivery to
reduce the indirect emissions from transportation and

packing materials;

(6)  reuse or recycle packaging materials such as plastics, paper

bags and cartons;

(7)  mitigate excessive printing by going paperless as much as
possible and maximize the use of electronic equipment for

internal meeting and internal communication; and

(8)  reuse printing paper where the requirements on personal

data protection are met.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had complied with all
relevant environmental laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company. The Company had not received any complaints from
any person or the relevant authorities (2020: Nil), and had not paid
or became liable to any penalties arising from any violation of relevant

environmental laws or regulations (2020: Nil).

Future targets

In response to China's targets of carbon peak by 2030 and carbon
neutrality by 2060, all employees of the Company have been pursuing the
spirit of energy conservation and environmental protection. Considering
that even though our business had kept a low level in terms of emissions,
energy consumption, water consumption and waste discharge, the
Company intends to follow the targets of the state, therefore, we will pay
close attention to the introduction of policies as well as the development
of industry, and continue to implement the above-mentioned carbon
reduction and environmental protection measures. With reference to
the consideration of the Board, the Company will take 2021 as the
benchmark year, and keep the emissions, the density of the emissions
of energy efficiency and water efficiency comparable to that of the
benchmark year. As for waste discharge, as it is of low significance to the

Company (as explained above), we have not set targets for it yet.
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Aspect A4: Climate Change

The Company understands that climate change will bring crisis to us.
The Company's business mainly rely on the operation of servers and
the devotion of the employees, while the acute risks of climate change,
such as typhoon and rainstorm, have significant impact on us, affecting
the safety of employees in commuting to and from the workplace and
the operation of servers. In response to these crises, the Company has
set up policies to arrange employees to be on duty safely, and also had
our servers placed in a safe indoor environment and regularly maintained,
to reduce the impact of acute extreme weather related events on the

Company.

OUR EMPLOYEE

Aspect Bl: Employment

Our workforce represents the most important asset to our operation,
which is also the cornerstone on which we could build up our sustainable

development. As such, it is of our top priority to ensure that all employees

could have a fair, harmonious, comfortable and safe working environment.
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We respect and protect the rights of employees. The employees of
the Company enjoy the protection under laws and the rights under
the regulations of the Company, which allows the employees to have
equal opportunities in employment, redesignations, salary adjustment,
promotion and training despite of their race, nationality and gender
The Company never tolerates any discriminatory acts in the working
environment. During the Reporting Period, the Company had complied
with all relevant employment laws and regulations that have a significant

impact, including but not limited to:

Labor Law of the People's Republic of China

Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China

Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China

Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of
Disabled Persons

Trade Union Law of the People's Republic of China

The Company has put in place a series of human resource policies
(including but not limited to Employee Manual), which comprised the
key systems and procedures relating to employee management such
as code of conduct, remuneration management system, working hours,
holiday management, disciplinary measures, attendance and promotion,
recruitment and dismissal management, internal redesignations,
information safety, equal opportunities and other employee benefits,
etc, and rules and regulations relating to occupational health, and has
explicitly communicated such guidelines to all employees. The Company
is committed to protecting the legal interests of employees and keeps on

improving employee benefits to enhance the employee loyalty.

Talent recruitment and promotion

We have the ability to attract, retain and motivate high-caliber talents. \We
attract and maintain a stable team of core employees through providing
a comfortable working environment, competitive salary and provision
of training and personal development opportunities according to the

position and development potential of the employees.
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Through implementing the recruitment and promotion policies, we
ensure that decisions on recruitment, remuneration and promotion are
made based on the personal capacity of the employees, while taking his/
her working experience, qualifications attained and professional skills into

consideration.

We strive to ensure that employees are reasonably remunerated and
properly motivated. The remuneration management is conducted
based on the position ranking system, which enables the position-
based ranking and rank-based salary. Our remuneration system mainly
comprises several aspects: determining remuneration at the time of
hiring, adjusting remuneration at the time of promotion/demotion and
conducting performance-based remuneration adjustment, etc. In order to
broaden the career development for the employees in the Company, the
Company adopts a centralized mode of “double ladder” development
route, namely professional rank route (route P) and managerial rank route
(route M). Rank promotion is made after taking various factors such as
work performance, professional skills, experience and behavior, etc. into
consideration. According to the comprehensive assessment scheme,
rank promotion assessment is made to each employee annually. Such
assessment activities aim to motivate employees to achieve their career

objectives and reach their full potential, thus resulting a win-win situation.

Our service quality relies on the quality of employees which in turn needs
ongoing update of their professional knowledge and skills. The employees'
training and development are discussed in the section headed “Aspect B3:

Development and Training” of the ESG Report.

Working hours

The Company adopts a flexi-time practice while staying in compliance
with the standard 8-hour working system. Our employees may, in
accordance with the relevant regulations, enjoy statutory holidays, annual
leave, marriage leave, sick leave, bereavement leave, maternity and parental
leave, and leave in lieu, thus, the rights of employees to take rest and

holiday are strictly ensured.
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Our workforce

As at the Reporting Period, the Company had a total of 303 full-time
employees, which covers Hangzhou and Beijing offices in major scope
of ESG, as well as the offices in Guangzhou, Shenzhen and Shanghai.
As these offices had less ESG issues, the scope of which only reflected
in the paragraphs relating to the employees under this section, and
did not included in the other sections of the report. Set out below
is the information of such employees by gender, age group, rank and
employment type:

RIF-HEREBRS

895877

BERSH AR HABI3BREILEHTS
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%

Gender 4§31
2020
2021
. Male B 1% ‘ Female 1%
Age Group fFH#2 8%
2020
2021

O <2 @ 2529 ) 30-39

%

4049 @ >s0

Rank and Employment Type B8 SE 4Rk Bl 5 {E (% £8 B¢

2020

2021

() Management BI2fE (@ Mid-level employee /B & T

() Junior employee #4R 8 T
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During the Reporting Period, there were in total of 156 (2020: 419)
employees left, with a total employee turnover rate ™D of 56%. The
number and percentage ™2 of resigned employees by gender and age

group are as follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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WEHARN IR 156 (2020 : 419) L ETERE > 8
TR EE =R G0 50y BERE B T 1w MBI E
RESENABEREDELE®WMT

Number  Percentage (%)
of resigned of resigned

employees employees

ETRBAY SIRBIEDLI

By Gender BETHRNSE
Male S

Female Z %

By Age Group HETFRBEDE
<25 <25

25-29 25-29

30-39 30-39

40-49 40-49

>50 >50

Notes:

(1): The total number of resigned employees divided by the average number of

employees at the beginning/end of the year.

(2): The number of resigned employees for this category divided by the average

number of employees for this category at the beginning/end of the year.

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

We are committed to providing employees with a comfortable and safe
working environment, maintaining and improving the employee welfare.
During the Reporting Period, the Company had complied with all relevant
laws and regulations regarding health and safety of its employees, including

but not limited to:

Labor Law of the People's Republic of China

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Production Safety

Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Response to Emergencies

Trade Union Law of the People's Republic of China
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Workplace safety

We have put in place the Circular on Relevant Regulations on Work
Environment Management and the Safe Office Environment Management
System in view of safety first and prevention of risk, and arranged a
person to be in charge of safety management at each of workplaces to
implement the system.The person who takes the main responsibility will
be the person who is responsible for production safety, as well as set up

an emergency response team.

As for workplace safety, we engaged third-party professional institution
to test and measure the environmental pollutants, which confirmed that
during the Reporting Period, the methanal, benzene and total volatile
organic compounds (TVOC) in the samples tested at each of our
workplaces comply with the requirements of GB50325-2010 regarding

Class Il civil building indicators.

Set out below are certain day-to-day measures taken by the Company

relating to workplace safety:

0) each department head provides regular safety education to the
department staff for the purpose of a satisfactory safety practice at

offices;

(i) the exit to passageway is kept unobstructed, unoccupied or
unblocked, parking or piling up of junk items on the fire escapes are

forbidden and safety warnings are posted at various areas;

(i) security personnel patrol the workplaces every day to avoid any

unauthorized entries;

(iv) regular inspection and maintenance are arranged for the
workplaces, building structures, fire control equipment and facilities

to avoid any potential safety hazards therein;

RIE- B RELSHRS
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IB1H

(vii)

(viii)

HEMRERHKRS

the regulations on the safe use of electricity are observed, the
electronic appliances are used without overloads and there is no
unauthorized wiring and connection of electric wires, so as to
ensure the personal safety of the person when using electronic
appliances. Electronic facilities are to be inspected after work,
and the electronic equipment, portable power banks and other
flammable and explosive hazardous objects are required to be

turned off at everyone's workplaces in a timely manner;

strict control is exercised over smoking to prohibit smoking in the

undesignated smoking areas at the workplaces;

purchase ergonomic chairs for the employees, which could protect

their spine and lumbar; and

massage chairs and fitness equipment are placed in the recreational

areas for the employees.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Company has been committed to

supporting the health management measures of the Chinese Center for

Disease Control and Prevention and strictly complied with the epidemic

prevention measures of parks where the Group's offices are located.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with the Law of

the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Treatment of Infections

Diseases, and in response to the national call and with the aim to give full

support to the collective prevention and control, the Company has taken

a series of prevention measures:

0]

(i)

a supervision and management team for epidemic prevention and
control work was set up with clear division of responsibility and

accountability;

the body temperature of employees was checked and recorded

twice a day;

employees are scheduled a different time slot for meals;
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(vii)

(viil)

(ix)
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the workplace was ventilated at least twice a day in the morning

and afternoon and was disinfected every two days;

visitors in-and-out registration and temperature measurement

were performed on a daily basis;

the protective disinfection supplies were ensured sufficient and the
list of lacked items were reported to the person in charge for a

timely supplement, so as to ensure sufficient supplies;

employees were required to wear masks. Disposable masks were
centrally disposed of in the Company's designated trash bins, and

repetitive protective supplies were centrally disinfected;

group activities and meetings were temporarily cancelled and
business trips and other events were reduced or cancelled as far
as possible. Employees were not arranged to travel to severely
affected epidemic areas. Voice, video and other conference call
meetings were advocated to reduce the multiplayer on-site

meetings; and

health education on prevention and treatment of infectious
diseases was carried out through Enterprise WeChat, video,
announcements, intranet and other multiple ways and channels,
epidemic prevention and hygiene was promoted, and the epidemic
information was simultaneously disclosed with the government,

allowing each employee to understand epidemic prevention clearly.

V)

(vii)

(viii)

()
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Welfare

Apart from the employee welfare stipulated in laws, we also provide
additional welfare to the employees for the purpose to improve

employee protection and maintain their physical and mental health.

In respect of employee protection, the Company provides the group
commercial supplementary medical, traffic accident and accident injury
insurances for current employees. In the unfortunate event of employees'
illness or work injury, the Company would help to cover the salary loss
and medical expenditure of the employees. In addition, the Company also

provides annual physical check-up for its employees.

As to employees’ physical and mental health, the Company offers meal
and travel subsidies for overtime work, arranges team travel activity every
year and organizes various sports and recreational activities on a regular

basis.

During the Reporting Period, we had no employee (2020: Nil) suffering
from work injury, no work day lost (2020: Nil) due to work-related
injuries, and no serious work-related injuries or fatalities (2020 and 2019:
Nil).

Aspect B3: Development and Training

We believe that the ongoing update of employees’ vocational knowledge
and skills is critical to the business development of the Company. To this
end, the Company has provided the employees with systematic training
and professional development to ensure that the employees could receive
training appropriate to their respective circumstances, so as to meet the

needs for continuous professional training by their respective vocations.

The Company always sticks to diversified business layout to provide
employees with the enriching and challenging work. We have built a
comprehensive training system and a dual-track development mechanism

for guiding the employees to discover more possibilities.
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The Company's training contents include corporate culture and

professionalism, anti-corruption, business knowhow, new employee

training, information security, and updates on the knowledge of laws

and regulations, etc., at least 19% ™' of our employees had received

training, with the minimum average training hours per trainee of 2.7

hours ™2 The training profiles of employees by gender and category

are shown in the following graph:

number

of employees

RIE- B RELSHRS

RAABNBIANBELELRBELE K
BS EBN#H -WEIERI-GEZE - ME
1%&%%%.;%&%#&3@ BRLI9%E) B THEZIE

BERIETRDFARINFH# A7 &
/J\B%’&EI‘I@E‘J&%E%'Jﬁiﬁﬁ@%%ﬂl‘l%iﬁﬁﬂ"F
BFT -

percentage
(%) of average training

employees  total training hours of each

trained  trained (Mot hours employee
S%8T
ZINET ZINET WREN SRR
A¥ B L @ iSE THRFE
(hours)  (hours) (New4)
(BF) () By) B0
By Gender BETHRNSE
Male B4 39 23% 550 14.1
Female gog S 19 14% 272 14.3
By Employee Category HETHEDE
Management BIRE 3 100% 20 6.7
Mid-level employee REET 6 24% 52 8.7
Junior employee FIRETL 49 18% 750 15.3
Notes: Vg
(1) Total number of employees trained divided by the average number of (): BEIRZIIABRUFENEENETIFEHDA
employees at the beginning/end of the year. o
(2):  Total training hours of employees divided by the average number of (2 BEIRZIFHEEUFENEENEIFEHIA

employees at the beginning/end of the year.

(3):  The number of employees trained for this category divided by the total

number of employees trained.

(4):  The training hours of employees for this category divided by the average

number of employees for this category at the beginning/end of the year.

o

(3): ZBEEIZINAHBRUETEZIIAZ-

4 BZEEBIXRIHHFUFVNERZBEEINF
BHAH-
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Aspect B4: Labor Standards

The Company places much importance on and strictly complies with all
applicable national laws and local regulations in the places of operation,
and prohibits any unethical business practices. The Company has put
in place stringent recruitment procedures which require all candidates
to provide, prior to being hired, their identity documents such as
identity card for checking by the administration and human resources
departments, so as to avoid the recruitment of any child labor and
other illegal labor. We prohibit any forms of forced labor to ensure the

employees could work on a voluntary and lawful basis.

The work schedule of the employee represents the reasonable work
arrangement in the context of the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, which ensures they could have sufficient rest and a proper work—
life balance and provide excellent service. The Company may arrange
overtime work as the circumstance demands, and provide compensation
in accordance with the Labor Law of the People’'s Republic of China and
other relevant labor laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, all
employees were at the age of |18 or over and were properly employed
and had complied with the relevant laws and regulations relating to
preventing child and forced labour. The Company had no material non-
compliance incidents related to employment of child and forced labor
(2020: Nil). The Company focuses on the implementation of preventive
measures at source, and is confident that the above-mentioned illegal
employment will not occur in the future. The Company will regularly
review the situation regarding employment of child and forced labor and
formulate relevant procedures as necessary to eliminate all possibilities of

illegal acts.
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OUR SERVICE

With our credit card management platform serving as the foundation
and entry point, we develop and operate a dynamic and self-reinforcing
ecosystem addressing a spectrum of users’ financial needs. We enable our
users to apply for credit cards that suit their profile through our credit
card technology services, which in turn help them to build their credit
record and achieve better credit management. For credit users, such as
users who consider taking extra credits to satisfy their ongoing financial
needs, they may obtain appropriate online loans through our online
platform. For investment users, they can also seek diversified investment
opportunities on our platform to enrich their wealth management

portfolio.

We have developed in-depth cooperation with several financial
institutions in the areas of data application, credit analytics and risk
profiling. Leveraging the highly valuable mobile traffic on our platform,
the Company's data analytics capabilities and robust risk management
capabilities, our platform keeps attracting third-party business partners

such as banks and external online consumer finance platforms, etc.

We will also continue to expand into new business sectors. Leveraging on
our Little Blue Book, corporate users can quickly identify and accurately
reach their customers, thus shortening their sales cycle and improving
sales efficiency. Individual users can also conduct convenient search for
the relevant information on registration, business dynamics and financing
activities of the domestic companies in the PRC to meet their needs for

such information in their daily life and work.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group has approximately 138 suppliers (2020: approximately |30)
from the PRC, which provide services including information technology
services, consultation services, professional services, short message
services and administration services. Our business and internal systems
rely on highly technical software and processes. Failures in our information
system could prevent us from offering services. Therefore, ensuring
the stable operation and continuous development of our information
system is of vital importance to us. In order to avoid the decline in
the overall performance and the increase in the breakdowns of the
information system caused by imperfect outsourcing service safeguard
systems, we have established the Management Measures on Technology
Service Outsourcing which stipulates the procedures for selecting service
providers for outsourcing information system technologies to ensure that
the suppliers are up to standard. Under the policy, quotations from more
than one supplier are required to be sought for comparisons to ensure
the fairness of supplier vetting. The Group strives to adhere to the policy
of engaging responsible outsourcers that minimize the total emission
of greenhouse gases, waste generated and resources consumed. Before
including a supplier into our list, we make a series of examination with the
qualifications, scale, performance, creditworthiness, management regularity
and other main aspects being evaluated to ensure they could provide
reliable and trustworthy products or services in compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC (such as anti-money laundering
and antiterrorist laws and regulations). We also adopt a dynamic
management approach in the process of service provision by suppliers,
and conduct daily performance evaluation and regular assessment of
outsourced personnel in order to ensure that the quality of products and
services that the Group purchases are up to standard. Suppliers who are
not up to standard for a prolonged period of time will be disqualified.
Suppliers are selected in accordance with the relevant management
measures of the Company on the principle of openness, impartialness and

fairness and by way of appropriate methods such as bidding, etc.
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Since the regulation on the Internet finance industry has been tightened
due to the impact of national policies, we have closely tracked policy
changes, raised the criteria of partners’ admission and proactively
reduced our business volume. In view of such new developments, we also
continuously enhance the technological and risk management capability
of the Company, so as to ensure the products and services we provided

could meet the demands of various stakeholders.

In addition, we are subject to strict regulation by National Internet Finance
Association of China. During the Reporting Period, we devoted a large
amount of time and resources to ensure the Company is fully compliant
with laws, regulations, rules and policies relating to the industry regulation.
Details of these laws and regulations are set out in the following
paragraphs. We had no significant violations during the Reporting Period
(2020: Nil), and our business had not recorded any product recall case

due to product quality issues.

Apart from the annual audit for annual report, we also have specific
audits on the key aspects such as clients' fund management, information
disclosure and operational compliance, etc., for the purpose of risk control

and compliance with regulatory requirements.
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Quality Assurance

The Company aspires to improve its brand reputation by ensuring the
quality of products and services. In order to minimize product liability risk,
the Company has established the “Product Quality Assurance Process”
to ensure that the products strictly adhere to internal quality standards. In
the event of product failure not caused by improper use, the Company
would recall the products and provide refund to customers. Moreover,
customers are offered with other value-added services, including product

warranty and after-sales services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no products sold or shipped

subject to recalls for safety or health reasons.

Marketing and promotional activities management

In order to reinforce management over the marketing and promotional
activities, we have been in strict compliance with various standards

regarding advertisement release and the following regulations:

Law of the People’s Republic of China against Unfair Competition

Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of China

Interim Measures for Administration of Internet Advertising

Guidance from the General Office of the State Council on Strengthening
Protection of Interests of Financial Consumers

Self-discipline Convention on Marketing and Promotion Activities of
Internet Financial Players (Trial)

Personal Information Protection Law of the People's Republic of China

Provisions on the Administration of Internet User Public Account
Information Services

Data Security Law of the People's Republic of China

Provisions on the Scope of Necessary Personal Information

for Common Types of Mobile Internet Applications
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We have also established the Control System for Marketing and

Promotional Activities to strengthen our product responsibility, details of

which are as below:

0]

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

the business department shall conduct marketing and promotional
activities in relation to only such business which is legally permitted
to operate, and shall ensure the content of such marketing and
promotion complied with the scope and content of the business

which is legally permitted to operate;

prior to conducting any marketing and promotional activities, the
business department shall evaluate the relationship between such
activities and the potential contractual obligations, work out proper
plans and well address the engagement between such activities and
the related work, so as to protect the legal interests of Internet

finance consumers;

the marketing and promotional activities shall be conducted
by the business department in a moderate manner, the data
and information quoted should be true and accurate, and false
or misleading contents shall not be allowed when conducting

promotional activities; and

in case of any marketing and promotional activity in cooperation
with a third party, contract shall be entered into in accordance with
laws to specify the responsibilities of both parties in respect of
design, production, advertising and other related work. In addition,
we shall urge and supervise the third party to fulfill its contractual
obligations, and ensure an effective implementation of the control

system for marketing and promotional activities.
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Handling of complaints

We take all complaints and suggestions seriously and take them as an
important process to continuously improve our service quality. We have
developed the Relevant System in Relation to the Handling of Customer
Complaints to establish a sound customer service system for complaints
to receive all customer complaints, advice and suggestions from public
sentiment, regulatory authorities and media organizations. The Company
has in place a dedicated department to collect these information and
arrange, based on the subject of complaints, appropriate personnel to
actively follow up and deal with the complaints. We fully cooperate with
any regulatory authority on any investigation, with a view to providing the

best services.

During the Reporting Period, a total of approximately 380 complaints
through external websites and government authorities have been handled
by us in relation to repayment of loans. The response rate of these
complaints reached 100% (2020: 100%), and the response time was the
first return visit no more than 24 hours upon the receipt of the complaint.
During the Reporting Period, the resolution rate of the complaints

reaching approximately 97.4% (2020: 90%).
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Protection of intellectual property rights

In recent years, the nation has attached great importance to intellectual
property protection and supported enterprises to maintain their own
legal interests. In addition to our own efforts, we also made active
utilization of the relevant national policies and regulations to protect the
intellectual property of our brands, thus to continually improve our brand
competitiveness which in turn promised better services for users. The

relevant regulations that we complied are as follows:

Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China

Patent Law of the People's Republic of China

Regulation for the Implementation of the Trademark Law

of the People's Republic of China

Trademarks are important intangible assets of the Company. For
enhancing trademark management, we have established the Management
System for Trademarks, and the Intellectual Property Management Policy
to regulate the naming, application and use of trademarks, and protect
the trademark proprietary rights of the Company and third parties. The
trademarks would be centrally managed by the legal department after
the application of registration thereof, which would serve as the basis for
the use of trademarks. Without written authorization of the Company, no
third party is permitted to use such trademarks on any similar products
of the Company or within the scope of such registration. With regard
to the third parties authorized by the Company to use our registered
trademarks, the relevant business departments and the legal department
would exercise necessary supervision and regularly review their use of

such trademarks.

In addition to the duties on trademark supervision performed by the
legal department, our employees will also notify, through the relevant
communication channels and mechanisms, to the legal department any
infringement on the Company's trademarks by any third parties. The
infringement, once verified through investigation, would be submitted
to the decision-making department, the legal department may decide
whether to report the infringement to the administration agencies for
industry and commerce or initiate a lawsuit with the People's Court,
for the purpose to stop and crack down such trademark infringement

behavior.
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Protection of personal information

In order to improve the awareness of information security prevention
of employees and protect corporate information security, the Company
formulated 51 Credit Card Information Security General Policy and
Information Security Management System in accordance with the
national laws and regulations and its security management requirements.
The system follows the principles of “information security is everyone’s
responsibility’” and “who uses who is responsible”. All employees
should comply with the said systems, actively learn information security
knowledge, improve security prevention awareness and operational skills,
and jointly protect and maintain the Company's information security to

ensure the normal operation of the Company's various businesses.

Our credit management tool, 5| Credit Card Manager App, is the
cornerstone for the development of our financial services ecosystem.
We provide customers with our credit management service by obtaining
the credit card statements of our users primarily from the users email
accounts based on the users’ authorization or from the users' import. The
day-to-day operation of the credit card management platform involves
processing and storing a large amount of personal information of users,
which includes not only the basic personal information (including mobile
phone number or account information of social media) provided to us
at user registration, but also the credit card transaction records from
different banks, consumption history records for different occasions, and
repayment data through users' life cycles. Our brand reputation is critical
to our business and competitiveness. Therefore, it is a critical task for us to
ensure the security of personal information on our platforms and comply
with the relevant laws and regulations relating to Internet security and

privacy protection as well as the following regulations:
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Personal Information Protection Law of the People's Republic of China

Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China

Data Security Law of the People's Republic of China

Measures for Cybersecurity Review and its accompanying regulations

Several Provisions on Regulating the Market Order of Internet
Information Services

Decision on Strengthening Network Information Protection by the
Standing Committee of the National People’s Congress

Provisions on Protection of Personal Information of Telecommunication
and Internet Users

Criminal Law of the People's Republic of China and the relevant
amendments

Information Technology — Personal Information Security Specification

Interpretations of the Supreme People’'s Court and the Supreme People’s
Procuratorate on Several Issues Concerning the Application of Law
in the Handling of Criminal Cases Involving Infringement of Citizens'
Personal Information

Provisions on the Scope of Necessary Personal Information

for Common Types of Mobile Internet Applications

In order to keep alert for attacks from external or internal sources, we
have implemented the Information Security Management System, setting
out a series of the following measures to protect privacy and information

security, which are detailed as below:

0) encryption and privacy protection. Our platform employs
sophisticated Internet technology to effect multiple authentication
and encryption for data such as all the account information and
capital information, which shall not be disclosed without the
consent of our customers and the authorizations by relevant laws

and regulations;

(i) security technology support. We apply multi-layer firewall to
monitor the data security and our intrusion detection system
would make real-time feedback to prevent any intrusion and hence

ensure the information security;

(i) internal confidential measures. At the time of employment, the
human resource department have arranged the signing of formal
labor contract and confidentiality agreement with all employees.
The confidentiality agreement clearly provides for, among others,
the content subject to confidentiality and the validity term of the

agreement, etc,;
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external access monitoring. When a third party stays in the
Company for business purpose, the relevant department of
the Company shall be responsible for the management of such
third party and arrange due registration with the administrative
department. Such third party shall also sign a confidentiality
agreement with the Company to inform the third party of the
prohibited behavior. We have strict regulations on the activities,
limits of authority, use of resources of such third party at the
Company. Without prior approval, no confidential information shall
be disclosed to any person. It is strictly prohibited to copy, spread
or disclose, without our authorization, any confidential information

such as customer's identity and transaction records; and

irregular safety risk assessments. We hire external consultants from
time to time to conduct professional assessments on the potential
risks of network and personal information security, and make timely

rectifications.

In addition, we plan to enhance our technology and risk management

infrastructure, in particular for big data analysis and artificial intelligence

technology with the focus on anti-fraud, deep learning in image analysis,

behavior analysis, relationship mapping, automatic user interaction and

intelligent user operation. Specifically, investment in artificial intelligence

and big data will enable us, among others, to:

0]

0!

(ii)

further develop facial recognition and voice recognition system to

minimize the risks of fraud;
increase the level of automation and precision of our interactive
Help Center that serves as a starting point for any question our

users may have; and

optimize our risk pricing capabilities in data processing and analysis.
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Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Company has complied with all relevant
laws and regulations relating to prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Drug Trafficking
(Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance (Cap. 405 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Organized and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China and Anti-
Money Laundering Law of the People's Republic of China.

In order to regulate the smooth development of various anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing of the Company, to clarify the
focus and division of responsibilities of anti-money laundering and anti—
terrorist financing, and to strengthen the supervision and management
requirements, the Company has developed the Management System
on Anti-corruption and Anti-terrorist Financing to monitor and report
any suspected money laundering activities in compliance with the
requirements of the Anti-money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic
of China, the Interim Measures for the Administration of the Business
Activities of Online Lending Information Intermediary Institutions and the
Measures for the Administration of Combating Money Laundering and
Financing of Terrorism by Providers of Internet Financial Services (Trial).

The anti-money laundering procedures include:

0) the capital management department took the lead in anti-money
laundering and anti-terrorist financing management, was responsible
for the process, design and implementation of customers’ identity
verification, established a monitoring and reporting system for anti-
money laundering and anti-terrorist financing, and issued relevant

reports for large-value transactions and suspicious transactions;

(i) performing comprehensive analysis and assessment on the money-

laundering risks of loan applicants;

(i) the technology research and development center was responsible

for maintaining customer data and transaction records;
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(iv) the internal control department was responsible for the (v, HRZEHaFEARFRNEREEN R
supervision, inspection and publicity of the Company's internal anti- HRE TENEE RERES;, &

money laundering and anti-terrorist financing; and

Vv the human resources department was responsible for organizing v) BANBRBSSHEMREENIEI-
p p

anti-money laundering training.

Bribery and any form of corruption behavior are forbidden by the RAFBEFEENEAELAERITR - EME
Company. We have prepared procedures to comply with the following BIERFUMSEREINEROT

regulations:

Provisional Rules on Prohibition of Business Bribery Behavior (RANZIEEERRITANETHRE)
Anti-Monopoly Law of the People’s Republic of China (FhEE N RHEME & ZEETE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China Against Unfair Competition (RFEARENBERTEERFE)

Criminal Law of the People's Republic of China (FhEE AR HMEMIED

( N\ ( N\ ( )
Information Collection Investigation Case Handling
SR > UEEE > EY
\, Z \ Z \ Z
( ) ( N\ )
* Receive reporting » Establish a special e Issue a handling opinion
information investigation team to based on investigation
o INEIRBER verify and issue an results and follow the
investigation report opinion after approval
c M FEBE/NEZ - HEFEER TAR
BEB HERAERSE ERR KEHEBE
BiT
\_ J . /. J
We have established the Anti-corruption Administration Rules which BEMEII(REHREETE)  TEHERIT
define corruption behavior, and set rewards to encourage reporting and RO RERBUREBRERTREHRBRET K
provide reporting channels. We would take severe disciplinary action PMEREREHRRITANEITURBENE
against any staff conducting corruption. Hil
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Whistleblowing Mechanism

The Company has set out a reporting and investigative mechanism
to encourage employees and those who deal with the Company
(e.g., customers and suppliers) to voice concerns, in confidence and
anonymity about improprieties in matter related to the Company. The
Company intends to protect the whistle-blower from common concerns
such as confidentiality and potential retaliation. Whistle-blowers may
report verbally or in writing to the relevant department or the senior
management of the Company regarding the suspected misconduct with
supporting evidence. The management will then investigate the suspected
illegal behaviour. Any employees, knowingly or irresponsibly making false

allegations or malicious allegations, will face disciplinary actions.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had no corruption or bribery
cases (2020: Nil). The Company arranged anti-corruption training for all
Directors, including introduction of anti-corruption laws and regulations,
and the roles and responsibilities of Directors to enhance their alertness
to corruption, conflict of interests and integrity issues. Each of the
Directors has a responsibility to protect the reputation of the Company
by demonstrating honesty and integrity via interaction with its customers,

business partners and each other.

OUR COMMUNITY

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Company endeavors to shoulder more social responsibility by active
participation in public welfare activities, so as to give positive feedback to
the users and society for their caring and supports. Meanwhile, we also
wish increasing number of enterprises and users would be influenced by
our efforts to care about children in remote rural area, promoting healthy

and happy life for them.
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Set out below are some of our contributions and programmes in respect

of community investment during the Reporting Period:
Poverty alleviation and assistance for children and teenagers

The Company and some of its employees keep long-term focus on the
learning issues for children living in poverty and provide appropriate
assistance for solving their fundamental schooling problems through
donations of tuition and miscellaneous fees. In August 2021, Zhenniu
Information, the subsidiary of the Company, had made a donation of
approximately RMBI 1,000 to Zhejiang DreamCome-True Fund* GHi7 L&
B EZEEE)to support the charity's mission of helping the poor
and needy, caring for the healthy growth of teenagers and children and

fulfilling their dreams.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

_E
pwc

To the Shareholders of 51 Credit Card Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of 51 Credit Card Inc. (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 142 to 304, which comprise:

. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year then
ended,

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include significant

accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(“ISAs™). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
(“IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

. Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable
. Measurement of expected credit losses

. Impairment assessment of payment licence
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
MBEZEE
Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable (“QAF payable”)

WamkEMEERES ((RRYEERESR)) B2

Refer to Notes 5 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

FESRREMBIIRERM E K24

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had recognized revenue
of credit facilitation and service fee of approximately RMB237 million. As at
31 December 2021, the amount of QAF payable amounted to approximately
RMB60 million.

HE021F12A3HIEFE SEEEHRIEEREMRHBERDA
ARB27EE T -R2021F 12831 B BN EERITNZHEANAR
KeoE BT

The total proceeds from borrowers generally includes the services fees for
facilitating loan origination and for providing ongoing monthly services, and
contribution to the QAF payable, which provides a protection mechanism to

investors of the loans.

RERARIINRRIBE—REERMERE B RERTES B RFH
RHE UAKHENEERIEZNHE BERETAXFTERNRE

EIRHIRER S o

Of the total proceeds from borrowers, the portion meeting the definition of
a financial guarantee is first allocated to the QAF payable at fair value, and
the remaining amount is then allocated to credit facilitation and service fee.
The initial recognition of QAF payable is based on the determination of the
estimated loss rate of the financial guarantee.

RERARBNE@RET  FEVBEREENBDBLLANEE
PEERMNEERETS RRENIRECEERSRRBE - WIEFEDE
NHEERBEDKRHEMFERIGESHERTRE -

WAL R S
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAENERNARERREEREE

Our procedures in relation to recognition of revenue and
QAF payable included:

TP R N EERETEDETHNREF8E -

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
assessment process of recognition of revenue and
QAF payable, and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity and subjectivity.
EMTHREEEEIN S RKEMNEERET ZTES
o REE RGN TEEEREEREMER RR
=BT NEHIEREEL  TETERRER
EIEH AR

We made enquires of management and inspected supporting
documents to evaluate the key controls in respect of
recognition of revenue and QAF payable, including the
management's review and approval process over the
determination of estimated loss rate of the financial
guarantee.
RAREERFHEAWREEZRAM LI EE
Wi kRN EERESRINREET SEEERE
HEEVBERNGFBAXNEMRERS -

For the key underlying systems used for processing
transactions in relation to credit facilitation and service
fee as well as QAF payable, we tested the general control
environment and automated controls of the information
technology system. We tested the interface between the
operating and financial systems.
HIRARERLEEREARFEURBAEERE
TRAXZNEREREAZS RN TEERMAR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter

MBEZEE

Recognition of revenue and quality assurance fund payable (“QAF payable”)
(Cont'd)

WaERkEMEERES ((RRYEERES)) B2 (@)

We identified the recognition of revenue and QAF payable as a key audit matter
taking into consideration of i) the recognition of revenue and QAF payable
relies on the Group's self-developed [T systems which process a large volume
of revenue transactions and transfer the operational data for financial reporting
process; i) the magnitude of the credit facilitation and service fee and QAF
payable recognized; iii) the significant judgements applied by management in the
recognition of revenue and QAF payable; and iv) the inherent risk in relation to
the recognition of revenue and QAF payable is considered significant.
ZERIERWGERENEERESKRE S£EEBEEIRENEEREK
A ZAMBEEAENRERZ UK EEHEESANYBRER
BINEERAKBRBEURBNEERBTNEZN ;iNEEETR
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HMREZEE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BAENERNAREREERER

We tested, on a sample basis, revenue transactions by
checking the cash receipts/payments, reviewing the underlying
contracts, identifying the key terms and attributes from the
contracts, obtaining the underlying data from the system used
in the transaction processes, and recalculating the revenue
amount.
HMPBEREREWR R BEHEMER EE
ERTHEARGRRER EXZREPAERNR
MERBRBBEREMAEWE ST MRS Tl

ST E

We obtained the management's calculation of the estimated
loss rate and tested, on a sample basis, the major underlying
data. And we further tested the mathematical accuracy of the
estimated loss rate.

RMERT EEBHGEHBRARNHE Wik
TEENEBEE - HAE-D RS T HFHRERXN
B AR -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the Group's
recognition of revenue and QAF payable was supported by
the available evidence.

ERETHRER RS EEENNaKENE
ERBTHEICESEEN RS-



Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
MBEZEE
Measurement of expected credit losses

TS RIRKREE

Refer to Notes 4.1.2, 12, 23, 24, 25, 26 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.
BE2RGRE M BRARMIEES12 1232322425 26270

As at 31 December 2021, the Group's gross loans to customers and contract
assets amounted to approximately RMB44 | million and approximately RMB695
million, and a loss allowance of approximately RMB282 million and approximately
RMB609 million was recognized, respectively; the exposure of quality assurance
fund receivable (“QAF receivable") amounting to approximately RMBé4 million
and the loss allowance of QAF receivable and QAF payable amounting to
approximately RMB36 million and RMB60 million, respectively was recognized.
2021512831 BEEEEFRERNRERGNEEDNSNAR
K14 BB TROAREOSBE T EAGEEEBENARKEET
EROARBBEETT ; BEERES (BRESRET)) BMORY
ARB4BETT MEREERESRENESRIETHEIBERER
DRMAREIARETRAREOBRT

WAL R S

HMREZEE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAENERNARERREEREE

Our audit procedures in relation to measurement of ECL
for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF receivable and
payable included:

RPMERER - NEE BRREERIZREN
HERITNRBERBAABETHNEZEFE
&

We obtained an understanding of the management’s
assessment process of measurement of expected
credit losses, and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity and subjectivity.

A THREERHARERBAFEZNGER I
BmBEEAFHNIREEEEREMES RREZ
K MEHME R TN STE T ERRERBAE
B R

We understood, evaluated and tested the internal controls
related to ECL for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF
receivable and payable, primarily including the review and
approval of portfolio segmentation, parameters estimation,
criteria for determining whether or not there is a significant
increase in credit risk (“SICR"), or credit-impaired and
economic indicators for forward-looking scenarios.
BATHR TR TRERER SHNEE B
BEREFETRENESREBTHNRERBREEN
WEMES TECREREESHD  BHMAEF BT
REFAECRARREEN (ERAREBZEEM)
80 2 8 4R E R IR 2E Ko Al BE 0 A R A YA B F5 1R AY
BRI AL -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
MBEZEE
Measurement of expected credit losses (Cont'd)

TS RIRKETE (@)

The Group assesses whether the credit risk of loans to customers, contract
assets, QAF receivable and payable have increased significantly since their
initial recognition, and apply an impairment model to calculate their expected
credit losses (“ECL"). In assessing the ECL, management use the risk parameter
modelling approach that incorporates various parameters, including the portfolio
segmentation, parameters estimation, criteria for determining whether or not
there is a SICR, or credit-impaired and economic indicators for forward-looking
scenarios.

BEEEMGERER aNEE BREEBRESREMNEERESH
ERRBRBEND EDUREEAEEM LRARERL T EHTER
EREX (FRREREXR) AL BRAEREREK EEECARR
2B L ZHZEERE2H BEREEGMD 24 &

Tt EGHRRBBELENFXEEEERAENEERBRAES
B AR
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BAENERNAREREERER

We reviewed the modelling methodologies for ECL
measurement, and assessed the reasonableness, based on
our industry knowledge with reference to the industry
benchmarks, of the portfolio segmentation and key
parameters estimation. We examined the calculation for
model measurement on a sample basis, to test whether
or not the measurement models reflect the modelling
methodologies documented by the management.

BMBER T BRERBERAENEED E WERTT
ENHKRSETEREFNGTREASHAD REHES
BESNEEE - RAWMERE T REAENFHE
DA SRR E KT BRECHRMERD &

We selected sample of loans, to assess the appropriateness
of management'’s identification of SICR, defaults and credit-
impaired loans.
HFPEMEREE U EEERHERARRERE
En BB EEERRENEMNESE -

For forward-looking measurement, we reviewed the
management's model analysis of their selection of economic
indicators, economic scenarios and weightings employed,
assessed the reasonableness of the prediction of economic
indicators and reviewed sensitivity analysis of economic
indicators performed by management.

HRAEMESE RMNERTEEERESCERER
KEBRREENBREDN L TEEERBEA
SEM - Wins T EIRE R/ KE SRS



Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
MBEZEE
Measurement of expected credit losses (Cont'd)

TS RIRKETE (@)

We identified the measurement of ECL as a key audit matter due to i) the
magnitude of the loss allowance for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF
receivable and payable; i) complex calculation models, significant judgement and
assumptions used by management in determining the ECL, and iii) the inherent
risk in relation to the measurement of expected credit losses is considered
significant.

RFREMERBRANFEREAMRBRELEZER RER)ZTRER
BNEE -BREEFRESREMNEERIESNBREBNEEZN ;i)
EEETRERRERERAFERANEMABTEE EXAERRR ;
KinEEERBERGEAMNERRBED/BEBEK-

WAL R S

HREZEE (B

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAENERNARERREEREE

We examined major data inputs to the ECL models
on selected samples, including historical data and data
at the measurement date, to assess their accuracy and
completeness.
HZPIRETEERLNRACEHBREEN T 2R
BWA BEELEBERNFEENNEE  UFFEE
R TR

Based on the procedures performed, in the context of the
inherent uncertainties associated with measurement of ECL
for loans to customers, contract assets, QAF receivable and
payable, we found the models, key parameters, significant
judgement and assumptions adopted by management were
supported by the available evidence.

BERETHNER TRFABEFER aNEE KBIK
BERITKEMNEERIETNARERBEANES
FHREN RMFTREEERENEE - RARE2E-&E
KA RR B BHEBEA T
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
MBEZEE

Impairment assessment of payment licence

X AThERR IR BT (G

Refer to Notes 2.7, 3.7, I3 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements.
BH2REAMBIRRM 2737 13190

As at 31 December 2021, the net carrying amount of licence was approximately
RMB310 million, after netting off impairment charged of the profit and loss
was approximately RMB189 million. In 2021, the amount of licence impairment
charged to the profit and loss was approximately RMB 149 million.

F2021 12331 B SRSt AR 2 BERIARKEIOEETE » i
RAEREFESNAREIIOEET 120215 st A BT 2 BIREE
ZEBH/HIAREI9BRT

Management is required to perform impairment assessment of intangible assets
with indefinite life (e.g. payment licence) annually or more frequently if there is
an impairment indicator. The carrying values of the Core Unit, a cash-generating
unit ("CGU") of the Group containing payment licence are compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less
costs of disposal (“FVLCD").

EEEASFHERFHNETEE BT ETREN G
MREFEAENRUBEEREMETREN G SEERNEIE
HERNREEEEN ((REEEEN) AROEM HIREEHET
WEEEFLER JREIEEREAEBEEAAABERIERE (T2
AEBERHERFTINRSE -
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HMREZEE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BAENERNAREREERER

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
payment licence included:

RAF AR R ETEETHNREF 8

We obtained an understanding of the management'’s
assessment process of impairment assessment of payment
licence, and assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity and subjectivity.

BT HREEBHMRRBENEZFEBRE I
mBEEAFHNIREEEEREMES RREZ
K MEHME R EBM > 5T T ERRERBAE
BRK-

We understood and tested management's process and
controls in respect of the impairment assessment, including
the review of the implementation of impairment standards
and the determination of the key assumptions.
HZATRLAST EEEARRET GRERRIE
fl BEERAEEINNERBER KEREROE
TEo

We evaluated management's identification of CGU for which
the payment licence belongs and the composition of the
assets and liabilities attributed to the CGU and assessed the
FVLCD and value-in-use calculation methodology used by
management.

BTG T EEEN MR RrRE IR E L BN
HARREEEEBUEEN QGOSN WTETE
EEMEANAABERLEREAREREEHER
o

We assessed the competency, capabilities and objectivity of
the external valuation experts engaged by management.
BTG TEEEZRNIINEMEEERNER H
E=S

We assessed the validity, comparability of recent transaction
cases referenced by management and significant changes and
event during the transaction date and the year end date.
RMHE T EERERS| BERR S ZARA NN
EEMURIERZ BEFERNAAERSEEREER
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Cont'd)

Key Audit Matter
MBEZEE
Impairment assessment of payment licence (Cont'd)

X (TR ET G ()

Management engaged external valuation experts to assist in performing
impairment assessment. The recoverable amounts of the Core Unit have
been determined based on the higher amount of FVLCD and value-in-use
calculation. Preparation of FVLCD calculation include fair value and cost of
disposal, significant assumptions involved by determing the fair value. Fair value
were supported by recent comparable transaction cases which include the
use of key assumptions including business comparability, significant changes and
event from transaction date to the year end date etc. Preparation of the value-
in-use calculation supported by cash flow projections. Significant judgements
and estimations were involved in the calculation which include use of key
assumptions including annual revenue growth rate, operating profit margin and
pre-tax discount rate etc.
EEELZEIIBEETRPENET IR AR BTG o 0B ALY
JREEHRERBAAEERLENFLEREEHENRSEE
EomEAABEALERSSHEERANBERARENE  URIRE
RABENEARR ANEBEERASEEGILEARZHEER
EARGTLHEREPRBEIVUTLELRZEN -GREBEEFEER
RERERA FAERIRERHEMMGE  AEEAEFERDIER
R BEFBERGRATERRERARRR -

We identified the impairment assessment of payment licence as a key audit
matter due to the magnitude of the carrying amounts of payment licence and
the complexity of the assessments which involve significant judgements and
assumptions, and the inherent risk in relation to the impairment assessment of
payment licence is considered significant.

HAIR MR RO EN GEESEREZER AN IER
IREEER MTEMEEN  HOP RERFIE KRR > R ESZ IR
REMLERNERRERDSBEK

WAL R S

HMREZEE (&

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRAENERNARERREEREE

We assessed the appropriateness of the valuation models,
the assumption of pre-tax discount rate and the accuracy of
mathematical calculation applied in the valuation models.
RAOFETHERENEEE  FRATRIRRNRE
R (B A R FE R S st B R ZERE 1L o

We assessed the key assumptions adopted (including
annual revenue growth rates and operating profit margin)
by agreeing to the approved financial forecast and budgets
taking into consideration of market trends and our industry
knowledge to assess the effectiveness of management's
estimation process, and comparing actual results for the year
against the prior year's forecast.

HZABERMRER CREFEREEREKREET
B BRBHBEETHEZRAMANTENHN
MHERAKRBEZYE LEMEEREETERENEN
Mo MR B R AR E—FRVTRRIETTEEER

Based on the procedures performed, we found the recent
comparable transaction cases referenced by management
and models and assumptions adopted by management in
the impairment assessment were supported by the available
evidence.

ERETHNER RABSEEBETRENETSIA
B HARTLE R B R A R R AR E AR R EE R 1FE
BRI Fr e
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BB ER S

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the annual
report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In" connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We

have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED

WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes
our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error; as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group's internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

WAL R S
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BB ER S

AUDI
CON

TOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or; if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or

conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group

audit. VWWe remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have

compli

ed with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Cont'd)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current year and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be

expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Jane Kong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 30 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

AT HEBAR

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BENA3BALEEE

2021 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
f s ARBFT  ARNTR
Credit facilitation and service fee EERGRERHE 5 237,411 95427
Payment service fee L REE 78,560 44976
Credit card technology service fee ERAFRRERBE 39,902 45,829
SaaS service fee SaaSAR TS & 32,716 29,850
Other revenue Hhk 6 51,509 58,227
Total revenue W 4azE 440,098 274,309
Origination and servicing expenses R R AR TR 2 8 (265,232) (308,951)
General and administrative expenses — M RAITHAZ 8 (1o1,110) (140,576)
Research and development expenses g 8 (50,188) (70,032)
Sales and marketing expenses HEREHMAS 8 (53,429) (60,923)
Expected credit loss TEERE AL 12 (15,398) (665,465)
Other losses, net HihEE3EE 13 (154,042) (466,799)
Total operating expenses Sy EE (639,399) (1,712,746)
Operating loss RS g8 (199,301) (1,438,437)
Share of net loss of associates accounted DL AR A AR
for using equity method /NI = bS] 20 (2,121) (5,751)
Fair value (loss)/gain of financial liabilities BARBEESABREN
at fair value through profit or loss THEBRANEE
(§538) /I (1,961) 17,000
Finance expenses, net MR R 14 (7,525) (3418)
Loss before income tax PRERBIRAIESIE (210,908) (1,430,606)
Income tax expense FriSiRR 2 I5 (49,793) (285,800)
Loss for the year FEEE (260,701) (1,716,406)
Loss for the year attributable to: UTEERGEERS :
— Owners of the Company — A RBEBA (233,687) (1,699,071)
— Non-controlling interests — IR e (27,014) (17,335)
(260,701) (1,716,406)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

MEERHEBRR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BENA33BALEEE

2021 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
M 5E AR®TT ARETT
Other comprehensive loss Hith 2 mEEs1E
Items that may not be reclassified to profit or loss 1B E# I E 8m H)EH
Change in fair value attributable to change in the A REBEFT AB@
credit risk of other financial liability designated at ~ EfiEft&EEHARERN
fair value through profit or loss BEERNA R BESS) (1,777) -
Currency translation differences S E =LA 3,425 (14,647)
Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax ~FE R HEE5IE4E%E > {NFRIRIE (259,053) (1,731,053)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to: UTFEERGEEEIEEEE
— Owners of the Company . VNCIE 2PN (235,243) (1,708,725)
— Non-controlling interests —JEIE R T (23,810) (22,328)
(259,053) (1,731,053)
Loss per share attributable to owners of TRATEE AELEREE
the Company
— basic and diluted —BEARRI#E
(expressed in RMB per share): (GRIUN BB -
Loss for the year — basic FREE-ER 16 (0.19) (1.56)
Loss for the year — diluted FREE—EE 16 (0.19) (1.56)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive loss should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

ZERTIR A EL T — G F 3 o
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBKRR

As at 31 December 2021
120214128318

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

M &£ ARBTT AREBFT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERENE E
Property and equipment, net MERSETFER 17 104,732 121,937
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 18 5,392 6,373
Intangible assets EELEE |9 349,140 501,137
Investments accounted for using equity method FRAEDEARNEE 20 44,161 32,099
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AR BEGTABZNEHEE 21 83,780 100,693
Deferred income tax assets IRIEFTISIMEE 22 8,632 101,745
Prepayments and other receivables FE( I8 R E At E U R IE 23 292 392
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 596,129 864,376
Current assets MENEE
Quality assurance fund receivable EWEERES 24 28,797 22,190
Contract assets BNEE 25 86,519 35,487
Trade receivables = E 26 19,163 [1,935
Prepayments and other receivables FE T I8 K ELAt FE U k18 23 131,573 132,128
Loans to customers, net BEREMEEE 27 158,498 171,203
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss AR BEGTABGZNEREE 2| 295 -
Restricted cash ZIRGIRE 28(b) 225,092 221,735
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 28(a) 313,148 412,684
Total current assets BB EHAE 963,085 [,007,362
Total assets BEMRE 1,559,214 1,871,738
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FEFIARE

As at 31 December 2021
120215128318

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020

Note RMB’000 RMB'000

M EE AR%T AREEF T
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmkaE
Equity R
Share capital f& s 29 90 90
Share premium e 1n = E 29 6,152,799 6,136,837
Shares held for employee incentive schemes F1E R BB 21K G 29 (10) (rn
Reserves (G 30 (32,485) (45,843)
Accumulated losses Ktk 18 (5,355,147) (5,121,460)
Non-controlling interests FFIERR (6,501) 11,973
Total equity R AREE 758,746 981,586
Liabilities aE
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMMER 32 20,540 27,483
Lease liabilities HE&a®R 18 1,051 1,828
Deferred income tax liabilities IRIEPRER AR 22 77,550 119,434
Total non-current liabilities ERSEFELELE 99,141 148,745
Current liabilities mENaE
Quality assurance fund payable FENEEREE 24 59,681 53,867
Payable to platform customers FENFEEERIE 79,467 129,653
Contract liabilities EXEAE 25 16,481 17,214
Bank and other borrowings RITRHEMER 32 171,943 171,563
Lease liabilities HEAaHE 18 3,551 2,988
Trade and other payables 85 REMENIE 33 318,169 316,338
Income tax payable FE(T PRISHR 927 2,414
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss &2 A BB A BRI EREE 34 51,108 47,370
Total current liabilities mEhEEELE 701,327 741,407
Total liabilities BB 800,468 890,152
Total equity and liabilities EEmkaFEsEE 1,559,214 [,871,738

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in — _E¥l4R & B 75 AL 0 2 JE £ B8 T i 5t — (BT A2 o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The consolidated financial statements on pages 142 to 304 were approved by 2B I142FE304E i 2 x5 M B #RFT 522022438 30H

the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf. BEEZME THTIIARES !
Sun Haitao Wau Shan
%EE E=3:}
Director Director
== £=5
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

meEmEER

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KRR HEERA AR
Shares
held for
employee Non-
Share Share incentive Accumulated controlling
capital premium schemes Reserves losses Sub-total interests Total
H{FER
$Estal
RE  ROBE B 1R it  BEBR Et JREERRTER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEBTRT AREFR ARETR AREBTR ARBTFR ARBTR ARETRT ARETRT
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 30)
(MizE29)  (MsF29)  (MfsE29)  (B&E30)
As at | January 2020 520201818 79 5,960,095 (12) (15599)  (3:422,389) 2,522,174 32,184 2,554,358
Comprehensive loss 2EGHE
Loss for the year FREE - = = - (1,699,071)  (1,699,071) (17,335 (1,716,406)
Currency translation differences (Note 30) &M IAE 2% (H530) - - - (9.654) - (9,654) (4993) (14,647)
Total comprehensive loss SEBEEE - = = (9.654)  (1,699,071)  (1,708,725) (22,328)  (1,731,053)
Transactions with owners as HEGREEUE
their capacity as owners FrEEN S D ET
EEog)
Issuance of ordinary shares (Note 29) BTEER (H529) I 87,944 - (1,085) - 86,870 - 86,870
Share incentives exercised and vested BTN EE RGN RE
(Notes 29 and 30) (Bt 5£29%30) - 88,798 (85,523) = 3276 = 3276
Acquisition of additional equity interest g — R B~ B gEsh
in a subsidiary (Note 30) Rt (MEE30) - - - (4257 - (4,257) 2,287 (1,970)
Share incentives awarded under share R 12BNt )18 T
incentive plan (Note 30) BB A7 42 B (MH=E30) - - = 49,039 = 49,039 = 49,039
Capital contribution by a non-controlling  — i &2 Bl JEHEAR
interest of a subsidiary BRNTE = = = = = = 490 490
Conversion of convertible bonds transferred — X [ /8 A &) AT %
to shares of a subsidiary (Note 30) BFBEERM
(Fft3£30) - - - 21,236 - 21,236 (660) 20,576
Total transactions with owners as HERMAEUR
their capacity as owners FREENSMET
Rk I 176,742 I (20,590) - 156,164 2,117 158,281
As at 31 December 2020 722020 12A31H 90 6,136,837 ()] (45,843)  (5,121,460) 969,613 11,973 981,586
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Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity

EERREBR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FRERGERAANERL
Shares
held for
employee Non-
Share Share incentive Accumulated controlling
capital premium schemes Reserves losses Sub-total interests Total
REES
sEEa
RE  ROEE B 1R it  BEBR Et JREERRTER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AEBTRT AREFR ARETR AREBTR ARBTFR ARBTR ARETRT ARETRT
(Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 29) (Note 30)
(MizE29)  (MsF29)  (MsE29)  (&E30)
As at | January 2021 20211818 90 6,136,837 (1) (45,843)  (5,121,460) 969,613 11,973 981,586
Comprehensive loss 2EBA
Loss for the year FREE - - - - (233,687) (233,687) (27,014) (260,701)
Change in fair value attributable to BARBES ARBEN
change in the credit risk of financial cHEBEERAEN
liability at fair value through profit or loss ~ E{EERMNAABE
k) - - - (1,777) - (1,777) - (1,777)
Currency translation differences (Note 30) &S #HEZ%E (H5£30) - - - 221 - 221 3,204 3,425
Total comprehensive loss 2EESELE = = = (1,556) (233,687) (235,243) (23,810) (259,053)
Transactions with owners as HERMAEUEMA
their capacity as owners ENSHETHRS
Share incentives exercised and vested BITEREERDIZE
(Notes 29 and 30) (Bt 5£29%30) - 15,962 I (15,403) - 560 - 560
Share incentives awarded under share R 12 BNt 218 T
incentive plan (Note 30) BB A7 128 (H=E30) - - - 30,317 - 30,317 5336 35,653
Total transactions with owners as HERAMAEUR
their capacity as owners FrEEN S HET
B 5748 - 15,962 I 14914 - 30,877 5,336 36,213
As at 31 December 2021 122021128318 90 6,152,799 (10) (32485)  (5,355,147) 765,247 (6,501) 758,746

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in  _E VA7 & 1 a2 E) 26 [ EA B T BO B 5% — 1t B 3B

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FEREMAER

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BENA3BALEEE

2021 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
G ARBFR  AREBTRE
Operating activities REES
Cash used in operations KEPTARE (21,461) (1,1'14,690)
Income tax paid B PIIEH (1,481) (13,776)
Net cash used in operating activities REEREFTARE P8 36 (22,942) (1,128,466)
Investing activities KEEH
Investments in associate accounted for using fEAREREARD
the equity method RIS RBNTRE (17,000) =
Loans to related parties EaliisN=EN (41,648) -
Proceeds from ordinary shares with preferential A EBIEEENZBERMMER
liquidation rights b1 - 30,890
Proceeds from disposal of a debt host security HEBHKESFERIE 4,594 -
Interest from investment in trust RAEERIREFTEH B = 990
Proceeds from return of investment in trust PRIEFENRE WGP ISRIEA = 8,929
Investments in wealth management products NIBERNEE (55,298) (6,800)
Proceeds from disposals of wealth management L EIE ERPTISRIE
products 55,000 6,800
Interest from wealth management products B E RSN R - 5
Purchases of property and equipment BEYFh®RE (1,813) (2,338)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE (464) (1,152)
Disposal of property and equipment HEWERRLE 134 4,637
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries L E B A BPTEMRIE = 75,141
Net cash generated from investing activities REESMSIRE R (56,495) 117,102
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

FERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

BENA33BALEEE

2021 2020
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
i ARBFT  ARETR
Financing activities BB ES
Proceeds from restricted share units vested and B 57 B e 4 B B 2 PR i 15
settled EB{IPR1GTRIA 253 3276
Proceeds from issues of shares BFITRMHPRIENRIA - 86,870
Proceeds from issuance of redeemable equity T L m T ARERIE
instrument — 40,000
Cash paid for acquisition of additional equity interest U —ZR Y8 A Bl E8SMR DY
in a subsidiary BNIRE - (1,970)
Cash received from capital contribution of IR R FE WA IR E
non-controlling shareholders - 490
Proceeds from borrowings (EENE R 90,000 140,000
Repayment of borrowings BEEM (104,298) (96,205)
Cash paid to trust senior tranche holders BT EXEBLRTFAEANERE - (20,100)
Interests paid to trust senior tranche holders BN FEEELRIFTE AT E - (1,581)
Principal elements of lease payments HEMRNEZHD (4,146) (10,003)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing R SEE (FRA) FRISIREFEE
activities (18,191) 140,777
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash ~ EXEHHIRE NIREEEBYH
equivalents mE (1,908) 127
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEMRLVIFEE (99,536) (870,460)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year FYREMRREEEY 412,684 1,283,144
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FEXRFEERAEEEY 313,148 412,684

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction — _FILAR &

with the accompanying notes.

R i B A e FENT I A — 3B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

150

GENERAL INFORMATION

51 Credit Card Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands on 21 September 2017 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman lIslands. The address of the
Company's registered office is at Second Floor, Century Yard, Cricket

Square, PO. Box 902, Grand Cayman, KY'|-1103, Cayman Islands.

The Company's shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since |3 July
2018.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the
provision of financial technology services and Saa$ services in the People's
Republic of China (“China”, or the “PRC").

The financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB'000) except when otherwise

indicated.
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised

for issue by the Board of Directors (“‘the Board") of the Company on 30
March 2022.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable IFRSs. The consolidated
financial statements of the Group have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss. The preparation of
consolidated financial statements of the Group in conformity with
IFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process
of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated

financial statements are disclosed in Note 3 below.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group incurred
a continuous net loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately RMB233,687,000 and a net cash used in operating
activities of approximately RMB22,942,000. In addition, the Group's
business results and liquidity position have been and will likely

continue to be adversely impacted by the following factors:

(1) the ongoing outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") pandemic which put considerable downward
pressure on the economy in the PRC, and caused the
decline of the willingness for personal consumptions and the

demands for personal consumer credit; and

(2)  anincrease in credit risk associated with the personal credit
market as a result of the current market conditions, leading
the Group to adopt a more prudent strategy towards its
credit facilitation business and focusing on customers with

better credit quality.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

2 EXRESHRBE

2.1

RNEE
FEENGEVMHFRETDERMAER
MERYBREEARHE AERBBER
GUBRRDEELNAEARR &
EARAABEAABRENEMIAE
o MUTEBERMBREENNEE
ENGEMBERERRBERAETERS
A cHIEREEBENREAELAEE
D ST R B R L FV R Y e e RO F) R
YEEERENER I RHGEH
BREABEARKMLGENEBE T T
T EE3 M B o

HE2VIFNA3IHIEFE  AEBESE
AATBEAEARERGEBRZIENAAR
#5233,687,0007T U I A R &R BNV 3
HE L AR 822,942,0007T © tE4h > T 5 E
ZERERHAEBNKE EBNRE
B RRHEEEFNEE .

() 2019FEMRHmFE (TCOVID-191) &
BHRAPELEERTERNTITE
FoWER T EANHERRE TR
BAHBEETRER ; &

(2) HRBEANHEHERR BEAAGEE
TIHAERMERRBRIEM S
ERNHEERGEGENELAS
BHRE IHEMXBEERES
BENERS L
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

2

152

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Cont'd)

In view of the above circumstances, management has given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of financing in assessing whether the
Group will have sufficient funds to fulfill its financial obligations and
continue as a going concern. Management has prepared cash flow
projections of the Group covering a period of not less than twelve

months from 3| December 2021.

The directors of the Company (the "“Directors”) have reviewed the
Group's cash flow projections and are of the opinion that, taking
into account the Group's available funds and forecast cash flow
from ongoing businesses, the Group will have sufficient working
capital to finance its operations and to meet its financial obligations
and commitments for the twelve months from year end of these
consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the Directors are
satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis.

2.1.] New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the
first time for their annual reporting period commencing |
January 2021:
Amendments to IFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2
IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4

and IFRS 16

The amendments listed above did not have any impact
on the amounts recognized in prior periods and are not

expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Cont'd)
2.1  Basis of preparation (Cont'd 2.1 RBUEE (2)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2.1.2  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to

accounting standards and interpretations have been

published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2021

reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the

group. These standards, amendments or interpretations are

not expected to have a material impact on the entity in

the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable

future transactions.

Amendments to IAS 16

EPR & 5T 2R | 65V EET

Amendments to IAS 37

Bl PR & 5T 2E B SB375R R EET

Amendments to IFRS 3

B PR B 755 3R 5 2E A1) B8 355
BEET

Amendments to IFRSs

B PR B 75 3R 5 ZE R VB 5T
Amendments to IAS |

B & 5t 2R 1 SRAEET

Amendments to IAS | and IFRS
Practice Statement 2

EFR & 5T 2RI 55 | SR A B PR B
BIRESEREBREHE2RE
1E:T

Amendments to IAS 12

BOFR & 5t 2R 1 25RAERT

Amendments to IFRS 8
I3 % B 755 i 5 ZE R 55.851%
ST
IFRS 17
Bl R B 5 R e ZE R 55 1 75
Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28
RS S 2RI 1058
Bl R & 5T 2 B 552858 BT

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

EXREFHEREE @)

2.2 [EARIRAAEIHTIE R Rz FE
ATHIEEE T ERN
EET Rk EEMERERI2021
FRABREMBRBEIER
BURWAERREARB - ZFE
A BT RERAR TS EE
RERBARRBREMBEUKRATAR
HARRRZERERTE -

Effective for annual periods
beginning on or after

RUAT B Z R FKEE

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
intended use

M BERRE  RARRANRE
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract
BREREHN-GHEARE

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

5| BEESHER

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 201 8-
2020 cycle

PREA TSR &5 2 A1J20 1 85F 220204
HEAFEUE

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

B ED R REIERS)

Disclosure of Accounting Polices

B B

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

HE-RSGEEZEEREBRERZ
IEFEFR A

Definition of Accounting Estimates

gtttz EE

Insurance Contracts

REEH
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REEFHRARENTANGERTZ
BHENHENEE

B £
| January 2022

202261518
| January 2022

2002F 1818
I January 2022

2002F 1818
| January 2022
2002F 1818
| January 2023

202351818
| January 2023

2023F 181 H

| January 2023

2023F 1B 1 H

| January 2023
2023F 1818

| January 2023
2023F 1818

To be determined

5 E

i

SSRAEARAT 200 &% [ 1563



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

2

154

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)
2.2  Subsidiaries
(a)  Consolidation

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss, statement of financial

position, statement of changes in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements

Hangzhou Zhenniu Information Technology Co., Ltd.
(“Zhenniu Information”) entered into a series of contractual
agreements (collectively, “structured entities agreements”)
with Hangzhou Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Enniu
Network) and the direct equity owners of Enniu Network,
and Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Limited (“Hangzhou
Jiahao") and the direct equity owners of Hangzhou Jiahao,
who are affiliated with the Company. Through these

contractual agreements, Zhenniu Information is able to:

o Exercise effective control over Enniu Network,
Hangzhou Jiahao and their subsidiaries (collectively,

“the structured entities”);

0 Receive substantially all of the economic benefits and
residual returns, and absorb substantially all the risks
of expected losses as if it were the sole shareholder;

and

. Have an exclusive option to purchase all of the equity

interest in the structured entities.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

2 EBEAREHERBE @

22 MBAR GE

@

FONIRFE S RRARAR (MRS
581 BnMBFBEEMAERA
8 (TRF+44)) kBT REENERE
REEBS AURAMNEZERRER
AE (TAMEEF ) URiTINEEFH
EEREEA AN (HAE QBRI
BAR) FTU—RINEHNHZE B
nIEBEBERGZE) - BBZF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

2

156

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

22

@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)
Subsidiaries controlled through Contractual Agreements

(Cont'd)

The Group evaluated the relationships and contractual
arrangements among Zhenniu Information, the structured
entities and their direct equity owners and concluded
that Zhenniu Information is the primary beneficiary in the
variable interest arrangement. As a result, the results of
operations, assets and liabilities of the structured entities
have been included in the Group's consolidated financial

statements.

Pursuant to the structured entities agreements, the Group
has the power to direct activities of the structured entities
and can have assets transferred out of the structured entities
under its control. Therefore, the Group considers that
there is no asset in any of the structured entities that can
be used only to settle obligations of the structured entities,
except for registered capital and PRC statutory reserves. As
the structured entities are incorporated as limited liability
companies under the PRC Company Law, lenders of the
structured entities do not have recourse to the general
credit of the Group for any of the liabilities of the structured

entities.

Currently there is no contractual arrangement which
requires the Group to provide additional financial support
to the structured entities. However, as the Group conducts
its businesses primarily based on the licences and approvals
held by its structured entities, the Group has provided and
will continue to provide financial support to the structured
entities considering the business requirements of the
structured entities, as well as the Group's own business

objectives in the future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Other structured entities through trust arrangements

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so
that voting or similar rights are not the dominant factor in
deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting
rights relate to administrative tasks only, and the relevant

activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements.

The Group's structured entities include trust schemes. These
trust schemes are managed by unaffiliated trust companies

and invest the funds raised in loans to individuals (Note 27).

According to the trust scheme agreements, the Group is
considered as the primary beneficiary of the trusts and
also has the power to direct the activities of the trusts. As
a result, the results of operations, assets and liabilities of
the trusts have been included in the Group's consolidated

financial statements.

Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations not under common control. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured

initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
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Subsidiaries (Cont'd)
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@)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Business combinations (Cont'd)

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the event of
liquidation are measured at either fair value or the present
ownership interests’ proportionate share in the recognized
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another measurement

basis is required by IFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from

such re-measurement are recognized in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability
is recognized in accordance with IAS 39 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-
measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

@)

®)

Consolidation (Cont'd)

Business combinations (Cont'd)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in
the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognized and
previously held interest measured is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognized directly in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries (including structured entities) are
accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends

received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividends exceeds the total comprehensive loss of
the subsidiary in the year the dividends declared or if the
carrying amount of the investments in the separate financial
statements exceed the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including

goodwill.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EBEAGHBREE &)
(Cont'd)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont'd) 22 MBRE #E)
(c)  Principal subsidiaries (© ZlfE L ]
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 K202 F 1283 BAEBRN T EMH
December 2021 are set out below: BABFIBEEHIUWT !

Percentage of attributable
equity interest

ElEREEDL
Place of incorporation and Principal activities and
Name of entity Date of incorporation  kind of legal entity Registered capital as at 3| December 2021 place of operation
BEAE Eii A=k AMEItEREARE  ERES R0UFNANE  TEEBREEY
Beijing Shouhui Kaizhuo Technology Co,, Ltd. 12 May 2006 PRC, limited liability company RMB5,887,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
("Kaizhuo Technology”)
PRESHIMEBRAR (RRRBU) 2006558128 PE BREFAR N 5,887,007 RS E R R
Beijing Shouhui Shidai Information Technology 14 May 2012 PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
Co, Ltd. (“Shouhui Shidai”)
FREEHAERRITARAE WIESA14H e BREFAR A 100000007 RS E R
U=
Beijing Yakushikong Digital Business Co,, Ltd. 28 August 2009 PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
IREERTEFBHERAT 2009485 28H HE BREEAH AR #100000,0007T RAPERE RAARE
Beijing Yaku Shikong Information Exchange 23 March 2005 PRC, limited liability company RMB100,000,000 100% Prepaid card issuance and acceptance
Technology Co, Ltd. ("Yaku Shikong") and internet payment in the PRC
TREBEEESRBRITERAT 2005638230 HE BREEAH K 1000000007 ROBEEREFETRARK
(e RsBy 22 1) BEAT
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited || November 1999 Cayman slands, limited liability HK$110,000,000 39.16% Investment holding in the Cayman
(“China Netcom”) company Islands
TEEERRARAD (PEEE)  199EIRIE RERS AREEAT 110000000%7% RASEERAZR
Enniu Network 2 August 2012 PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000,000 100% Development and operation of
applications in the PRC
B 201268820 T BREEAH AR #500000,0007 RPESERBEARERES
Fuzhou Enniu Network Micro Loan Co, Ltd. 23 June 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB200,000,000 100% Micro loan services in the PRC
BT R NEERERAR WI75E6A3H HE BREEAH K 12000000007 RPEEENEEARE
Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co, Ltd. 16 August 2019 PRC, limited liability company RMBI,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
RMEGEREARAR 01987165 hE BREFAHR AEH100000075 R BB R
Hangzhou Liniu Assets Management Co, Ltd. 22 April 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB206,250,000 100% Post-loan management in the PRC
RMFFEEERBRAR 0I6F4F2H hE BREFAR AR 2062500007 RPESEERER
Hangzhou Shangniu Information Technology 16 March 2016 PRC, limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% Development and operation of
Co, Ltd. applications in the PRC
M FEERITBRAS WI6F3R16H HE AREMAF AR 1000000070 ReESERRRARERES
Hangzhou Shangniu Investment Management 19 May 2017 PRC, Limited Liability Partnership  RMB240,000,000 89.58% Investment management in the PRC
Partnership (Limited Partnership)
nNETREERABEE BRAR) 2017458190 HE EREEAH AR #240000,0007 RAEREREER
Hangzhou Shangniu Network Technology 12 December 2014 PRC, limited liability company RMB3, 125,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
Co, Ltd.
MMEFERHEBRAR 014128128 PEBREEAR AR 31250007 R B E R
Hangzhou Wuyao Technology Co,, Ltd. 25 July 2014 PRC, limited liability company RMB500,000,000 100% Development and operation of
applications in the PRC
AMEARERARAR 01478258 hE BREFAR A 5000000007 RPESERRRARERER
Hangzhou Xingniu Information Technology 20 October 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB400,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
Co, Ltd.
RMEFEEHEARAT 20174108208 e BREEAH K #400000,00075 RS ERIRS
Hangzhou Panniu Financing and Guarantee Co, 24 May 2018 PRC, limited liability company RMB300,000,000 100% Financing guarantee services in the
Ltd("Hangzhou Panniu”) PRC
MMESFBEERBRAR (MET) 2018558248 T BREEAH AR #300000,0007 RAESERERRRE
Zhenniu Information 16 November 2017 PRC, limited liability company RMB2,000,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
RFER 0175118168 HE BREEAH K #2,000000,0007T RAPEEE RAARE
Hefei Liniu Information Technology Co,, Ltd. 5 December 2018 PRC, limited liability company RMBI,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
BT EERMARAR WI8E1285H e BREEAT AEH1,0000007 R EEERIRS
Shanghai Jingjia Network Technology Co,, Ltd. 17 December 2010 PRC, limited liability company RMB400,000,000 100% Development and operation of
applications in the PRC
LEBRBERRERAT 20105128178 T BREEAH B #400,000,00078 RPESERBREARERES
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2
(Cont'd)
Subsidiaries (Cont'd)

22

©

Principal subsidiaries (Cont'd)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31

December 2021 are set out below: (Cont'd)

Name of entity

Date of incorporation

Place of incorporation and
kind of legal entity

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

EXREFHEREE @)

22 MBAR #
© ZHELE (&

2021 E12B3 I BHAERENEERK
BABGEIBHIWT : (&)

Percentage of attributable
equity interest
FEfERER DL
Principal activities and

Registered capital as at 3| December 2021 place of operation

BEAE Eii A=k AMEItEREARE  ERES R0UFNANE  TEEBREEY
Shanghai Qiandian Information Technology 27 May 2009 PRC, limited liability company RMB325,000,000 100% Technology services in the PRC
Co, Ltd. (“Qiandian Information”)
LERRERNEARAR (RIMES) 2009458278 PE BREFAR AR 32500000070 RS E R R
Shanghai Qingniu Business Information 18 September 2013 PRC, Llimited Liability Partnership ~ RMB200,000 100% Employees’ incentive operation in the
Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) PRC
LENEBBESEAABEE W398 18H hE EREESH AR #20000070 UNSIEES SR ]

(BERED)

Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co, Ltd.

LBETEEHEARAT

Shenzhen Mihuanlile Technology Co, Ltd

R ERRTHEERAT

Shenzhen Xiaolanben Network Technology

Co, Ltd. ("Shenzhen Xiaolanben”)
RNEFBREHERAT
(TRYNEA )

14 December 2015

2015128148
05 January 2021
202141 A5H
21 May 2019

2019558218

Tianjin Lance Business Management Consulting |3 May 2019

Partnership (Limited Partnership)
REERCLERTNAPLE
(BRER)

201958 138

Hangzhou Yeniu Information Technology Co, Ltd.24 February 2016

("Yeniu Information Technology'")
T thA(E B iR IRAT
(M 45 B 1i1)

2016528248

Hangzhou Yiniu Network Technology Co, Ltd. 5 May 2015

(“Yiniu Network)

MMEFBERmARAR (Z58R)) 21555850

US1.Com Inc.

U51.Com Inc.
USI.Com Limited

USI.Com Limited
51 Award Limited

51 Award Limited

51 Credit Card (China) Limited
SIERF (FE) BRAF
5SIRENPIN.COM INC.
SIRENPIN.COM INC.

51 Stock Limited
51 Stock Limited

51 Credit Card Investment (HK) Limited
SIERFRE (B8) BRAF

8 August 2014

2014F858H
15 August 2014

2014588 150
27 February 2017

2017828278

I3 October 2017
20174108138
7 January 2016
01651878

2 August 2017
201788528

12 September 2018
201898 12H

PRC, limited liability company

e BREEAR
PRC, limited liability company
e BREEAF
PRC, limited liability company

e BREEAR

PRC, Limited Liability Partnership
HE EREEAH

PRC, limited liability company

e BREEAT

PRC, limited liability company

hE AREEAT

Cayman Islands, incorporated
company

REHE RNBRAR

Hong Kong (“HK"), limited
liability company

BE (B8) BRERAAR

The British Virgin Islands (“BVI"),
limited liability company

ERERREE
(HEERREE)
BRERAAR

HK limited liability company

& BEREALR

BVI, incorporated company

HBERREE
BRIVERAR

BV, limited liability company

XRERAREE
BRERAH

HK, limited liability company

&8 BEREARH

RMBI50,000,000 100% Investment holding and industry

investment in the PRC

ARH15000000070 RESERERRREXLE

RMB500,000 100% Technology services in the PRC

AR 50000070 IR B B e AR S
RMB15,802,000 73.86% Technology services in the PRC

AR I15802,0007 RS E R R
RMB2,750,000 100% Employees' incentive operation in the

PRC
AR H#275000070 R RS ES KA

RMB400,000,000 100% Credit facilitation service in the PRC

AR #400,000,0007 RPBEEEERERE

RMBI120,000,000 100% Development and operation of
applications in the PRC

AR #120000,0007 RABSERARARERES

US$50,000 100% Investment holding in the Cayman
Islands

50000% 7 RRESSERERR

HK$ | 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong

1B REBREREER

USs$! 100% Employees' incentive operation in BVI

E REBEEREBLE
REEE:E

HK$ | 100% Investment holding in the PRC

1B ROEEERERR

US$50,000 100% Investment holding in BVI

50000% 7 RABERREELE
REER

USs! 100% Employees' incentive operation in BVI

o REBEBAREBLE
EERE:E

HK$100 100% Investment holding in Hong Kong

1007T REBLERERR
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2

162

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.3

Associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding of

between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares are
accounted for using equity method of accounting. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially recognized at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the
investor's share of the profit or loss of the investee after the
date of acquisition. The Group's investments in associates include
goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the
ownership interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value of
the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as

goodwill.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive loss is
recognized in other comprehensive loss with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the

associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.3

2.4

25

Associates (Cont'd)

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares (Cont'd)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any
objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired.
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment
as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate
and its carrying value and recognizes the amount adjacent to
“share of profit of investments accounted for using equity method”
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. The carrying
amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment

in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.8.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the chief executive officer and the

vice-presidents of the Group that make strategic decisions.

Functional currency and foreign currency translation

(a)  Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(“the functional currency”). The functional currency of the
Company is United States dollars (“US$"). The Company's
primary subsidiaries are incorporated in the PRC and these
subsidiaries consider RMB as their functional currency. As the
major operations of the Group during the reporting year
are within the PRC, the Group determined to present its
consolidated financial statements in RMB (unless otherwise

stated).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

25

Functional currency and foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

®)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

loss within “Finance expenses, net’.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings are presented in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive loss, within “Finance expense, net”. All
other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive loss on a net basis

within “Other losses, net’”.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and
liabilities such as equities held at FVPL are recognized in
profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets, such as
equities classified as available for sale, are included in other

comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.5  Functional currency and foreign currency translation (Cont'd)

(c)  Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities

(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary

economy) that have a functional currency different from the

presentation currency are translated into the presentation

currency as follows:

0]

(ii)

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate

at the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive loss are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the rate

on the dates of the transactions); and

All resulting currency translation differences are

recognized in other comprehensive loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the

acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and

liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing

rate. Currency translation differences arising are recognized

in other comprehensive loss.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

2 EBEAREHERBE @

25 IhEEEWSRIMEIRE (&)

© FEH

=7,

TEEE R HEZ25 G- AR E &
ERER OERsBREEHE
WE® NEERMBRR > 191K
NARBESZ2TEE

(i

(iif)

BEUBRREKANZINEE
haERYBRTEBHN
W ERRE ;

PHBEERANS R EF
HERBKE CRIFZTHEX
REFERBRRZ HARTT
BERERNRFEE A
BB HBHANERREZ
FWZ) 5 &

FRAERIEMELENER =%
REMEEERES -

HfE s ERMELENEE K
AABEFAE SFRBERBEIHIE
EMNEERAG WRWTHEZXR
B-ERMEERENEMEEBR
MHESS

SHEERBRATE 2021 FERE

165



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 A
17177 g |

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

2

166

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.6

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation on property and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Estimated useful lives

of the assets

Computer and electronic equipment 3 years
Office furniture and equipment 3 years
Leasehold improvements Estimated useful lives
or remaining lease

terms, whichever is

shorter
Building 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and

adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting year.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than

its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized
within “Other losses, net” in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.7

Intangible assets
The Group's intangible assets include software, platform,

applications, trademark, payment licence and goodwill (Note 2.9).

Intangible assets can be recognized only when future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the item will flow
into the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. Intangible
assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business

combination is the fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs that
are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and
unique software products controlled by the Group are recognized

as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

. It is technically feasible to complete the software product so

that it will be available for use;

. Management intends to complete the software product and

use or sell it;

. There is an ability to use or sell the software product;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.7

Intangible assets (Cont'd)
. [t can be demonstrated how the software product will

generate probable future economic benefits;

o Adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the software

product are available; and

. The expenditure attributable to the software product during

its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalized as part of the
software product include the software development staff cost and

an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria
are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs
previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset

in a subsequent period.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed by the period of

bringing economic benefits for the Group.

The intangible assets acquired in a business combination, mainly
including software, platform, applications, licence and goodwill,
are recognized initially at fair value at the acquisition date and
subsequently carried at the amount initially recognized less

accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.7

Intangible assets (Cont'd)

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows:

Estimated useful

lives of the assets

Software 2-3 years
Platform 5 years
Applications 10 years
Trademark 10 years
Payment licence Indefinite
Goodwill Indefinite

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortized on the
straight-line basis over the useful life. The amortization period and
the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each year

end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but

are subject to annual impairment assessment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.8

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible
assets not ready to use are not subject to amortization and are
tested annually for impairment. Assets (including intangible assets
and property and equipment, net) that are subject to amortization
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount
by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair
value less costs to sell of disposal and value in use ("VIU"). For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting

date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents
the excess of the consideration transferred over the Group's
interest in net fair value of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the acquiree and the fair value of the non-

controlling interests in the acquiree.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units ("CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. Each unit or group of units
to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level
within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the operating

segment level.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

29

Goodwill (Cont'd)

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair
value less costs to sell. Any impairment is recognized immediately

as an expense and is not subsequently reversed.

Financial assets

Measurement methods

Amortised cost and effective interest rate

The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset is
measured at initial recognition minus the principal repayments,
plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss

allowance.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any ECL allowance). The
calculation does not consider ECL and includes transaction costs,
premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that
are integral to the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.
For purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI") financial
assets — assets that are credit-impaired at initial recognition — the
Group calculates the credit-adjusted effective interest rate, which
is calculated based on the amortised cost of the financial asset
instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates the impact of

ECL in estimated future cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.10

172

Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

Amortised cost and effective interest rate (Cont'd)

When the Group revises the estimates of future cash flows, the
carrying amount of the respective financial assets or financial
liabilities is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using
the original effective interest rate. Any changes are recognized in

profit or loss.

Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate

to the gross carrying amount of financial assets.

POCI financial assets, for which the original credit-adjusted effective

interest rate is applied to the amortised cost of the financial asset.

Financial assets that are not 'POCI" but have subsequently become
credit-impaired (or ‘stage 3'), for which interest revenue is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised

cost (i.e. net of the ECL provision).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EXEHBEERE @)
(Cont'd)

2.10 Financial assets (Cont'd)

210 EREE @)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognized when the entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognized on trade-date, the date

on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its
fair value plus or minus, in the case of a financial asset not at FVPL,
transaction costs that are incremental and directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset, such as fees and
commissions. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL
are expensed in profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition,
an ECL allowance is recognized for financial assets measured at
amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"), which
results in an accounting loss being recognized in profit or loss when

an asset is newly originated.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.10 Financial assets (Cont'd)
Measurement methods (Cont'd)

0) Classification and subsequent measurement

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

. FVPL;
. FVOCI; or
. Amortised cost.

The classification requirements for debt and equity

instruments are described below:

Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the
definition of a financial liability from the issuer's perspective,

such as loans, trade receivables and other receivables.

Classification and subsequent measurement of debt

instruments depend on:

. The Group's business model for managing the asset;
and
. The cash flow characteristics of the asset.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAREHHBEHE &)
(Cont'd)
2.10 Financial assets (Cont'd) 210 ERMEE #)

FrE A (#8)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)
() DEBNBESE B

0) Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

ERNBERRZ AEBRERH LT
BEnRUT =845 :

Based on these factors, the Group classifies its debt
instruments into one of the following three measurement

categories:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI"), and that are not designated at FVPL, are
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount
of these assets is adjusted by any ECL allowance
recognized and measured. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “Other revenue” using

the effective interest rate method.

FVOCI: Financial assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, and that are
not designated at FVPL, are measured at FVOCI.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive loss, except for the recognition
of impairment gains or losses, interest revenue and
foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s
amortised cost which are recognized in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognized, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in other
comprehensive loss is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss and recognized in “Net investment income”.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not hold

any financial asset classified as FVOCI.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.10 Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

0

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognized in profit or loss and
presented in the statement of comprehensive loss
within “Other losses, net” in the period in which it

arises.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Group
manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That
is, whether the Group's objective is solely to collect the
contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both
the contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the
sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial
assets are held for trading purposes), then the financial
assets are classified as part of “other’” business model and
measured at FVPL. Factors considered by the Group in
determining the business model for a group of assets include
past experience on how the cash flows for these assets
were collected, how the asset's performance is evaluated
and reported to key management personnel, how risks are

assessed and managed and how managers are compensated.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAREHHBEHE &)
(Cont'd)
2.10 Financial assets (Cont'd) 210 EMEE @)

Measurement methods (Cont'd) FTE A (#8)

() DENRESE @)

0) Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to EXRNASMAE KEBXZ2F

collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Group assesses whether the
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest (the “SPPI test”). In making this
assessment, the Group considers whether the contractual
cash flows are consistent with a basic lending arrangement,
i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value
of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and a profit
margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.
Where the contractual terms introduce exposure to
risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement, the related financial asset is classified and

measured at FVPL.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirety when determining whether their cash flows are
SPPI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets changes.
The reclassification takes place from the start of the first
reporting year following the change. Such changes are
expected to be very infrequent and none occurred during

the year
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.10 Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

0

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition
of equity from the issuer's perspective; that is, instruments
that do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that

evidence a residual interest in the issuer's net assets.

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
FVPL, except where the Group's management has elected,
at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity
investment at fair value through other comprehensive loss.
The Group's policy is to designate equity investments as
FVOCI when those investments are held for purposes other
than to generate investment returns. When this election
is used, fair value gains and losses are recognized in other
comprehensive loss and are not subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss, including on disposal. Dividends, when
representing a return on such investments, continue to
be recognized in profit or loss as other income when the

Group's right to receive payments is established.

Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included
in the “Other losses, net” line in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.10 Financial assets (Cont'd)

Measurement methods (Cont'd)

(i)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the ECL
associated with its debt instrument assets carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising
from financial guarantee contracts and contract assets. The
Group recognizes a loss allowance for such losses at each

reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

. An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that

is determined by evaluating a range of possible

outcomes;
. The time value of money; and
. Reasonable and supportable information that

is available without undue cost or effort at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions

and forecasts of future economic conditions.

For contract assets and trade receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognized from initial

recognition of the receivables.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.11 Financial liabilities

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at

amortised cost, except for:

Financial liabilities at FVPL: this classification is applied to
derivatives, financial liabilities held for trading and measured
at fair value. Gains or losses on financial liabilities at FVPL are
presented partially in other comprehensive loss (the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability,
which is determined as the amount that is not attributable
to changes in market conditions that give rise to market
risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of
change in the fair value of the liability). This is unless such
a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting
mismatch, in which case the gains and losses attributable to
changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in

profit or loss;

Financial guarantee contracts: financial guarantee contracts
are contracts that require the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs
because a specified debtor fails to make payments when
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial
institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure
loans. The Group's financial guarantee contracts is reflected
as the quality assurance fund payable recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The quality
assurance fund is a protection mechanism offered to
investors who subscribe to the loans facilitated on the
Group's platform. The quality assurance fund contribution
rates are determined at loan inception on a loan by loan
basis and does not subsequently change over the life of the
loan. The determination of the contribution rates is also
based on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking into
account the underlying risk profile and historical loss record

and other market factors when necessary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.11

Financial liabilities (Cont'd)

Classification and subsequent measurement (Cont'd)

Financial guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund payable)
are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at

the higher of:

. The amount of the loss allowance; and

. The premium received on initial recognition less income

recognized in accordance with the principles of IFRS 5.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognized

as a provision.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, with gains or losses arising

from de-recognition or amortization recognized in profit or loss.

De-recognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes a financial liability or part of it only
when the underlying present obligation or part of it is discharged,
cancelled or expired. An agreement between the Group (an
existing borrower) and an existing lender to replace the original
financial liability with a new financial liability with substantially
different terms is accounted for as an extinguishment of the original

financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability.

When the Group derecognizes a financial liability or a part of
it, it recognizes the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and
payable (including any non-cash assets transferred or new financial

liabilities assumed) in profit or loss.
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182

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.12

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and
must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the

counterparty.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected
in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they
are presented as non-current assets. All the trade receivables of
the Group are expected in one year or less, therefore, they are

presented as current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective

interest method, less provision for impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents include cash at banks and other short-term highly liquid

investments with original maturities of three months or less.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.15

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,

from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s equity
share capital (treasury share), the considerations paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs, is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company's equity holders until the shares
are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received (net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs) is included in equity attributable to

the Company's equity holders.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised
cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction
costs) and the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive loss over the period of the

borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it

relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least

|2 months after the end of the reporting year
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.17 Financial guarantee

184

Quality assurance fund payable

The quality assurance fund payable is measured at their fair value at
inception for both individual and institutional investors. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the quality assurance fund payable is measured
at the greater of |) the amount determined in accordance with
IFRS 9 and 2) the amount initially recognized (fair value) less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortization of the initial amount
recognized in accordance with IFRS 5. The Group's financial
guarantee is also reflected as the quality assurance fund payable
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position (Note
24).

Quality assurance fund receivable

The quality assurance fund receivable is recognized at loan
inception for amounts allocated to the guarantee. At each
reporting date, the Group estimates the future cash flows and

assesses whether there is any indicator of impairment to any

individual underlying loan of the quality assurance fund receivable.

If the carrying amounts of the quality assurance fund receivable
exceeds the expected collections, an impairment loss is recorded

for the quality assurance fund receivable not recoverable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.18

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for services that have been
delivered in the ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade
and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of
the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities. All the trade payables of the Group are expected in one

year or less, therefore, they are presented as current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective

interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense for a year comprises current and deferred
tax. The income taxes are recognized in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive loss or directly in equity. In this
case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive loss or

directly in equity, respectively.

(a)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
financial statements date in the countries/regions where
the Company's subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation.
It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of

amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Cont'd)

®)

Deferred income tax

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax
is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income

tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be

utilised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAREHHBEHE &)
(Cont'd)
2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Cont'd)

2.19 BNEARIRIEFRISIR (4
(b)  Deferred income tax (Cont'd) (b) EUFTFRE (B)

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint arrangements, except for
deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally the Group is
unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference
for associates. Only when there is an agreement in place
that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of
the temporary difference in the foreseeable future, deferred
income tax liabilities in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed profits

are not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in
subsidiaries, associates only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future and
there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the

temporary difference can be utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

220 Employee benefits

@)

®)

©

Pension obligations

The employees of the Group are mainly covered by
various defined contribution pension plans. The Group
makes and accrues contributions on a monthly basis to the
pension plans, which are mainly sponsored by the related
government authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such plans, the Group
has no other significant legal or constructive obligations for
retirement benefits beyond the said contributions, which are

expensed as incurred.

Housing benefits

The employees of the Group are entitled to participate in
various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on
certain percentages of the salaries of the employees. The
Group's liability in respect of these funds is limited to the

contributions payable in each year

Medical benefits

The Group makes monthly contributions for medical
benefits to the local authorities in accordance with the
relevant local regulations for the employees. The Group's
liability in respect of employee medical benefits is limited to

the contributions payable in each year
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.21

Share-based payments

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans, under which the entity receives services from
employees as consideration for equity instruments of the Group.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for
the grant of the options and restricted share units (“RSUs") is
recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is
determined by making reference to the fair value of the options

and RSUs granted:

(i) Including any market performance condition (for example,

an entity's share price);

(i) excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability,
sales growth targets and remaining as an employee of the

entity over a specified time period); and

(i) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions (for

example, the requirement for employees to serve).

Non-market performance and service conditions are included
in assumptions about the number of options and RSUs that are
expected to vest. The total expense is recognized over the vesting
period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting

conditions are to be satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.21

Share-based payments (Cont'd)

In addition, in some circumstances employees may provide services
in advance of the grant date and therefore the grant date fair value
is estimated for the purposes of recognizing the expense during

the year between service commencement date and grant date.

Where there is modification of terms and conditions which
increases the fair value of the equity instruments granted (for
example, by changing the vesting period of share options),
the Group includes the incremental fair value granted in the
measurement of the amount recognized for the services received
over the remainder of the vesting period. The incremental fair
value is the difference between the fair value of the modified
equity instrument and that of the original equity instrument, both
estimated as at the date of the modification. An expense based
on the incremental fair value is recognized over the period from
the modification date to the date when the modified equity
instruments vest in addition to any amount in respect of the
original instrument, which should continue to be recognized over

the remainder of the original vesting period.

At the end of each reporting year, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options and RSUs that are expected to vest
based on the non-market performance and service conditions. It
recognizes the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in

profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised or the RSUs are vested, the
Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital

(nominal value) and share premium.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.22 Provisions

2.23

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not

recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognized even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any

one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the

provision due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when service is provided to the customer
Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply
to the contract, service may be provided over time or at a point in

time. Service is provided over time if the Group's performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed

simultaneously by the customer;

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as

the Group performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

192

If service transfers over time, revenue is recognized over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue
is recognized at a point in time when the customer obtains the

service.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on one of the following methods that
best depict the Group's performance in satisfying the performance

obligation:

. direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group

to the customer; or

. the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the

performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple services, the transaction price will be
allocated to each performance obligation based on the stand-alone
selling prices. Where these are not directly observable, they are

estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

The following is a description of the accounting policy for the

principal revenue streams of the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAREHHBEHE &)
(Cont'd)
2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd) 223 URESFEED (&)

EERERREE

(a)  Credit facilitation and service fee @

The Group engages primarily in operating an online
consumer finance marketplace by providing an online
platform which matches borrowers with investors. The
Group's platform provides investors with various investment
products, which the investors can elect to participate in. The
Group determined that it is not the legal lender and legal
borrower in the loan origination and repayment process.
Therefore, the Group does not record loans receivable
and payable arising from the loans between investors and

borrowers on its marketplace.

The total proceeds are collected on a monthly basis
over the loan period. The total proceeds from borrowers
generally includes the services fees for facilitating loan
origination (covering matching of investors to borrowers
and facilitating the execution of loan agreement between
investors and borrowers) and for providing ongoing
monthly services (mainly covering cash processing services
and collection services), and also include contribution to
the quality assurance fund, which provides a protection

mechanism to investors who subscribe to these loans.

The total proceeds from borrowers are first allocated to
the quality assurance fund payable (Note 2.18) at fair value
which meets the definition of a financial guarantee under
IAS 39, and the remaining amount are then allocated to
credit facilitation service and ongoing monthly service. The
Group generally collects the entire amount relating to credit
facilitation and ongoing monthly services as one combined

fee.
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2

194

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

@)

Credit facilitation and service fee (Cont'd)

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and
ongoing monthly services as distinct performance obligations.
Although the Group does not sell these services separately,
the Group determined that both deliverables have
standalone value. However, the Group does not provide
these services separately, and the third-party evidence of
selling price does not exist either; as public information is not
available regarding the amount of fees competitors charge
for these services. As a result, the Group uses the expected-
cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine its best estimate
standalone selling prices of the different performance
obligations as the basis for allocation. The total service fee
allocated to credit facilitation is recognized as revenue
upon execution of loan agreements between investors and
borrowers. The service fees allocated to post-origination
services are deferred and recognized over the period of
the loan on a straight-line method, which approximates the
pattern of when the underlying services are performed.
When the cash received is different from the revenue
recognized, a “Contract Asset” or “Contract Liability” shall
be recognized in the consolidated statement of financial

position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

®)

©

Incentives

To expand its market presence, attract new investors and
new borrowers and increase activity level on the Group's
platform, the Group provides incentives to potential

investors and borrowers at its sole discretion.

When a loan is successfully matched during the relevant
incentive program period, the investor receives a cash
incentive as additional interest on a monthly basis over the
term of the loan. The borrower may receive a cash incentive,
as a reduction of credit facilitation service fee. These cash

incentives are accounted for as reduction of revenue.

Referral service fee

The Group introduces loan products of external online
lending platforms to borrowers on the Group's own
platform who can click through to third-party platforms.The
Group generally is not the primary obligor, does not have
the ability to establish the price, is not exposed to the credit
risk when directing borrowers to third-party platforms.
Upon successful set-up of loans, the Group will charge the
third-party platforms a negotiated amount or a fixed rate
referral fee based on the loans amount. Loan referral service
income is recognized on a net basis upon successfully set-up

of the loans.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Cont'd)

2.23 Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

(@

(e

®

Credit card technology service fee

The Group cooperates with banks for their online credit
card applications on a nationwide basis. Users of 5| Credit
Card Manager App can click on the icon of a bank displayed
in the Group's platform and the webpage of the bank will
pop up in the App to complete the credit card application
process. The Group charges banks the referral fee based on
the successful applications which are defined by the banks.
Credit card technology service fee is recognized on a net

basis upon successful applications.

FPayment service fee

The Group provides payment services for the third parties
to support the platform users. The income originates from
the payment channel service and the payment advance
service. When the service provided, the service fee will be

automatically deducted from the funds.

Saa$ service fee

The Group's SaaS business consists of Little Blue Book
business and smart retail business. Little Blue Book is a
smart sales intelligence platform that generates subscription
income from corporate and individual customers. The
subscription income is recognized over the fixed term of
the agreement as services are provided. The Group's smart
retail business is operated under its subsidiary, Hangzhou
Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Zhongtuo
Netcom”). The Group receives a fixed income from system
development and sales of hardware, and also receives
agency fees that are based on customers' volume of usage
such as transaction payment rate, cloud server usage and
SMS traffic volume, etc. The service fee is recognized when

the services provided.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)

2.23

2.24

2.25

Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

(g)  Overdue charges

The Group makes efforts to collect the outstanding overdue
amounts from borrowers. Overdue charges incurred on a
case-by-case basis. The collectability of these amounts are
often of high uncertainty. Overdue charges are only highly
probable to be collected when the actual overdue amounts
are repaid and are recognized as revenue when the cash of

the overdue payments is actually collected.

Interest income of cash at banks and bank deposits

Interest income is recognized on a time proportion basis, taking
into account of the principal outstanding and the effective interest
rate over the period to maturity, when it is determined that such

income will accrue to the Group.

Government grants
Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be

received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Cont'd)
2.26 Leases

198

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by

the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit
in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee's incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a

similar economic environment with similar terms and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

. where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing

was received;

. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest
rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group,

which does not have recent third party financing; and

. makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g, term, country,

currency and security.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2 EAREHHBEHE &)
(Cont'd)
2.26 Leases (Cont'd) 226 TE &

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement

date less any lease incentives received; and

° restoration costs.

Payments associated with short-term leases and all leases of low-
value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 2

months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognized as expense over the lease term on the same basis
as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature. The Group did not need to
make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as

a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

3.1  Measurement of the ECL allowance
The measurement of the ECL allowance for financial assets
measured at amortised cost and is an area that requires the use of
complex models and significant assumptions about future economic
conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers

defaulting and the resulting losses).

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying

the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:
) Determining criteria for SICR;
o The financial instrument considered to have

experienced a SICR if the borrower is past due on its

contractual payments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS 3 BEEEEH{hEFFIE &

(Cont'd)
3.1  Measurement of the ECL allowance (Cont'd) 3.1 ETETEHRERIEREE (&
(i) Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the (i) RS EFRRIE R AR e B IR

measurement of ECL; KelRE S

ECL is measured on either a |2-month (12M) or
lifetime basis depending on whether a SICR has
occurred since initial recognition or whether an
asset is considered to be credit-impaired. ECL are
the discounted product of the Probability of Default
(“PD"), Exposure at Default ("EAD"), and Loss Given
Default (“LGD"), or ECL=PD*LGD*EAD*discounted

rate.

The calculation of PD and LGD started with the
Group's historical information. They are further
adjusted for the impacts from micro-economy
conditions as well as observed industry experience.
PD and LGD are calculated by type of products,

internal risk grades and loan durations as appropriate.

EAD is calculated based on the amounts the Group
expected to be owed at the time of default, over the
next 12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD).

The discounted rate used in the ECL calculation is
the original effective interest rate or an approximation

thereof.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont'd)
3.1  Measurement of the ECL allowance (Cont'd)
(i) Establishing the number and relative weighting of forward-
looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the

associated ECL, and

. The Group used the Morten Model to estimate
the relationship between ECL and forward-looking

scenarios.

. Based on economic statistics, three different
prospective scenarios, namely the “base”, the “upside”
and the “downside” are used with 80%, 10% and 10%

weighting respectively.

. Other forward-looking considerations, such as
the impact of any regulatory, legislative or political

changes, have also been considered.

0 The Group has performed historical analysis and
identified the key economic variables impacting credit
risk and ECL of each portfolio. The most significant
assumptions used are PPl, given their impact they
have on the loans facilitated or provided by the

Group.

3.2  Revenue related to credit facilitation service and ongoing

monthly service

The Group considers the credit facilitation services and ongoing
monthly services as distinct performance obligations. However,
the Group does not provide these services separately, and the
third-party evidence of selling price does not exist either, as
public information is not available regarding the amount of fees
competitors charge for these services. As a result, the Group
uses the expected-cost-plus-a-margin approach to determine
its best estimate of selling prices of the different deliverables as
the basis for allocation. When estimating the selling prices, the
Group considers the cost related to such services, profit margin,
customer demand, effect of competition, and other market factors,

if applicable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont'd)

a3

34

Quality assurance fund payable and receivable

The quality assurance fund is a protection mechanism offered to
both individual and institutional investors who subscribe to the
loans facilitated on the Group's platform. The quality assurance
fund contribution rates are determined at loan inception on a loan
by loan basis and does not subsequently change over the life of
the loan. The determination of the contribution rates is also based
on the estimated loss rate of the loans, taking into account the
underlying risk profile and historical loss record and other market

factors when necessary.

Recognition of share-based compensation expenses

The fair values of share options granted are measured on the
respective grant dates based on the fair value of the underlying
shares. In addition, the Group is required to estimate the expected
percentage of grantees that will remain in employment with the
Group or, where applicable, if the performance conditions for
vesting will be met at the end of the vesting period. The Group
only recognizes an expense for those share options and RSUs
expected to vest over the vesting period during which the grantees
become unconditionally entitled to these share-based awards.
Changes in these estimates and assumptions could have a material
effect on the determination of the fair value of the share options
and RSUs and the amount of such share-based awards expected
to become vested, which may in turn significantly impact the

determination of the share-based compensation expenses.

The fair value of share options and RSUs at the time of grant is to
be expensed over the vesting period of these share-based awards
based on an accelerated graded attribution approach. Under the
accelerated graded attribution approach, each vesting installment
of a graded vesting award is treated as a separate share-based
award, which means that each vesting installment will be separately
measured and attributed to expense, resulting in accelerated

recognition of share-based compensation expense.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont'd)

3.5

3.6

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax regulations under the PRC,
HK, Cayman Islands and BVI. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes in different territories.
There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain. The Group recognizes liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax
assets and liabilities in the year in which such determination is

made.

In addition, a deferred income tax asset is recognized to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilized. Significant management judgement
is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognized based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits of the individual entities together with tax

planning strategies.

Fair value of financial instruments

If the market for a financial instrument is not active, the Group
estimates fair value by using a valuation technique. Valuation
techniques include using recent prices in arm’s length market
transactions between knowledgeable and willing parties, if available,
reference to the current fair value of another instrument that is
substantially the same, or discounted cash flow analysis and option
pricing models. To the extent practicable, valuation technique makes
the maximum use of market inputs. However, where market inputs
are not available, management needs to make estimates on such

unobservable market inputs.

51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report

3

5=

45

3.6

et stAFER (2

FRiSR

FEERBTTE -EB - HESHEERR
BHEBRAENAMBRER - EETE
Hh 35 B9 P 45 75 2 8 5 78 1F H BB K Il o
FERSRAFHUAEEERLER
B-rEEREESFTE2HMEBINRE
WLst EREERRBEEREENS
F-HREFEFENRRRBERRARY
AREBEAFMAE ZEEZERTER
BEETENNAAKREIEFRSRNEER
A&

b 5h > SRR TS IR B A B (2 DU PJ AE
BARRERR N IBARIBHARMEE
RHER-EEEEEEN T UERSRIEL
MIEBEEZRE  AREMER TERK
FE SRR a5 1) BT AE M 3R B9 By ) e 7K 7 DA R
75 T8 1R B SR BE 1F B K ) i o

ERMTANAREE
HEBETMTIEANTHE LR &A%
EEeXRAGERMGHARER BE
RS ERARENBEERRT S HEST
AFHBERZHER (NAH) 2E5—
ABBERTANBETAAEENTIRR
ETREDMRIAEEERE - MERA
T EERTERAREMERTSEH
AfE 28T > MEEZERTHEAE H
EEERENFTIBRETSHABFD
flste



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Cont'd)

3.7

Recoverability of non-financial assets

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment on
an annual basis in accordance with accounting policy stated in Note
2.8.

Goodwill and other non-financial assets, mainly including property
and equipment, other intangible assets, right-of-use assets as well as
investments accounted for using equity method are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amount have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
or fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of

judgments and estimates.

Judgment is required to identify any impairment indicators existing
for any of the Group's goodwill, other non-financial assets to
determine appropriate impairment approaches, i.e., fair value
less costs of disposal or value in use, for impairment review
purposes, and to select key assumptions applied in the adopted
valuation models, including discounted cash flows and market
approach. Changing the assumptions selected by management
in assessing impairment could materially affect the result of the
impairment test and in turn affect the Group's financial condition
and results of operations. If there is a significant adverse change
in the key assumptions applied, it may be necessary to take
additional impairment charge to the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss.
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For the year ended 3| December 202

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

4.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks,

including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's

overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of

financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on

the Group's financial performance. Risk management is carried out

by the senior management of the Group.

4.1.1

(@)

Market Risk

Foreign exchange risk

The transactions of the Company are denominated
and settled in its functional currency, US$. The
Group's subsidiaries primarily operate in the PRC and
are exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect
to US$ and HK$. Therefore, foreign exchange risk
primarily arose from cash and cash equivalents in
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries when receiving or to
receive foreign currencies from overseas business

partners.

The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts to
cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts

within the exposure generated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.1 Market Risk (Cont'd)

@

Foreign exchange risk (Cont'd)

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if US$ had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, the loss before income tax for the years
ended 3|
approximately RMBI,911,000 higher/lower (31
December 2020: RMB1,934,000 higher/lower), as

a result of net foreign exchange gains/(losses) on

December 2021 would have been

translation of net monetary liabilities denominated in

US$.

For the Group's PRC subsidiaries whose functional
currency is RMB, if HK$ had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB with all other variables held
constant, the loss before income tax for the years
ended 3| December 2021 would have been
approximately RMB300 lower/higher, (31 December
2020: RMB300 lower/higher), as a result of net

foreign exchange gains/(losses) on translation of net

monetary assets denominated in HK$.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk primarily
in relation to term deposits, loans to customers, net,
long-term borrowings and short-term borrowings.
The Group generally assumes borrowings to
fund capital expenditures and working capital
requirements. The risk is managed by the Group by
maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and

floating rate borrowings.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMREE
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRAMBERZE &
4.1.1 Market Risk (Cont'd) 41| HEEE ()
(b) Interest rate risk (Cont'd) () F=ERE @)

The Group's exposures to interest rates on financial
assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the

liquidity risk management section of this Note.

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for financial
assets and financial liabilities at the end of the
reporting year. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis
is prepared assuming the amount of the liability
outstanding at the end of the reporting year was

outstanding for the whole year.

A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents
management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates. If interest rates had been
50 basis points higher and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's loss would approximately
increase by approximately RMB894,000 for the year
ended 3| December 2021 (2020: RMB806,000). This
is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to

interest rates on bank and other borrowings.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2 Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of

the Group's customers, clients or market counterparties fail

to fulfil their contractual obligations to the Group. Credit risk

arises mainly from credit facilitation service.

Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit risk exposure for risk
management purposes is complex and requires the
use of models, as the exposure varies with changes
in market conditions, expected cash flows and the
passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a
portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to
the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated
loss ratios and of default correlations between
counterparties. The Group measures credit risk using
PD, EAD and LGD. This is similar to the approach
used for the purposes of measuring ECL under IFRS

9. Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) for more details.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measurement

IFRS 9 outlines a “three-stage” model for impairment

based on changes in credit quality since initial

recognition as summarised below:

210

A financial instrument that is not credit-
impaired on initial recognition is classified in
“Stage |" and has its credit risk continuously

monitored by the Group.

If a SICR since initial recognition is identified,
the financial instrument is moved to “Stage
2" but is not yet deemed to be credit-
impaired. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (i) for
a description of how the Group determines

when a SICR has occurred.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMKRERE #@)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRABERZE &)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/HER (&)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the
financial instrument is then moved to “Stage
3", Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (i) for a
description of how the Group defines credit-

impaired and default.

Financial instruments in Stage | have their
ECL measured at an amount equal to the
portion of lifetime ECL that result from
default events possible within the next 12
months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have
their ECL measured based on ECL on a
lifetime basis. Please refer to Note 4.1.2 (b)
(iii) for a description of inputs, assumptions and
estimation techniques used in measuring the
ECL

A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in
accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should
consider forward looking information. Note
4.12 (b) (iv) includes an explanation of how
the Group has incorporated this in its ECL

models.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMKRERE @)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 41 TRRAMREZE #E)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 5/HEMR (&)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)

The following diagram summarises the impairment T (& 48F 2t B PR B 75 3R 5 ZE Al
requirements under IFRS 9: FIOWIB TR ERE :
Change in credit quality since initial recognition

BHEREDENEREENET

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3

HIBSES F2PEER HIPEER

(Initial recognition) (SICR since initial recognition) (Credit-impaired assets)

(#4aHESR) (B AmESR RS A R (ERRBEELE)
FEEIEN)

|2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL

1218 B T RS 1Rk FREHANTRIAEAEX FEIANTRIE AL

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the FiwBZER T =TBEEEH
BERE NEBRKBNRERE

FIE R RERINE

Group in addressing the requirements of the standard

are discussed below:

212

The financial instrument considered to
have experienced a SICR if the borrower is
more than | day (inclusive) past due on its
contractual payments. No qualitative criteria
is considered by the Group since the Group
monitor the risk of borrowers purely based

overdue period.

The Group has not used the low credit risk
exemption for any financial instruments for the

year ended 3| December 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMKRERE #@)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRABERZE &)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/HER (&)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)

The Group defines a financial instruments
as is in default, which is fully aligned with the
definition of credit impaired if the borrower is
more than | month (inclusive) past due on its
contractual payments. Besides, fraudulent list is
also considered by the Group for definition for

default and credit-impaired assets.

The criteria above have been applied to loan
to customers and financial guarantees held
by the Group and are consistent with the
definition of default used for internal credit risk
management purposes. The default definition
has been applied consistently to model the
PD, EAD and LGD throughout the Group's

expected loss calculations.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4

214

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

The ECL is measured on either a |2-month

(12M)

or Lifetime basis depending on whether

a SICR has occurred since initial recognition or

whether an asset is considered to be credit-

impaired. ECL are the discounted product of
the PD, EAD, and LGD, defined as follows:

The PD represents the likelihood of
a borrower defaulting on its financial
obligation (as per “Definition of default
and credit-impaired assets” above),
either over the next |2 months (12M
PD), or over the remaining lifetime

(Lifetime PD) of the obligation.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMKRERE #@)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRAMBERZE &
4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/HER (&)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)

LGD represents the Group's
expectation of the extent of loss on
a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by
type of counterparty, type and seniority
of claim and availability of collateral or
other credit support. LGD is expressed
as a percentage loss per unit of EAD.
LGD is calculated on a 12M or lifetime
basis, where [2-month LGD is the
percentage of loss expected to be made
if the default occurs in the next [2M
and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of
loss expected to be made if the default
occurs over the remaining expected

lifetime of the loan.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

Q EAD is based on the amounts the
Group expects to be owed at the time
of default, over the next 12 months
(12M EAD) or over the remaining
lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example,
for a revolving commitment, the Group
includes the current drawn balance plus
any further amount that is expected to
be drawn up to the current contractual
limit by the time of default, should it

occur
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMREE E
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRAMBERZE &

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/HER (&)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD,
LGD and EAD for each future month and for
each individual exposure or collective segment.
These three components are multiplied
together and adjusted for the likelihood of
survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or
defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively
calculates an ECL for each future month, which
is then discounted back to the reporting date
and summed. The discount rate used in the
ECL calculation is the original effective interest

rate or an approximation thereof.

The Lifetime PD is developed by looking at
how defaults develop on a portfolio from
the point of initial recognition throughout the
lifetime of the loans. The PD profile is based
on historical observed data and is assumed to
be the same across all assets within a portfolio
and credit grade band. This is supported by

historical analysis.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd)

218

For amortising products, this is based on the
contractual repayments owed by the borrower
over a |2M or lifetime basis. This will also be
adjusted for any expected overpayments made
by a borrower. Early repayment/refinance
assumptions are also incorporated into the

calculation.

The 12M and lifetime LGDs are determined
based on the factors which impact the
recoveries made post default. These vary by

product type.

Forward-looking economic information is also
included in determining the 12M and lifetime
PD, EAD and LGD. These assumptions vary by
product type. Refer to Note 4.1.2 (b) (iv) for
an explanation of forward-looking information

and its inclusion in ECL calculations.

There have been no significant changes
in estimation techniques or significant
assumptions made during the year ended 31
December 2021.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 THEAKRER E
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRABERZE &)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/HER (&)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)

The assessment of SICR and the calculation
of ECL both incorporate forward-looking
information. The Group has performed
historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and

ECL for each portfolio.

These economic variables and their associated
impact on the PD, EAD and LGD vary by
financial instrument. The Group applies expert
judgment in the forecast of these economic
variables to obtain the best estimate view of
the economy over the next one year. After one
year, to project the economic variables out for
the full remaining lifetime of each instrument,
a mean reversion approach has been used,
which means that economic variables tend to
be close to a long run average growth rate
(e.g. Producer Price Index, Consumer Price
Index) over a period of two to five years.
The impact of these economic variables on
the PD, EAD and LGD has been determined
by performing Eucilidean Distance analysis
to understand the impact changes in these
variables have had historically on default rates

and on the components of LGD and EAD.
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(®)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

In addition to the base economic scenario, the
Group also obtained other possible scenarios
along with scenario weightings from external
experts. The number of other scenarios used
is set based on the analysis of each major
product type to ensure non-linearities are
captured. The number of scenarios and their
attributes are reassessed at each reporting
date. At | January 2021 and 3| December
2021, the Group concluded that three
scenarios appropriately captured non-linearities
among all portfolios. The scenario weightings
are determined by a combination of statistical
analysis and expert credit judgement, taking
account of the range of possible outcomes
each chosen scenario is representative of. The
assessment of SICR is performed using the
Lifetime PD under each of the base, and the
other scenarios, multiplied by the associated
scenario weighting, along with qualitative
and backstop indicators (see Note 4.1.2).
This determines whether the whole financial
instrument is in Stage |, Stage 2, or Stage 3
and hence whether 12-month or lifetime ECL
should be recorded. Following this assessment,
the Group measures ECL as either a
probability weighted |12 month ECL (Stage ),
or a probability weighted lifetime ECL (Stages
2 and 3). These probability-weighted ECLs are
determined by running each scenario through
the relevant ECL model and multiplying it
by the appropriate scenario weighting (as
opposed to weighting the inputs).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 ZTHERER &)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRABERZE &)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/HER (&)

(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)

As with any economic forecasts, the
projections and likelihoods of occurrence
are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual
outcomes may be significantly different to
those projected. The Group considers these
forecasts to represent its best estimate of the
possible outcomes and has analysed the non-
linearities and asymmetries within the Group's
different portfolios to establish that the chosen
scenarios are appropriately representative of

the range of possible scenarios.

B H {th £ TR L
HRFTEMELETEM
NEFFEENSENE
BEAREEMN FILER
ERAERRAFEE
RER - FEERRE
LEARRTERY
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WM T EETREAE
BRI R HBE
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

4 TREARERE#@

41 ZWEBRREZR &
412 15/AERE (&)
(b)  ECL measurement (Cont'd) (b) TEHEAERIBLRIE @)
Economic variable assumptions B 245 E (R 3%
The most significant year-end assumptions used R2021F 128318 X%
for the ECL estimate as at 3| December 202 | 2021 1B 1B ARG
and | January 2021 are set out below. The SEREHEBEELENEE
scenarios “Base”, “"Upside” and "“Downside” BRERFIRUN T o TR ZE | ~
were used for all portfolios. TFH I RITTH®IE=
BEEBEANRMABEMA
A o
[}
2022
Producer Price Index Base 104.01
TEEVBIEH BE
Upside 106.30
+i5
Downside 102.60
Tk
Gross Domestic Product Index Base 10543
BN EELEIEH B
Upside 105.60
+5
Downside 105.10
Tk
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMKRERE #@)
4.1  Financial risk factors (Cont'd) 4| ZRRAMBERZE &

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd) 412 15/HER (&)

ECL measurement (Cont'd)

Economic variable assumptions

The weightings assigned to each economic
scenario at 3| December 2021 and | January

2021 were as follows:

b) TFEHERIEARSE @

R2021 1283 1B &
2001 EIBIB DR E
ZEKHEEENEEN

T
Base Upside Downside
B et T Bk
All portfolios FREMHEE 80% 10% 10%
Sensitivity analysis SR E T

The most significant assumptions affecting the

TEEHERBRER

ECL allowance are as follows: NEEERZWOT .

2021

RMB’000

AR®TT

Producer Price Index —1% 67
LEEVMEBIEH No change -
+1% (100)

Gross Domestic Product Index — —1% 231
NEEREIEH No change -
+1% (242)
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4 A
17177 g |

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4

224

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

4

EREEIE (2
41 TREAMRERE ZE

112 AR &)

(¢)  Credit risk exposure (0 ERRRKO
The following table contains an analysis of the credit TEREELIEREN S
risk exposure subject to impairment. The amount of TENEERR®OETT
financial assets and non-financial assets below also e T EMEERIFEE
represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit HEENESRBITNAAERT
risk. R AERRERE O
As at 3| December 2021 As at 31 December 2020
#2021512A318 120206128318
Gross Gross
carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying
Measurement category SHEER amount allowance amount amount alowance amount
IREAE BIEERE fREfE REAE BiERE REE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERBTR ARETR AREBTR ARBTT ARETR ARKET:
Non-financial asset FEMEE
Contract assets BNEE 695,357 (608,838) 86,519 638822 (603,335) 35,487
Financial assets R ENER
at amortized cost BE ERMERS
(IFRS 9) ERIFE9R)
Cash and cash equivalents ~ RERFAEZEY 313,148 - 313,148 412,684 = 412,684
Trade receivables ERERIE 232,171 (213,008) 19,163 194252 (182317) 11935
Prepayments and other B TRIEREMERRIE 190,610 (58,745) 131,865 173475 (40955) 132,520
receivables
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2  Credit risk (Cont'd)

(¢)  Credit risk exposure (Cont'd)

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 THEAKRER E
41 TREAMRER ZE
412 15/HEE (&)

(o ERARKO @

As at 31 December 2021
12021128318

As at 3| December 2020
R2020% 128318

Gross Gross

carrying Loss Carrying carrying Loss Carrying

Measurement category SEER amount allowance amount amount allowance amount

FREAME A FRE(E REAE s fREE

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTRT ARBTRT AREFR ARETR AR®TT AR%TR

Loans to customers EREM 440,586 (282,088) 158,498 453710 (282,507) 171,203

Stage | £ IR = = = = = =

Stage 2 FUEE = = = = = =

Stage 3 BIEE 286,512 (282,088) 4424 287431 (282,507) 4924

Purchased credit-impaired BACERLERARE 154,074 - 154,074 166,279 = 166,279
Financial guarantee contracts I HBREEHN

~ Quality assurance fund -RNEERES 64,479 (35,682) 28,797 812976 (790,786) 22,190

receivable

Stage | FIEE 30,493 (2,666) 27,827 19,722 (2,662) 17,060

Stage 2 FUEE 1,508 (709) 799 1,387 (701 686

Stage 3 BIEE 32478 (32,307) 171 791867 (787423) 4444

1,936,351 (1,198,361) 737,990 2685919 (1,899,900) 786019
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)
4.1.2 Credit risk (Cont'd)

(¢)  Credit risk exposure (Cont'd)

The following table contains an analysis of the
maximum credit risk exposure from financial
guarantee contracts (i.e. quality assurance fund

payable):

TRERERE (7
SHEAREE (&
412 (SRR ()

(o ERARKO @

TR HFEFRSL BIE
HEERES) NEAXERA
RO DA

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARET T

Financial guarantee contracts — MIFEREN—EIEERES

quality assurance fund payable

Stage | 5 IPEER
Stage 2 HPEER
Stage 3 FIFEEL

59,681 53,867
38,689 20,166
20,992 33,701

4.1.3  Liguidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
cash reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing
facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows, and by matching the maturity profiles of financial

assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.3  Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

The following tables detail the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities with agreed repayment
periods. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate curves

at the end of the year. The contractual maturity is based on

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 ZRERER GE
41 SRMEAREE (&
413 FEBEZRE @)

NI RBFLAEERRBIHEER
HARNERBENTIGRSNE RN
ReBRARBRDERERMEBENR
TRRERERAEBAIERER
RN EFERGRR -FRARKEH
BRERAZREREB - WA SR
ERAFPNE RITREBADHER
ERPAXRBGER - S E W
PRTH 5 A S B AT BE R 2 SR AT AR B9

the earliest date on which the Group may be required to EREHEEE-
pay.
As at 3| December 2021
12021128315
Less than Between Over
| year | — 5 years 5 years Total
rRIE I E58 HBIBSE 45t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFTE ARETR ARMTFT ARNTR
Long-term borrowings RERERR — 22,171 — 22,171
Quality assurance fund payable FENEEREE 59,681 = - 59,681
Payable to platform customers NS =E =] 79,467 - — 79,467
Short-term borrowings ISHAERR 180,261 — — 180,261
Trade payables B S EMRIE 24,521 - - 24,521
Other financial liabilities HittEmeE 257,609 - - 257,609
601,539 22,171 - 623,710
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4

228

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4 TREAREREE

41 TREABRERZE (E
4.1.3  Liquidity risk (Cont'd) 413 TEEZEE (&)
As at 31 December 2020
1220208 128318

Less than Between Over
| year | — 5 years 5 years Total
e IF | ZE5HF SEM E HB st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABBTE ARMTR ABETT ARETR
Long-term borrowings REAERR = 30,484 = 30,484
Quality assurance fund payable FENEEREE 53,867 = = 53,867
Payable to platform customers ETFaEPARIE 129,653 = = 129,653
Short-term borrowings FEEIEEN 177,872 = = 177,872
Trade payables B S RENRIE 8,149 = = 8,149
Other financial liabilities HthEm e R 276,999 - - 276999
646,540 30,484 — 677,024
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4

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.1

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.3  Liquidity risk (Cont'd)

The following table details the Group's expected maturity

for its financial assets. The tables have been drawn up based

on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial

assets including interest that will be earned on those

assets. The inclusion of information on financial assets is

necessary in order to understand the Group's liquidity risk

management as the liquidity is managed on a net asset and

liability basis.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

EREEIE (2
41 TREAMRER ZE
413 FEEZELR #B)

TR AERSHEENEE
mBR-AMERDENRERNEE
WARFREVERARRER 8F
ZEEERRIMOFE - HAZH
EEMELRB N IERAEBER
HETERNEER RAaRIES
EREEKRERFREEERE

As at 3|1 December 2021
1820214128318

Less than Over
| year 5 years Total
TRIF SEMLE “ast

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTRT AR®TRT

Financial assets at FVPL

BRARNBESAEDDN

TREE 295 83,780 84,075

Quality assurance fund receivable EWE EREFS 28,797 = 28,797
Contract assets ABNEE 86,519 - 86,519
Trade receivables B S EWEIE 19,163 = 19,163
Loans to customers, net BEREIFE 158,498 - 158,498
Restricted cash ZIRFIRE 225,092 - 225,092
Cash and cash equivalents HERIBEEEY 313,148 - 313,148
Other financial assets HitEmEE 123,986 292 124,278
955,498 84,072 1,039,570

SSRAEARAT 200 s | 229



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4

230

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.1 Financial risk factors (Cont'd)

4.1.3  Liguidity risk (Cont'd)

4

EREEIE (2
41 TREAMRERE ZE
413 TEELREE #E)

As at 31 December 2020
1220205128318

Less than Over
| year 5 years Total
RREIF SELLE w5t

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT ARBTRT ARBTT

Financial assets at FVPL

RAMEESABREN

TREE - 100,693 100,693

Quality assurance fund receivable EWE EREFS 22,190 - 22,190
Contract assets ABNEE 35487 - 35,487
Trade receivables B 5 e IE 11,935 - 11,935
Loans to customers, net BERENPEE 171,203 = 171203
Restricted cash RIRHIRE 221,735 - 221,735
Cash and cash equivalents REeKRIREEEY 412,684 = 412,684
Other financial assets HihemEE 121,971 392 122,363
997,205 101,085 1,098,290

The amounts included above for variable interest rate

instruments for both financial assets and liabilities is subject

to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those

estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the

reporting year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.2  Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and
to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’

value in the long-term.

The Group monitors capital (including share capital and capital
reserves) by regularly reviewing the capital structure. As a part of
this review, the Group considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with the issued share capital. The Group may adjust
the amount of return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or
repurchase the Company’s shares. In the opinion of the Directors,

the Group's capital risk is low.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

TRERER &

BEFERERE

FEBREREANERERRELAERR
BsRENEN UeRERREHEK RS
HMFHhEED  UREFRBEEARR
BURARRNERABEE

FEEREBERBERERARBENSAE
RES QREREANRERFEFH - FRHZE
RO—HMy  AEBEEBELRNER
HERTRAAENAR -AEETHA
BoORREBEBER ZFTHRABEE
RERM -BEFRR FEBNERER
BAE o
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TRARERE E
4.3  Fair value estimation 43  AREEMET
(@) Fair value hierarchy @ AnEEER

The following table presents the Group's assets and liabilities

that are measured at fair value

as at 31 December 2021 and

TRESAEB 2021 F %20205F
REIHEREAABEFENEER

2020: &
As at 3|1 December 2021
120215128315
Valuation techniques
and key input Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERTREESH F—4& B B=MH “ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT AREBTRT AERBTRT AR®BTT
Assets
BE
Financial assets at FVPL —  Discounted cash flow and
investments market approach. Key
assumptions mainly include
earnings growth factor,
weighted average cost of
capital (“WACC"), liquidity
discount, risk-free interest
rate and expected volatility. - - 83,780 83,780
BARBEFABEGN BRREAEBNHISES
THMEE-—KE Fo TERREIERN L
REBCMEFHER
Rz (M9 B A
) SRENEIRE - A
TR FAH R EN 1
Financial assets at FVPL Bank quoted expected return.
— wealth management
products - 295 - 295
BARBESABEN RITRMHEERRLIR-
THEE-EMER
Liabilities
afE
Financial liabilities at FVPL ~ Market stock price.
— unissued shares - 8,074 - 8,074
BARBESAEEN mHEKRE-
%Eﬁ%%—ﬂ@‘éﬁﬁ&
9}
Financial liabilities at FVPL ~ Market approach. Key
— redeemable equity assumptions mainly
instrument include risk-free interest
rate, expected volatility
and discount for lack of
marketability. - - 43,034 43,034

BARBEF B
TRE E—rI O
mIA

WmiHh it TERREEE

BB R TRER B M
BRZRENETE-

232
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMKRERE #@)
4.3  Fair value estimation (Cont'd) 43 RaEEME @&
(@)  Fair value hierarchy (Cont'd) @ KAEEER (&

As at 31 December 2020
722020 128310

Valuation techniques

and key input Level | Level 2 Level 3 Total
HERTREESH B B B=M ABEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AR®TT ARBTRT ARETT

Assets
BE
Financial assets at FVPL — Discounted cash flow. Future
investments cash flows are estimated
based on key assumptions
including perpetual growth
rate, inflation rate, weighted
average cost of capital
("WACC") and liquidity
discount. = = 100,693 100,693
BRARBESAEEN IR M EB - RIKIRE
THEE-—RE MBENKEEEX B
AREE S NI E AR A
(TN#EFHE AR A )
Fomentt i BE X Z2R%R
5T
Liabilities
af&
Financial liabilities at FVPL — Market stock price.
unissued shares = 7,370 7,370
BARBE ABT mIBRE.
ERBE-RBTRH
Financial liabilities at FVPL — Quoted contract price.
redeemable equity instrument - 40,000 - 40,000
RANBESAEEN BHEmE-

THBE-—TEOEETA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)
4.3 Fair value estimation (Cont'd)

(@)  Fair value hierarchy (Cont'd)

Level I:

Level 2:

Level 3:

234

The fair value of financial instruments traded in
active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives
and equity securities) is based on quoted market
prices at the end of the reporting period. The
quoted marked price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price. These

instruments are included in level |.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-
counter derivatives) is determined using valuation
techniques which maximise the use of observable
market data and rely as little as possible on entity-
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required
to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument
is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted

equity securities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd)

4.3 Fair value estimation (Cont'd)

®)

Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

inputs

The following table presents the changes in level 3 asset
instruments for the years ended 31 December 2021 and
2020:

4

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

TR EE (@)
43  RREEMGE E)
(b) REHEEZTOEEGAEFTEIIAN
n1EE

TREHEZF2021 FEK20205%F 128
SIHEEEEZHEETIENE
EI

Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBFT

At the beginning of the year REY 100,693 153318
Fair value losses NaEBEREEL (13,708) (37,580)
Disposals HE (3,205) (15,045)
At the end of the year REXR 83,780 100,693

0) Transfers between the levels and changes in valuation

techniques

For the year ended 3| December 2021 and
2020, there were no significant transfers between
level | and level 2 fair value measurements. The
transfers into level 3 fair value measurements were
resulted from the changes of inputs in fair value

measurements.

) BRZEHEEREERITN
=L

B E2021 F KR2020F 124
3B IR BB AREELT
BmARBEFEZEHEE
YBEREE -AFI/BRAD
BES=EENANBES
ENEABEBFA -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 TREAMREE
4.3  Fair value estimation (Cont'd) 43 PaEEME &
(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable (b) RAEZTOEERGEA B EHA
inputs (Cont'd) AEE (4B
(i) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (i) fAEEAEREADEENRM
%

As at 31 December 2021, the level 3 instruments
were mainly equity investments at FVPL and
redeemable equity instrument. As the equity
investments and redeemable equity instrument are
not traded in an active market, its fair value has been
determined using discounted cash flows and market
approach. Major assumptions used in the valuation
include risk-free interest rate, expected volatility,
discount for lack of marketability, perpetual growth
rate, inflation rate, WACC and liquidity discount
etc. Discount rate was estimated by WACC as at
each reporting date. The managements estimated
the risk-free interest rate based on the yield of
China Government Bond with a maturity life equal
to period from the respective reporting date to

expected cash flow date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4

4.3  Fair value estimation (Cont'd)
(b)  Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

inputs (Cont'd)

(i) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

(Cont'd)

The following table summarizes the quantitative
information about the significant unobservable inputs

used in level 3 value measurements:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

TRERERE (7
43 AABEEES E

t) EEEETTEEBAEFENA
AAEE ()

(i HEBAERERADEENH
% (#&)

TREZEEIEREEER
EANEZEFRTBERBAE
WEEBEER :

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to

Description Unobservable inputs fair value
FBRBAER
ks FEIBRBAE AREENREE
Financial assets at FVPL — Expected volatility Increased expected volatility by 10% and higher risk-free interest
investments REPRE rate by 10% would increase fair value by approximately
BAnEES ABEN RMBB844,000; lower expected volatility by 10% and lower
EHMEE-RE Risk-free interest rate risk-free interest rate by 10% would decrease fair value by
R AR approximately RMB3,058,000.

Earnings growth factor
BARERAY

WACC
MEFEEARR A

Financial liabilities at FVPL — Expected volatility
redeemable equity instrument TRERE
BRARBEFABER
TRBE-TELERTA  Discount for lack of marketability
BRZREMLITE

BRI RS Rk ERRTERES 0% AIAREER
BINA A\ R8440007T ; BN B RMR I 0% R AR A
KT 10% BIA A BER R DA AR HE30580007T °

Increased earnings growth factor by 10% and lower WACC by
10% would increase fair value by approximately RMBI 1,345,000;
lower earnings growth factor by 10% and higher WACC by 10%
would decrease fair value by approximately RMB9,235,000.

BB RABIRES 0 RMETIERRAREI0% 8I2
AEEREMAHARE13450007 ; BAERABFEE
|0%RNETIERRALRS 0% WA ABERRIDL
A E#9,235,00070 °

Increased expected volatility by 0% and higher discount for lack of
marketability by 10% would decrease fair value by approximately
RMB2,258,000; lower expected volatility by 10% and lower
discount for lack of marketability by 10% would increase fair
value by approximately RMB2,145,000

BHRBRS RRZRBENERS 0% AAAE
B D49 A\ R 62,258 0007 5 TREBIREN M FRAE10% R
Rz RBEATBREI0% BIAREEFENAARE
2,145,007z
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

4 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont'd) 4 THEARER E
4.3  Fair value estimation (Cont'd) 43 AREEME &
(c)  Fair values of other financial instruments (© EBfttz@ T AN AEE
The Group also has a number of financial instruments which AEBERFBETSEGEHHERR
are not measured at fair value in the consolidated statement RPERERLAABEFENETMT
of financial position such as loans to customers, trade and B NMEBERER B EEMERK
other receivables, borrowings and other payables. For these MIE~ B EAMEA RIS B0
instruments, the fair values are not materially different to EETE A EEHEEERBE
their carrying amounts, since the interest rate is close to REBEMER AANEZELE
current market rates, or the instruments are short-term in AR R N EZETEIHEH
nature. B ©
5  CREDIT FACILITATION AND SERVICE FEE 5 EERARERBE
Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBEF T
Upfront credit facilitation service fee ARG ERERBGE 137,020 26,507
Post credit facilitation service fee BHEERAREE 100,391 68,920
237411 95427
Note: The unsatisfied performance obligation as at 3/ December 2021 was Htat D R2021 412531 H K Z R BAIEFA AN R

approximately RMB50,190,000. Management expects that |00% of the
transaction price allocated to the unsatisfied contracts as at 3/ December

2021 will be recognized as revenue within the next twelve months.
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OTHER REVENUE

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

Year ended 3| December

HENAIALEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

AREFT AR¥F T

Overdue charges HEAE B 11,168 12,583
Referral service fee NERBE 10,233 26,585
Others Hth 30,108 19,059
51,509 58227

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the executive
directors of the Company who reviews consolidated results of the
Group when making decisions about resources allocation and assessing
the performance of the Group. The executive directors consider that
the Group operates in one business segment and the measurement of
segment result is based on “Operating (loss)/profit” as presented in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive loss.

The majority of the Group's activities are carried out in mainland China
during the years presented and the majority of the Group's assets
and liabilities are located in mainland China. Accordingly, no analysis by

geographical basis for the years are presented.

There is no concentration risk as no revenue from a single external
customer was more than 10% of the Group total revenue for the year
ended 3| December 2021. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
Group customer base is diversified and includes only China Bohai Bank
Co,, Ltd. with whom transactions have exceeded 0% of the Group

revenues.

The Group's non-current assets other than financial instruments were

located in the PRC as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

SERE R
FERERKEREEARABNNITES
HEMFHEMERD NIRRT EAEEK
RRERAEENGEEZE - WTESRAS
EERE—BAEBEIBRDBEESEDE
Rira2EEBRMEIN EE (518) &
FJo

RERFEN AEENKBOEINFEA

MHEEREAEBNABOEEKRERUNRTE
Ao Flit - RERFEANREZ25 Lt ES
DR DA

B E202I1FI2A3IBIEFE BB EMRE
BEBEENRDBBAEBWENI0%IIU L
FEEEDTARK BHZE2020F 12831 HIEE
B> ~EEFARLZBEEPREANEHRETER
REANN R BB A EBURAY 0% Lo

7202 | £ 2020 12831 H AEBRKER T
BANNIEREEEHS MR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

8  EXPENSES BY NATURE 8 BHEEISHEX

Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®EFTT

Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) RERAF (H5E9) 168,180 202,191
External technical service fees HMEB H T AR 75 96,414 108,132
Fund transfer charges BESERER 78,421 61,734
Marketing and advertising fees S RESE 44,469 55,343
Depreciation and amortization 8 R 5 27,247 73,589
Professional service fees HERKE 16,631 20,688
Office expenses WAL 8,266 9,947
Auditor's remuneration ZEEMEN = 3,580 3,680
Others Hth 26,751 45,178

Total amount of origination and servicing expenses, ¥FIE & ARFSBISE ~ — MR B ATERIXZ
general and administrative expenses, research and 85 FASZ R EH & K i tH B2 B4R RN

development expenses and sales and marketing

expenses 469,959 580,482
Note: Incremental costs to obtain arrangements where the Group is not the Wit - RIS S aE KB #2525 — B UL T » B EV72
loan originator are generally expensed off when incurred, because the 7K B F Y FE B A S B L BRI 8 A 7 — AR
amortization periods of these incremental costs are one year or less. These JREFEFEL 1Y 0 32 R K 353 BE B S B R A
costs are recorded as sales and marketing expenses. Bt o
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R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

9  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 ESEFNRAX
Year ended 3| December
BENAIALEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®EFTT
Wages, salaries and bonuses TITE -#re RIEA 106,661 127,425
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BARERA—REMRRE 13,591 8,389
Other social security costs, housing benefits and Ht Rl A s B RN &
other employee benefits HihiEE=EF] 12,275 17,338
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 31) MRGD 2 E R INRESZ (9EE31) 35,653 49,039
168,180 202,191
Note: Majority of the Group's contributions to pension plans are related to FHE © 2K EE [ A 25538t o (1 20 £ o B 25 fE S AT

the local employees in the PRC. All local employees of the subsidiaries in
the PRC participate in employee social security plans established in the
PRC, which cover pension, medical and other welfare benefits. According
to the relevant regulations, the portion of premium and welfare benefit
contributions that should be borne by the companies within the Group
as required by the above social security plans are principally determined
based on percentages of the basic salaries of employees. The applicable
percentages used to provide for these social security plans for the years
ended 3/ December 2021 and 2020 are listed below:

] o FH BT /B A Bl B BT 5 2 1E B 459 22 £ i ]
BIES T B RIESE] > B1i5E = BERAM
HEF o IRIF B FIFER - _Fht B IRIES1EFTALE
B 7K B 22 F L\ B B R IELT R R 45 R K
FTEHESEEIFEZEHIEET HE20215F
Ke20204F 12531 H IEF EH Bt (R 51 88978
B HEE#&ZIAT

Percentage-202|  Percentage-2020
BAE—20219F B —2020F

Fension insurance BIKIREE
Medical insurance EERE
Unemployment insurance KERE
Housing fund tEEZ

14.0-16.0% 14.0% — 16.0%

9.8-10.8% 6.0% - 11.7%
05-08% 05% - 08%
50%-12.0% 50% - 12.0%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

9  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont'd) 9 EERARX #E
(@)  Senior management’s remuneration @ BHREEASHNE

Senior management includes directors and other senior executives. SHhEBAEBOEEEREMMIRITH
ANEB-HREERBEMEN FEHLF SR

EEASRBFHIINT

The aggregate compensation paid/payable to senior management

for employee services, is as follows:

Year ended 3| December

HENAJHLEE

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRE  AREFR

Salaries e 3,835 2,429

Discretionary bonus EYIBTEAT 1,333 1,244

Pension costs — defined contribution plan BAKERAE—REHRREE 189 44
Other social security costs, housing benefits ~ E it R A~ F B EF K&

and other employee benefits HiteB=F 377 290

Share-based compensation expenses DD AERB B X 24,739 40,650

30,473 44,657

The aggregate compensation paid/payable to senior management MEERFMEN/ENTEHREEAE
FEEFBERRINHEEIONES) 8

MEFMWT -

for employee services excluding the directors, whose details have

been reflected in Note 10, is as follows:

Year ended 3| December

BENA33BALEEE

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREBFT

Salaries e 1,078 |,128

Discretionary bonus BBTEAT 144 394

Pension costs-defined contribution plan BARERA—FREEREE 54 25
Other social security costs, housing benefits ~ Efttt R A ~ F B R &

and other employee benefits Hig B1&F] 122 137

Share-based compensation expenses ARG AR 7% BT AV S B B <2 594 14,827

1,992 16511

242
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EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont'd)

@)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Senior management’s remuneration (Cont'd)

The emoluments of the senior management fell within the

following bands:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

9 EERNEX &
() BREZASNHE @

BREEASNHFMAFLUTER :

Number of individuals

AH
2021 2020

HK$nil to HK$ 1,000,000

HK$ 1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000
HK$9,000,001 to HK$9,500,000
HK$9,500,001 to HK$ 10,000,000
HK$ 14,000,001 to HK$ 14,500,000
HK$ 18,000,001 to HK$ 18,500,000
HK$20,500,001 to HK$2 1,000,000

T ITE 1,000,000 7T I =
1,500,001 7 7T Z£2,000,00078 7T 2 =
2,500,001 78 7T 2 3,000,00078 7T I |
3,500,001 87T Z4,000,00078 7T = I
9,000,001 7 75 Z£9,500,00078 7T I =
9,500,001 77T & 10,000,00078 7T - |
14,000,001 77T Z 14,500,00078 75 = I
18,000,001 7875 2 18,500,00078 75 — |
20,500,001 75 Z21,000,00078 75 I =
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B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

10

244

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended

31 December 2021 is set out as follows:

Director’s
fee

EEE
RMBO0O R

Salaries

i
MBO0O

ARETT ARETR

EEH
BE202F1N2A3IHEEFEFRBGREEHN
FENESIMT
Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
costs- benefits Share-
defined and other based
Discretionary ~ contribution employee  compensation
bonus plan benefits expenses Total
BhE  EHHR
HE-  HEEE NRGA
REMS  BAREM b= i
R 8 EERA HMRX At

RMBO0O RMBOOO RMBO0O RMBO0O RMBOOD
ARBTT  AEETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

Executive directors BTER

Sun Hattao (2) HEEQ - 618 470 3 69 15,965 17,155

Zheng HaiGuo(e) BEE(e) - 1,047 144 25 54 99 2,266

Zhu JianFei(d) KRIR() - 710 575 57 8 6,87 7617

Zhao Ke (¢) () - 38 - 2 4 997 1,443

Non-executive director FHTER

ZouYunli (f) BEE( - - - - - - -

Yu Jin (€) T = = = = = = =

Independent non-executive directors BUEHTES

WongTi (g) e 266 - - - - - 266

Ye Xiang (g) £ 249 - - - - - 249

Xu Xuchu(h) B30 208 - - - - - 208
m 2757 1,189 135 255 24,145 29,204

The total amount of share-based compensation to be expensed is
determined by making reference to the fair value of the options and
RSUs at the grant date, which does not represent the actual cashflow the
Company paid out to the Directors during the year ended 3| December
2021 and 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Cont'd) 10 EEHBM E
The remuneration of every director of the Company for the year ended HEXNOFENBIIIHIEFEFEAATELESH
31 December 2020 is set out as follows: HFENES T
Other social
security costs,
Pension housing
costs- benefits Share-
defined and other based
Director’s Discretionary  contribution employee  compensation
fee Salaries bonus plan benefits expenses Total
Hitht R
Bfhe BEEE
A — 'R URHA
REMD  HifES Einy
EENE #E  BBEL gl B FMEX fmst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARBTT ARETR ARBTT ARETT ARETR
Executive directors HiTES
Sun Haitao (a) %EA() = 557 550 6 57 14966 16,136
Yang Yuzhi (b) L ES() = 302 = 7 37 3098 3444
Zhao Ke (c) (@) — 441 300 7 59 7759 8566
Non-executive director EHITESR
ZouYunli () BEE(N - - - - - - -
Independent non-executive directors  BILFFHITES
WongTi (g) EiR(9) 320 = = = = = 320
Ye Xiang (g) E5(0) 300 - - - - - 300
Yang Dong (i) 1) 82 = = = = = 82
Xu Xuchu(h) HIBA(h) 182 - - - - - 182
884 1,300 850 20 153 25823 29,030
Notes: Vo=

@ Appointed as director of the Company in September 20/ 7;

(b) Resigned in April 2020;

© Resigned in September 2021,

(d)  Appointed as director of the Company in September 202 1;

(e) Appointed as director of the Company in February 2021;

® Appointed as director of the Company in November 2017;

(e Appointed as director of the Company in February 2018;

(h) Appointed as director of the Company in April 2020;

) Appointed as director of the Company in June 2019, and resigned in April

2020

0) Except for Ms. Zou Yunli, who waived remunerations amounting to
HK$1,000 for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively,

no director waived or has agreed to waive any remuneration during the

years ended 31 December 202 | and 2020.

@  FR2017FIFEZFRARNEESE ]
(b)  FR2020F45 FHE S

(0  FR2021E9H BHE ;

(@  F2021FF BEEFRELNEESE
(e)  F202| 2B EZFHALNEESE ]
(0 FR0I7F| | FEETRHIATEE
@  FR20I8F2HEZFHBELNEESE
(h)  FE2020F415 BZFRELNEESE S

() F2019F6F B Z T AL ERRIC20205F4
B BHE S

) BEZEXL (R E2021F K20204F (25
31 HIFFE R RIE 000 T HIFB) 5) 2 Bt 2
2021 F20204E 12531 HIFFZ > B EEFEHNE
BE[B] AT 17 Bl
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

Il FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS I EREEHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group HENIFEFNA3IBEFEFE RERFTLE S
for the year ended 31 December 2021 include 3 (2020: 3) directors HENA T EEIBRES (20204 : 3%) » HFFEM
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note |0.The R EMEEIOPF REY D AT c EL E 2021 FE 12831
emoluments payable to the remaining 2 individuals for the year ended 31 HIEFEE  BEAER T2 AL (20204 : 2%) B9
December 2021 (2020: 2) are as follows: SFENTOE :

Year ended 3| December
BENAIHLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT

Salaries e 1,282 802
Discretionary bonus BBTEAT 80 394
Pension costs — defined contribution plan BARERAE—FREEREE 66 19
Other social security costs, housing benefits and Htt R A s B RN &
other employee benefits Hitg B1@F] 139 120
Share-based compensation expenses ARG AR 7% BT AV i BN B S2 3,470 14,025
5,037 15,360
The emoluments fell within the following bands: FENA L TEE

Number of individuals

BEAH

2021 2020
HK$nil to HK$ 1,000,000 LT E 1,000,0007 75 - -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 78 75 £2,500,0007%8 75 | =
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,00 | 7 75 2 3,000,00078 7T -
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,00 | 87T 2£4,000,00078 7T | =
HK$ 14,000,001 to HK$ 14,500,000 14,000,001 78 75 & 14,500,00078 75 =

2 2

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the ETMEN AERTEDITARAERSHMA
five individuals with the highest emoluments as an inducement to join or T IEFENEA M AR I A 2~ & B B 2 22 B
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. SEEE 2B

246 | 51 CREDIT CARD INC. 2021 Annual Report



12

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS

The composition of ECL provided for the years ended 31 December

2021 and 2020 is as follows:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

TEHAS R85
HE2021 FEK2020F 1283 1 HIEEE  BHEHN
TEHA(S IR ¢

Year ended 3| December

BENA33BALEEE

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBF T

Trade receivables (Note 26) B 5 EURIE (Mis26) 30,691 107,055
Prepayments and other receivables FENT TIB K EL A FE U FRIE 17,790 40,955
Contract assets (Note 25) SHEE (IE25) 5,503 141,596
Loans to customers, net (Note 27) EREREEE (f5827) (419) 1,033
Quality assurance fund (Note 24) HEREE (524) (38,167) 374,826
15,398 665,465

OTHER LOSSES, NET

Hthg5 18788

Year ended 31 December

BENRAJALEEFEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®EFT ARETTT
Impairment loss (a) BEER(2) (151,720) (424,583)
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVPL BARBEGFABGNEMREEN
NABERIE (13,711) (37,580)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of financial assets as FVPL HERANBES ABREN
TREENNE S (K8) 1,389 (5,162)
Government grants (b) B B (b) 6,631 7,841
Interest expenses to trust senior tranche holders  {S5CBLARIFE ANFIEREX - (52)
Others Hih 3,369 (7.263)
(154,042) (466,799)
SIERAEAERAR 202 £EHs 247
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

13 OTHER LOSSES, NET (Cont'd)

13 HtE5iEFEE (@

(@)  The composition of impairment loss provided for the years ended (a)

31 December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

B E2021 F 52020F 12831 HIEFE 5 #

HRVREREARNT !

Year ended 3| December

BENA33BALEEE

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARET T

Impairment on intangible assets (Note 19) R B ERE (I5E19) (148,903) (344,722)
Impairment on investments accounted for AR EARNKEERE (F5220)

using equity method (Note 20) (2,817) (79,861)

(151,720) (424,583)

(b)  Government grants represented various subsidies granted by the (b)

government authorities which are not assets related.

14 FINANCE EXPENSES, NET

\\\\\\

14 BAFSRSIFER

BB R R T2 AR

Year ended 3| December

HENAIBLEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREFTT
Finance income A
Interest income on bank deposits IRITFEAF] B A (5,542) (13/431)
Finance income BAFSUR A (5,542) (13,431)
Finance expenses HEAZ
Interest and finance charges paid/payable for MIZEHE A ENEMAE
financial liabilities at amortised cost B AR BRI E R 13,964 16,722
Exchange (gain)/loss, net ER (K& B854 (897) 127
Finance expenses AR 13,067 16,849
Finance expenses, net A 55 7,525 3418
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

I5 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

I5 FriSHBEx

Year ended 3| December

HENAIALEE

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTT

Current income tax BIHBRR 18R (1,436) 4,841
Deferred income tax IRIEPRISTA 51,229 280,959
49,793 285,800

The tax on the Group's loss before income tax differs from the

theoretical amount that would arise using the statutory tax rate applicable

to loss of the consolidated entities as follows:

B2 T XF

FERE RIS NATGIENIRIERRRF B S H
ERGREANEAERIABREENERS

Year ended 31 December

BENRAJALEEFEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT
Loss before income tax: PREFISMIAIRSIE (210,908) (1,430,606)
Tax calculated at PRC statutory income tax R EE E PRSI IR 5% 5T E /Y
rate of 25% IE (52,727) (357,652)
Tax effects of: MTIERIBHNMIEE .
Preferential income tax rates applicable to B ATEENERFERRE
subsidiaries 19,219 33,697
Goodwill impairment not deductible for AR B ERE
tax purpose - 75710
Tax losses not recognized for W R LR PRSI B E RN
deferred income tax assets (Note 22) RIEEE (sE22) 30,654 90,969
Deductible temporary differences not I SR IEPTISR & AEFE ST HY
recognized for deferred income tax assets AR R ERE 8,717 128,884
Other permanent differences HokA M ZEZE 12,213 18,523
Utilization of unrecognized deductible FERAFFEEREEA
temporary differences in prior years 0 B 1 A= RE (31,382) (1,563)
Derecognition of previously recognized R IEREST A R R IR AR TR &
deferred tax assets 66,630 297,378
Research and development tax credit st BRI % (3,531) (146)
Income tax expense FriS#Ex 49,793 285,800
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

I5

250

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)

The Group's main applicable taxes and tax rates are as follows:

Cayman Islands

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands. Under the current
tax laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company is not subject to tax on
income or capital gains. In addition, no withholding tax will be imposed on

dividends distributed by the Company to its shareholders.

BVI
The Group's entities incorporated in BVI are not subject to tax on

income or capital gains.

HK
The Group's entities incorporated in HK are subject to profits tax rate of

16.5%.

The PRC

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law"),
the enterprises incorporated in mainland China are generally subject to a
uniform enterprise income tax rate of 25%, except for entities qualified as
“Software Enterprise”, “High and New Technology Enterprise”(“HNTE")
or “Small Low-profit Enterprise” for which preferential tax treatments are

granted under EIT Law.

Dingli Technology, Yiniu Network and Kaizhuo Technology were qualified
as HNTEs in 2017; Yaku Shikong and Shouhui Shidai were qualified as
HNTEs in 2018; Enniu Network and Zhenniu Information were qualified
as HNTEs in 2019.Yaku Shikong renewed its HNTEs qualification in 2021.
They were entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 15% for three

years. The HNTE qualification is subject to renewal every three years.

All other subsidiaries of the Company established in mainland China were

subject to enterprise income tax rate of 25%.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont'd)

Withholding Tax on Undistributed Profits

According to the EIT Law, distribution of profits earned by the companies
in the PRC since | January 2008 to foreign investors is subject to
withholding tax of 5% or 10%, depending on the country of incorporation
of the foreign investor, upon the distribution of profits to overseas-

incorporated immediate holding companies.

The Group does not have any plan to require its subsidiaries in the
PRC to distribute their retained earnings and intends to retain them to
operate and expand its business within the PRC. Accordingly, no deferred
income tax liability on withholding tax for the undistributed profits of the

subsidiaries in the PRC has been accrued.

LOSS PER SHARE

(@)  Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss of the Group
for the year attributable to owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the

year.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

PRSI (&)

R IKEF R TR

RBEEMSRE ERNBIEMAINE
BIER A E 2 Ko A B P EIR A 52008
F IR I HEBIREIINGEE 2 IKFT REBY @ F A
5% 0% X BAATEIN RN - | F AR IMNR
BE M ILFTEH-TE

AERLEFBERAPEBEANNE LS DK
HEZ&EF BERAEPEREARNBASRFRE
HEEMUEPREEANCERIRERER -
I BEMRPEREAWERE R IKEH ELE
RN AMNIRIEFSRERE-

FEE

() SREXEBENESATEDAESEE
4 [ £F 7Y A5 1R B LU 79 5T 2 B AR T
BT L E -

Year ended 31 December

HENAIALEE

2021 2020
Loss attributable to owners of RRFEA ANELEE
the Company (RMB'000) (ANR®BFT) (233,687) (1,699,071)
Weighted average number of BEITEBERMETEH
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F5) 1,211,852 1,088,786
Basic loss per share (expressed in RMB) SREAEE UAREYT) (0.19) (1.56)
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

16

252

LOSS PER SHARE (Cont'd)

(®)

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted (b)
average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume

conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 3| December
2021 and 2020, the potential ordinary shares were not included in
the calculation of dilutive loss per share, as their inclusion would be
anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per share for the years ended

31 December 2021 and 2020 is the same as basic loss per share.

l6 FEHREE &)

EREBEBERADURREBMAARER
BEFENTERMBABRETEINE S
RN FHHHN St E

HRAEBENEZE2021 F%2020F 128
SIHIEFEEEFE REtEESRE
EHEBRIESRBTEER FERZ
ARBEEERKEARBELE-
It B 202 1 FE 20204 12831 B LEEE
NEREEHIENSGREKREGEBER -

Year ended 3| December

HENAIHLEE

2021 2020

Loss attributable to owners of /NI = DN () o =

the Company (RMB'000) (ANREBFT) (233,687) (1,699,071)
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITEBERMETEHE (TR

shares in issue ('000) 1,211,852 1,088,786
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FEFA 5T E SR HEEMN

for calculation of diluted loss per ZERMEFHE (T

share ('000) 1,211,852 1,088,786
Diluted loss per share SRE#EEEE UAREIIT)

(expressed in RMB) (0.19) (1.56)
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

17 WERRERRE

Computer Office
and electronic ~ furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk MARAR
BT R R HERE £ RE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARBTR ARETRT ARBTR ARETRT ARETR
(Note (a))
(5% ()
Cost A
As at | January 2021 R021FIA18 87,435 14,708 85,440 105,215 1,813 294,611
Additions e 200 39 198 - 1376 1,813
Disposal RE (332) (1,626) — — (658) (2,616)
As at 31 December 2021 20214128318 87,303 13,121 85,638 105,215 2,531 293,808
Accumulated depreciation REE
As at | January 2021 R021EIA1R (75,/415) (14,571) (64,089) (17,492) (1,107) (172,674)
Depreciation charge for the year (b) ~ ERITER(b) (5,/479) (86) (7,898) (4,998) (424) (18,885)
Disposal RE 300 1,542 - - 641 2,483
As at 31 December 2021 2021128318 (80,594) (13,115) (71,987) (22,490) (890) (189,076)
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2021 120215128318 6,709 6 13,651 82,725 1,641 104,732
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

17

254

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Cont'd)

=

17 MEKRREFEE

Computer Office
and electronic ~ furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment  improvements Building vehicles Total
Bk HWAKAER
BYwfE xfE  HEEE kS AE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARBTR ARETR AREBTR
Cost A
As at | January 2020 120201818 102,625 19,530 93983 105215 1813 323,166
Additions NE 708 1264 366 - - 2338
Disposal RE (15,898) (6,086) (8,909) - - (30,893)
As at 31 December 2020 12020F 128318 87435 14708 85440 105,215 1813 294611
Accumulated depreciation RErE
As at | January 2020 120201818 (66,324) (17,805) (46571) (12494) (787) (143,981)
Depreciation charge for the year (b) R ERE X (b) (22473) (1,545) (19,393) (4,998) (320) (48729)
Disposal RE 13,382 4779 1,875 = = 20036
As at 31 December 2020 12020128318 (75415) (14571) (64,089) (17492) (1,107) (172,674)
Net book value REFE
As at 31 December 2020 120205128318 12,020 137 21,351 87,723 706 121,937
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Cont'd)

@

As at 31 December 2021, building with net book value of
approximately RMB82,725,000 (2020: RMB87,723,000) was
pledged as security for bank borrowings and bank guarantees
(Note 32).

Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated

statement of comprehensive loss as follows:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

MERSEZE B

(2 #E2021F128318  KEAFENARE
82,725,0007T ( 2020£ : AR #87,723,000
70) NI FH A ERITE R R IRITHERD
IR (F5E32) ©

(b) FMERIXBBUTHIARNGERZEEGEERX
B -

Year ended 3| December
BENANBLEFE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBFT

Origination and servicing expenses R R AR 8,550 25,339
Sales and marketing expenses HE REHAZ 1,611 1,949
General and administrative expenses — R ITH R 2,519 8,284
Research and development expenses i85 BE ST 6,205 13,157

18,885 48,729
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

18

256

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

LEASES

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee.

@)

Lease related balances recognized in the consolidated statement

of financial position

18 FHE
AN IR A EEELEBANEEER

@ RESMFRIRAEDNESHRSER

As at 31 December

®12A31H8
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ANREFT
Right-of-use assets FEHESE
Buildings BT 5,392 6,373
Lease liabilities HE&R
Current e (3,551) (2,988)
Non-current JEmE (1,051) (1,828)
(4,602) (4.816)

Additions to the right-of-use assets were approximately

RMB3,932,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. (2020:

RMB1,890,000)

Lease related amounts recognized in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive loss

HE20IFENA3IBLEEEARENEHR
B EAN ANRK3,932,0007T (20204 :
AR #81,890,0007T) °

b) RESEEBERAESNEAERMEE

Year ended 3| December

BENA3BALEEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBTT
Depreciation charge for the year ERITERS (4,804) (16717)
Interest expense (included in finance expense) fI| B B3 (5 A BA TSR %) 90 741
Expense relating to short-term leases BAOHATA E BRI X
(included in operating expenses) (5 A AR pE ) 638 94

The total cash outflow for leases were approximately

RMB4,146,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021. (2020:

RMB10,003,000)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

19 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19 BEEE
Payment
Goodwill Software Platform  Applications licence  Trademark Total

Be Rt 8 BR  XfIRER Bk Hast
RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB000  RMB000 ~ RMB000  RMB000  RMB000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTRT ARETR ARBTR ARBTT ARETR

(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(GER)) (FtE(b))

Cost %3
As at | January 2021 120211 A18 482,377 25,828 9,810 3,260 499,000 5272 1,025,547
Addition from purchases BERE - 464 - - - - 464
As at 31 December 2021 20214128318 482,377 26,292 9,810 3,260 499,000 5272 1,026,011
Accumulated amortization Rty
As at | January 2021 120211 A18 - (21,299) (9,647) (1,277) - (1,677) (33,900)
Amortization charge for the year T PIEESHRIS

(Note (¢)) (M3E()) - (2.810) (163) = = (585) (3,558)
As at 31 December 2021 20215128318 - (24,109) (9.810) (1,277) - (2,262) (37,458)
Impairment losses AERE
As at | January 2021 20211 A 18 (448,630) - - (1,983) (39,897) - (490,510)
Addition RE = = = = (148,903) - (148,903)
As at 31 December 2021 20214128318 (448,630) - - (1,983) (188,800) - (639,413)
Net book value REEE
As at 3| December 2021 #2021%128318 33,747 2,183 - - 310,200 3,010 349,140
Cost A
As at | January 2020 120201 A 18 482377 24,676 9810 3,260 499,000 5272 1024395
Addition from purchases BERE - 1,152 - = = = [,152
As at 31 December 2020 120205128318 482,377 25828 9810 3260 499,000 5272 1,025,547
Accumulated amortization Rty
As at | January 2020 20201 A 18 - (15,705) (7,684) (1,277) - (1,091) (25,757)
Amortization charge for the year T PIEESHRIS

(Note (¢)) (ME () = (5,594) (1,963) = = (586) (8,143)
As at 31 December 2020 12020128318 - (21,299) 9.647) (1,277) - (1,677) (33,900)
Impairment losses AERE
As at | January 2020 120201 A 18 (145,788) = = = = = (145,788)
Addition B (302,842) - - (1,983) (39,897 - (344,722)
As at 31 December 2020 120206128318 (448,630) - - (1,983) (39.897) - (490510
Net book value REEE
As at 3| December 2020 12020128318 33747 4529 163 - 459,103 3595 501,137
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

19

258

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

@)

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is monitored at the CGU level determined by the
management. The management has assessed and determined that
the Group operates in two CGUs, namely China Netcom unit
(“China Netcom Unit") and other operating business excluding
China Netcom Unit (“Core Unit").

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, goodwills are allocated to the
Group's CGUs identified as follow:

19

Erred

—~ N

ny

a

WEE #&)

g R ER
HENDHEEERNREELEEMER
ETER EEENMIREAERE
EMEREEESEMU P EMEEEQ
(THRFREBEN) REEPEAEEMIN
HiiEEmzx (RO E) -

K202 1 EE 2020 128318 DR EARE
BRSELBUMBENRINT

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARF T
Core Unit ZNBB AL — _
China Netcom Unit R AEEEE i 33,747 33,747
33,747 33,747

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, goodwill of approximately
RMB33,747,000 was recognized as the results of the acquisition of
China Netcom in 2017 by the Group.

Impairment review on the goodwill of the Group has been
conducted by the management as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
according to IAS 36 "Impairment of assets". For the purpose of
impairment review, the recoverable amount of China Netcom Unit
containing goodwill is determined based on the higher amount of

the FVLCD and value in use calculations.

As at 3|1 December 2021, the recoverable amount of China
Netcom Unit containing goodwill was determined based on
FVLCD, which was estimated by management with reference to the
quoted market price of China Netcom's listed shares on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange").
Management considered the recoverable amount of China Netcom
Unit containing goodwill was higher than its carrying amount as at
3| December 2021.

Based on the assessment, no impairment on China Netcom Unit
containing goodwill was required for the year ended 31 December
2021 (2020: RMB15,206,000).
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19  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

Impairment tests for payment licence

The Group's payment licence which arose from the acquisition
of Kaizhuo Technology on 31 December 2017 is carried at cost
less any subsequent impairment loss, and is considered to have an
indefinite useful life based on the following grounds:

(b)

0

(if)

(i)

The payment licence was valid and granted by People's Bank
of China (“PBOC") which is renewable every 5 years with
immaterial administrative expenses;

The management of the Company considered that there
would be no practical difficulties in the application for
payment licence renewal; and

The Company has tested whether the payment licence
with indefinite useful life had suffered any impairment on an
annual basis by conducting an annual review to determine
whether the latest events and circumstances continue to
support an indefinite useful life assessment.

Based on the impairment review by the management, impairment
indicators were noted for the Core Unit and payment licence and
caused the changes in key assumptions, which was primarily due to
the following factors:

)

In the first half of 2021, the local Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Bureau instructed certain financial institutions
in the industry to control the interest rate of personal
loans product within 24% and set a transitional period for
adjustment, which resulting in that the estimated income
and profit of credit facilitation business would be adversely
affected by the interest rate decrease;

In the first half of 2021, the Group restarted its credit
facilitation business targeting new borrowers who
participate in personal loan products on the Company's
platform for the first time, to maintain income and profit in
response to interest rate decrease guidance as mentioned
above. However;, the delinquency rate of new borrowers
was higher than expected. Management has adopted a more
prudent strategy and focused on higher quality original
borrowers and reduces the expected volume of credit
facilitation for new borrowers in the future.

The People's Bank of China released the Non-bank Payment
Institution Ordinance (Exposure Draft) in January 2021
which further standardized normative measures on third-
party payment business. The estimated income and profit
of payment service business would be adversely affected as
more compliance cost occurred by such strict compliance
requirements and resulting in tensed business space for non-
bank payment institution expansion in the future.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

19 EBEEE #@)

37 {5 hea B It 1 3R

AEBER2017F 12831 BRNERER
T 15 A9 =2 1 KR PR LU AR 2 I8 2= (1] 1% 48
HERBKLKESISE TERUTERERRW

(b)

RABEAERYIEHAFS
() ZfEBRAEPEAREST ((REA

(ih)

(iif)

RIR1T)) BEEN > ESLEEN
WA EE/NITERX

ERBEEERR FEXNER
BHRTFEERREZE &

FERBEFEBEELRERNE
HEBERESHES T ERYIER
FHE wEFASERAER
FHETERESFERE-

REEEERESER  ZOBMKRZN
R B8 2 58 ) HH R 1B BT R O 2R R 8 AR
R EEZREWTF

SHEERBRATE 2021 FERE

2021 F EHF O M A RREEEE
MEBERKNTER D SRBEBEEA
ERERF EZERTE24%UAN > AL
REBEHAE ZEREERS
=B FERAWARNF) B S 2 F X
TREMAF] R EE

201 F EHEF > BEH EHER
BoAEEENMS T HEERE
NEFE L2 EEANERE @B
ERANGEERSEBURFTRA
FOF)E o JAT - 7 18 TR A By 8 H =R
SREH -EEERNTERFE
Rk BEXEIESHENEFE
B WA RZR T T BT ER
ARENEEREEHE-

2021 F 1B HEARIIRITEM
(FERITZTHBEA (BKRER
B E—FPRE\ETE =T E
BHREMWE - EEERNEGRER
BEEFZHNEHRME HEZTR
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

19

260

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

(b)

Impairment tests for payment licence(Cont'd)

4) The dynamic change in market environment in third party
payment business, together with the estimated decreased
volume and margin of the credit facilitation activities as a
result of a more prudent strategy adopted by the Group
towards its credit facilitation business, greatly reduced the
synergistic effect with the combination of the third-party
payment business, and resulted in the impairment indicator
of the payment licence arising from the acquisition of
Kaizhuo Technology.

Impairment review on the payment licence with indefinite useful life
has been conducted by the management as of 31 December 202
and 2020 according to IAS 36 “Impairment of assets”. The payment
licence with indefinite useful life is allocated to the Core Unit. In
assessing whether the payment licence has suffered any impairment,
the carrying value of the Core Unit on which the payment
licence is allocated is compared with its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount was determined based on the higher amount
of the FVLCD and value in use calculations. As at 31 December
2021, the recoverable amount of the Core Unit was determined
based on FVLCD calculations (As at 31 December 2020: VIU
calculations).
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19  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

(b)

Impairment tests for payment licence (Cont'd)

The FVLCD calculation uses sum of parts method. For payment
license which allocated in the Core Unit, the Group compares
its carrying amount against its recoverable amount which was
estimated by management with reference to two comparable
transaction cases with past one year. These two transaction cases
are considered as comparable references as the main business of
these cases are consistent with the payment license of the Group.
Together with other assets including properties attributable to the
Core Unit, the FVLCD of the Core Unit is lower than its carrying

amount.

The VIU calculations uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five year period.
Key assumptions for the VIU calculations relate to the estimation
of cash flows which include expected annual growth rate and
operating profit margin, such estimation based on the Core Unit's
past performance and management's expectations for the market
development. The pre-tax discount rates used reflect specific risks
relating to the Core Unit. Key assumptions and parameter of the
Core Unit used for VIU calculations as at 31 December 2021 and
2020 are set as below:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

19 E|REEE &)

(b)

RSB ERE (@)
NABEREERANSERA DM
R -HRN DM OEMNZ IR
AEERKHREZREEEE2REE
— F BB 7T B 32 5 6 5 5t A9 BT Wk [E)
EEEITER - BEWE X 57 B 5T LUE
R/AE2E  AAEmERNZOE
BRERXTER-—H EESERE
REOBANEMEE ZOBUNR
AEEAREERABEREKREEE

FTHEEAEFRANRERBARER
EEBZENAFHBENEBEER ®F
AEEAENRERRIIIRHERERN
EHet EPBEBENFEREME X
MEE SR RERZOIBMABE
NEENEEBHMBERNVTERR F
FRNRAMTIRERMT AZ0EMUE
S E R - &8 2021512831 HA
20205 128318 BRsEFERBENZ
DEMNEARRBRRMNSHMERENT

As at 31 December

2021 2020

Annual growth rates FREXR
Operating profit margin I=ES P
Pre-tax discount rate MANITIRE

(8.9%)—31.9%
(22.5%)—25.0%
16.2%

(2.7%)—44.7%
(22.0%)—35.0%
16.2%

Based on the impairment assessment, the FVLCD of the Core
Unit was higher than the VIU calculation, the impairment loss of
approximately RMB148,903,000 was allocated to the payment

license for the year ended 3| December 2021.

RIFRET S OB AR EERE
ERAEREFERER 8XE2021F128
JIHIEFENZ I RREEDRERLDN
2 AR5 148903,0007T ©
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

19  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Cont'd)

()

Amortization of intangible assets(Cont'd)
Amortization charges of intangible assets were recorded in
the following categories in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive loss:

19 E\EHREE &)
© EREERNE @
BREENBNERNGAEBESR
RIE L T AERI R RS

Year ended 3| December

BENAJHLEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBETT
Origination and servicing expenses MIB R ARTFRI 743 3218
General and administrative expenses — R ITH R 2,276 3,256
Research and development expenses PR 539 [,669
3,558 8,143
20 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY 20 {EFRAEIDSEARNIESE
METHOD
As at 3|1 December
128318

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT
Associates A= Y/NE| 44,161 32,099

The movement of the Group's interests in associates is as follows:

REBRBEQTRENEBOT !

As at 31 December

128318

2021 2020

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT AREFT

At the beginning of the year KR EH) 32,099 117,711
Addition (a) RE@Q) 17,000 =
Share of net losses DGR EE (2,121) (5751)
Impairment loss (b) BAEE R (b) (2,817) (79.861)
At the end of the year MREXR 44,161 32,099
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY

METHOD (Cont'd)

The investments in associates as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as

follows:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

20 fEREEARNKRE (@)

2021 FE 2020 12 A3 BB E AT N E
W

Percentage of
attributable
equity interest

ERET DL
Date of Place of
Name of Entity incorporation incorporation 2021 2020  Principal activities
HRERHE sEf A 3L B A E Al 3L 3th Rh TEES
Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co., Ltd. 9 October 2016 PRC 27.25% 27.25%  Development and
MIZ4 R BRAT 20165 10H9H R operation of
applications
R RIEERA

Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology 29 December 2006 PRC 49.61% 49.61%  Development and

Co, Ltd. (¢ 2006 128529H F operation of
IEFRARKREHRERRAE() applications

FRERESRR

Hangzhou Sunyard Fintech Technology 26 May 2016 PRC 13.76% 13.76%  Technology services

Co., Ltd. (d) 2016558261 H £ i AR %5
FONEHEZRBIRBRAF()
Shanghai Pengshu Information Technology 6 February 2016 PRC 15.42% 15.42%  Loan collection

Co. Ltd. (e) 2016F286H F services
EEBRBESREARAT() BR[O AR %S
Shanghai Zhengcheng Information 19 June 2019 PRC 46% —  Technology services

Technology Co., Ltd. 20195F68 19H R i AR 75
LEBE2EERKARAT
Linglan Information Technology 8 June 2020 PRC 10% — Technology services

(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. 2020568 8H H M7 AR %5

HEABHER (LB BRAE
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

20

264

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

@

On |5 July 2021 and 29 January 2021, the Group acquired 46%
and 10% equity interests in Shanghai Zhengcheng Information
Technology Co,, Ltd. and Linglan Information Technology (Shanghai)
Co,, Ltd, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group made an
impairment provision of approximately RMB2,817,000 against
the carrying amount of the investment in Beijing Juece Xincheng
Technology Co., Ltd. QL RAREEMBIRARAE, “Juece”),

which was based on the assessed recoverable amount.

On 26 December 2017, the Group acquired 49.61% equity
interests in Juece. Set out below is the summarized financial
information of Juece, which is considered as a material associate of

the Company. Other associates are not individually material to the

20 fEREEARNKRE (@)

(@)

(b)

2021578 15H %2021 1 B29H » &%
EoRlELSEBE2EERTZBERAE
H46% & BEMERE (L8 BRATN
| 0%R% HE o

HE2IFNA3IBIEEE  AEERE
SR AT W Bl 38 SR =R K E AR
EBRRB (DRA%E)) NIREREE IR
BEREBNOAR2817,0005T

R2017F 128268 ZAEBEWERE
49.6 | %P TE o N ST EBIRER AV BA 75 LR
EOMABRAREARANEERER
BloHMEAREINMS HAER T

Group. REKo
Juece
RE
As at 31 December
®128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBEF T
Current assets MENE E 31,629 25,559
Non-current assets ERHEE 53 453
Current liabilities mEaE 3,314 1227
Revenue = 11,921 6,443
Loss/(profit) for the year FAEE S CRFD 3,583 (6,275)
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INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

©

(d)

(Cont'd)

Set out below is the reconciliation of summarised financial
information of the Group's major associate, Juece, presented to the

carrying amount of its interest in the associated.

20

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

fEAEDEARNKRE (@)

(©)

(&)

TXHINAEBNEEZHE QAT REHN
MHERBERANRKERTNERN
IREERHER

Juece
REE
As at 31 December
R12B318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Net assets at the beginning of the year FNEERE 24,785 31,060
Profit/(loss) for the year FRNEF (§518) 3,583 (6,275)
Net assets at the end of the year FREEFE 28,368 24,785
Interests in the associate REE QTN HER 49.61% 49.61%
Share of net asset PMEEEFE 14,073 12,296
Goodwill Bk - 2617
Carrying value BREE 14,073 5113

On 23 October 2017, the Group acquired |3.76% equity interests
in Sunyard. According to Sunyard's article of association, the Group
is entitled to appoint one director in the board of directors of
Sunyard (5 board seats in total), and the Group's management
considers that the Group has the power to exercise significant
influence in Sunyard through the participation in operational
and financial policy-making process. Consequently, investment in

Sunyard has been accounted for using equity method.

R2017F 108238 "EBEWEEHE
13766 - RIBEHRENEABEZREMA
A AEEERRGEHEENEESTEMA
—HEF (BEBEREEEREM > BA
EENEEEIRRAEEFTENEBS
HRE R BRI TARESERET
FEAFEN Al EHENKEFH
BREARRC
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4 A
17177 g |

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

20

21

266

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING EQUITY
METHOD (Cont'd)

©)

On 31 December 2021, the Group held 15.42% equity interests
in Shanghai Pengshu Information Technology Co., Ltd. (_=/8AR%K
S ERHEARAE], "Pengshu”). According to Pengshu's article
of association, the Group is entitled to appoint one director in
the board of directors of Pengshu (5 board seats in total), and the
Group's management considers that the Group has the power to
exercise significant influence in Pengshu through the participation
in operational and financial policy-making process. Consequently,
investment in Pengshu has been accounted for using equity
method. The impairment provision for this investment had been
made in full amount for the year ended 3| December 2021 as
there was significant doubt as to Pengshu’s ability to continue as a

going concern.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL

(e)

20 fEREEARNKRE @)

R2021F 128318 "EBFE LB
HEEREERAT (TAASY) 15.42%8K
o RIBRAEMAEBRERMA XEEE
BRBENESTEEZT—RESE BHEE
RAEESFEL) >  BAERNEEREERA
AEEBEENBE2HRERMBEEK
BIETEREREITEEATLE N ALL
REBENEEER#EREAR &ZE202]
FNABLEEE AEBCHZKE
SHETREBRERE RRREEBRESE
BRERENEMAMNEKREEE

BRARBENABRSNERMEE

As at 31 December

R128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBFT
Included in non-current assets STAERENEE
— Investment in ordinary shares with preferential — BB EERENEERN
liquidation rights (a) L (a) 50,160 71,609
— Investments in investment funds (b) —“REREEENRE(®D) 33,388 28,852
— Investments in equity host securities —RHEGDESNERE 232 232
Included in current assets STAREEE
— Wealth management products —IBME®R 295 =
84,075 100,693
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21 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVPL (Cont'd)

@

The Group made investments in ordinary shares with liquidation
preference rights of certain companies that are engaged in
providing internet information and technology services. These
investments contain embedded derivatives that are not closely
related to the host contracts. After considering the Group's
investment objectives and intentions, the Group does not
bifurcate the embedded derivatives from the host instruments and
recognizes the entire hybrid contracts as financial assets at FVPL,
with the changes in the fair value recorded in “Other losses, net” in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss. The Company
determined the respective fair values as at the year end based
on the expected discounted cash flow and market multiple of

comparable companies.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

21 BARBEFABRDNEREE @)

(@)

AEERENFRHER LERE MR
BNETRABNMEREFEENE S
Re-ZERESHETIGHLIFEYINR
RIS AXTTELIR - KEBAEEN
REERKERR  AEBITRFERA
AMETERFTASR MIE2EE
BRI SBANBEFARREN
TRMEE AABEEPNGSEEE
BRASTATHMEBERREER - xR EK
BREARRERERERTELRATN
THEEREENERNEBANEE.

As at 31 December

R128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBFT
At the beginning of the year R EA] 71,609 97,634

Fair value loss of investment in ordinary BEEBEAAEHNEERETEN

shares with preferential liquidation rights NABERBE (21,449) (26,025)
At the end of the year REXR 50,160 71,609

The Group managed and evaluated these investments on a fair
value basis. These investments were recognized as financial assets at

FVPL upon initial recognition.

(b)

FEFERAANBEEEEERTEZE
RE-ZERENVDERFRRED
BARBEFABENEHEE-

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBETT
At the beginning of the year R EH) 28,852 40,407
Fair value gain/(loss) of investments in REEESRENARBENRT
investment funds (B518) 7,74 (11,555)
Disposal HE (3,205) -
At the end of the year PREXR 33,388 28,852
SIEREAERAR 202 £EHs 267
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B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 22 IRIEFRTEIR
The amount of offsetting deferred income tax assets and liabilities is R2021F 1283 BIEHIEIEFASMEERER
approximately RMB18,712,000 as at 31 December 2021 (31 December L ZEAL ARIEE18,712,0007T (2020 12831
2020: RMB13,542,000). B AR#13,542,0007T) °
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: HIRIERIBEEERIRIERBEGEENSFOT .

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARET T

Deferred income tax assets: FIEFTISMREE
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — B 1218 B & W 5] 27,344 |15,287
— to be recovered within |2 months — B 1218 B Uk [o] - =
27,344 115,287
Amount offset deferred tax assets IR IEE ENEER (18,712) (13,542)
Total deferred tax assets RIETIEE EARER 8,632 101,745
Deferred income tax liabilities: IEIEFTISMREE
— to be recovered after more than |2 months — #1218 B & Uk[El (77,550) (115,658)
— 1o be recovered within 12 months —H 1218 B Mk E] (18,712) (17,318)
(96,262) (132,976)
Amount offset deferred tax liabilities IRHIRER BB EN SRR 18,712 13,542
Total deferred tax liabilities RERIEEELEER (77,550) (119,434)
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22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont'd)

The gross movements of deferred income tax assets were as follows:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

22 RIEFRISIR (&)
BIEFT SN B ENESHIT

Net impact
of revenue
and risk Other
reserve fund Advertising temporary
recognition expenses Tax losses differences Total
L6794
EIRGEE
EEm:D Hith
e EERX RIEEE ERER st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETRT AREBTT AREBTRT AR%®TR

As at | January 2020 72202051 81H 104,610 2 27411 272,066 404,119
Recognized in the profit or loss R8s (104,610) 2,359 (14,578) (172,003) (288,832)
As at 3| December 2020 7220205128318 - 2,391 12,833 100,063 115,287
As at | January 2021 ®2021E 1818 - 2,391 12,833 100,063 115,287
Recognized in the profit or loss P8R - 144 (9,590) (78,497) (87,943)
As at 31 December 2021 20215128318 - 2,535 3,243 21,566 27,344

The gross movements of deferred income tax liabilities were as follows:

BEIEFFISIMEENEEINT ¢

Net impact Intangible

of revenue Unrealised assets

and risk profits from Unrealised acquired

reserve fund consolidated investment in business
recognition  trust schemes gains combination Total

W R

m REGSE REH

BEEWT  ERHEN REH  SHPKE
HERE  REREN REWE WEVEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT AR¥®TRT ARBETT AREBTR AR®T:R

As at | January 2020 120201518 - (8264) (4,656) (132479) (145399)
Liabilities directly associated with assets BOEARFLHEEEERN

classified as held for sale HHaE - - - 4,550 4,550
Recognized in the profit or loss N (17,318) 8264 3,800 13,127 7,873
As at 31 December 2020 120204128318 (17318) - (856) (114802) (132976)
As at | January 2021 520211818 (17,318) - (856) (114,802) (132,976)
Recognized in the profit or loss Ri8m e (1,394) - 856 37,252 36,714
As at 31 December 2021 #2020 128318 (18712) - - (77.550) (96,262)
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

22 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Cont'd)

22

The Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets of
approximately RMB30,654,000 and RMB90,969,000 in respect
of tax losses amounting to approximately RMB482,229,000 and
RMB507,544,000 that can be carried forward against future taxable profit

as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The expiry date of the tax losses for which deferred income tax assets

were not recognized is as follows:

IRIEFRISIR (B)

2021 F /20205F 12831 H » ZEE I FE L AT

A DR R R E SRR A B N IR 1B 518 5 B

4 N K 15482,229,0007T K& A R #6507,544,0007T
FIRIEPTIS IR B 2= 2 Bl 49 A K #530,654,0007T

K A B #90,969,0007T ©

IR SIEEFT R IR B AR BB RN E M A
W

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARET T

Expire within | year I FE A E R (42,566) (1732)
Expire in | to 2 years RIE2FEE (42,743) (8,352)
Expire in 2 to 3 years PEERS (56,783) (38,183)
Expire in 3 to 4 years FR3E4EE R (61,826) (43,771)
Expire in 4 to 5 years R4ZESFEE (87,337) (83,424)
Over 5 years and not subject to expiration SEE LAk R 8 i m 2 AR (190,974) (332,082)

(482,229) (507,544)
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T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

23 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23 FEFRIEREMMEUWFRIE

As at 31 December

R12B318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRE  ARWTR
Included in non-current assets: FFAJEREBEE !
Rental deposits HERE 292 392
292 392
Included in current assets: FARBEE
Amounts due from related parties (Note 35(e)) FE s RA Bk 5 7R 18 (B 5E35(e)) 37,764 7,326
Deposits b 31,426 38,892
Value-added tax receivable FEWIE ER 11,498 17,579
Receivable from disposal of bad debts B B IRV E RIS 10,937 12,311
Loan to a Director (Note 35(e)) SEEGW (EE35¢)) 10,214 [
Withholding tax paid on behalf of grantees RREEREN B EATAZAN
under employee incentive schemes ictin 9,138 21,998
Prepaid expense TEfTRZ 7,587 10,157
Receivables from investees MR EERIE - 4,000
Others Hth 13,009 19,864
131,573 132,128
Total w5t 131,865 132,520
SHEARARAT 200 £EHE D27 |
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B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

24  QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 ENEREWREERSES

The following table sets forth the Group's quality assurance fund payable TEREHEE2021 FEK2020F 12831 HIEFEE
movements for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: NEBENESFRBSSNES .

Year ended 3| December
BENAIHLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT

Opening balance AW AR 53,867 1,559,495
Fair value of newly written quality FETHERBEENANEE

assurance obligation 152,658 94,293
ECL (reversed)/provided for the year (Note 12) REE BEL) ENTERERAEBX

(MEE12) (27,038) 299,460

Release of the margin (Note 12) fRiRfRES (EE12) (11,651) (8,079)
Payouts during the year; net FRAZ PR (108,155) (1,891,302)
Ending balance HAR AR 59,681 53,867
In accordance with the regulatory guidances issued by the PRC BEDRBNEGENE SIS ) ANEEF2020
authorities, the Group had been exiting the P2P business in the first FEHFHETPPER - FH2  ZNEEGLE
half of 2020. In particular, the Group ceased to facilitate any loans from AEAEEERSENEZT AR AEEE
individual investors, and in the meantime all remaining outstanding loans P2020FE6B30HAT@EREAKBEE MY
(that were facilitated by the Group) to individual investors before 30 June ARBOSOEE LIRS EHEET S = H 4B
2020 had been settled by the Group by the repayment of approximately MWAEREETFFERAKLEENTGRREESER
RMB625.0 million in cash to the individual investors or transferred to the (AXRERIRS) °

third party institutional companies.
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QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE
(Cont'd)
The following table sets forth the Group's quality assurance fund

receivable movements for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

24 BfYREWEEFRES (&)

TRETEE2021 FR2020F 12831 HIEEFEE
AEBEKREERESHES :

Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR®ETT

Opening balance HR#D 458 22,190 566,801
Fair value of newly written quality Ml EEBREEENANER
assurance obligation 152,658 94,293
ECL provided for the year (Note 12) REEBBNTERERBR (EE12) (522) (83,445)
Contribution received from borrowers ERALE (145,529) (555,459)
Ending balance HAR&EER 28,797 22,190
As at 31 December 2021
2021 12H31H
ECL staging
REERRAEE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
M FIRR EE L st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERETRT AREBTR ARBTR  ARETR
Quality assurance fund receivable EhBEERES 30,493 1,508 32,478 64,479
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (a) B REERE SR EERER
STENBERERBAEREQ (2,666) (709) (32,307) (35,682)
Quality assurance fund receivable, net EREERELBE 27,827 799 171 28,797
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4 A

im e MR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

24  QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24
(Cont'd)

BOKREBREERES (&

As at 3| December 2020
120205128318

274

ECL staging
BREEREXBR
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
IR B_MER B=MRR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBTRE ARBTR AREFTR ARETR
Quality assurance fund receivable W EERES 19,722 [,387 791,867 812976
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (a) B IR E R T RS A 595
SENERERERERQ (2662) (701) (787423) (790,786)
Quality assurance fund receivable, net EREERESFE 17,060 686 4444 22,190
(@)  The following tables explain the changes in the ECL allowance of (@) TROPEERPEFE2021FK2020512
quality assurance fund receivable by stage for the years ended 3| B3I HILEFERKEERESTAPEH
December 2021 and 2020: BEBENED .
Year ended 3| December 2021
HE2021F12R31HIEFE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
E—MEE BIEE B=PEER
[2-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL Total
MEATRE HFEBRE FRERE
ZRE% EREK ER#E% 45t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTRT AREFTRT ARETR
Opening balance HRYD 45 8T 2,662 701 787423 790,786
Transfer out i = = (755,626) (755,626)
Net increase for the period (i) ARHRFIEANG) 26 22 474 522
Transfer 8%
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2 EREREBRER MR 0] | - -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 E—REEREE= tbﬁx 1) = 21 -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | BIRREREE R - - - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 B Exﬁiiﬁzﬂ%_ B - (15) 5 =
Ending balance HAR 45 8T 2,666 709 32,307 35,682
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T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

24 QUALITY ASSURANCE FUND PAYABLE AND RECEIVABLE 24 FENREKRESRES (B

(Cont'd)
@ (Cont'd) (@ (&)
Year ended 31 December 2020
HE00F A3 HILEEE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
—REER i E=PEE
[2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
NERTER HFEBEHR FEBES
ERERX ERE% (El:EEEES M5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®TRT ARETT ARETT
Opening balance HARD 45 ER 49,449 49,749 667,253 766,45
Transfer out B (1,022) (357) (57,731 (59,110)
Net (decrease)/increase ZERE CRiZL) /18 hn(i)
for the period (i) (38,419) (8,178) 130,042 83,445
Transfer =2
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2 B IEREREE TR (306) 306 = =
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 E—REEBREE =R (7.252) = 7252 =
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | FPEERERER MR 212 (212) - -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 B IEREREE =R = (40,607) 40,607 -
Ending balance HAR 4587 2,662 701 787423 790,786
0] This item includes changes of PD, EAD and LGD due to routine 10 DIEAIEEA YA S EE|RENELNEER
updates to model parameters, and the impact of stage changes on EAMORIELIB LA B W R R R 8L
the measurement of ECL. WIEHRSREAH BN .
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

25 CONTRACT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 25 ANEE/ (AR
As at 31 December
128318

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARBFT
Contract assets EHNEE 695,357 638,822
Less: ECL allowance B TREREREAEE (608,838) (603,335)
Contract assets, net ABHNEERE 86,519 35,487
Contract liabilities aHasE (16,481) (17214

The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020 consisted of the following:

B E2021FEK2020F 2R3 1 BIEEE > FBHE
BELEEEBEHEIETISIE !

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBET T

Opening balance A4S (603,335) (461,739)
Provision of ECL for the year FRNTRHAERBEREE (5,503) (141,596)
Ending balance HAR AR (608,838) (603,335)

Note: The Group receives payments from borrowers over the tenures of the
loans. Contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for services that the Group has provided. A substantial majority
of the Group's contract assets as at 3/ December 202/ would be realized
within the next twelve months as the weighted average term of the
arrangements where the Group is not the loan originator was less than
twelve months. The Group determined that there is no significant financing

component for its arrangements where the Group is not the loan originator:
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R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES 26 B FEWEIE

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBET T

Referral and credit card technology NRBRIE R RREARF EUGRIE
service receivables 218,251 192,755
Others HAth 13,920 1,497
232,171 194,252
ECL allowance TEERE RIBREE (213,008) (182,317)
19,163 I1,935

The activity in the total ECL allowance for trade receivables as at 31

December 202 | and 2020 consisted of the following:

202 1 FE R20205F 12831 H» BEZ ERIER
TEHA S IB R B R ESE O T3 &IE !

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBETT

Opening balance A4S (182,317) (75,262)
Provision of ECL for the year FRNTRHRERBEREHE (30,691) (107,055)
Ending balance AR 4R (213,008) (182,317)

Aging analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

BZEUWREREER S EEMORE DO

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBETT

Within 30 days EPN 8,268 4,434
More than 30 days HBiB30x 223,903 189,818
232,171 194,252
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B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

27 LOANSTO CUSTOMERS, NET 27 BEREFEEE

As at 3| December 2021

20215 12A318
ECL staging Purchased
TRHEREXMEE credit-
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Total
BABRE
F—FEER BIEE B=PEER ERRE Het

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETRT AR®TR AR®BTR ARE®TR ARETR

Loans £ - - 286,512 - 286,512
New financial assets purchased FEASREE - = = 154,074 154,074
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (b) i - Bl PRAF 53R &5 2881
2B95% THTEHA
ERBEERD) - - (282,088) - (282,088)
Loans to customers, net ZEEBHREE - - 4,424 154,074 158,498
As at 3| December 2020
20205 128318
ECL staging Purchased
AR RBRREE credit-
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3 impaired Total
BABEL
A —PEE 2T PEER BB ERRAME “BEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFT ARETRT AREBETRT AREBTRT
Loans 6N - - 287431 - 287,431
New financial assets purchased NEASREE - - - 166,279 166,279
Less: ECL allowance under IFRS 9 (b) i © Bl PREF 53R &5 £ 81
F95% TR
ERBREME®) = = (282,507) = (282,507)
Loans to customers, net BERENEHE - - 4924 166,279 171,203
As at 3| December 2020 and 2021, these loans are primarily personal E"2020J*:|5 B202 1 F 12831 H  ZEEREES
loans made to individual borrowers through the consolidated trusts and a BESEEAREER —BB AT EE AL
subsidiary of the Group and the new financial assets purchased from both -,—)\j\éfvfﬁﬁ'( ME A BT RREAKREEMNIEBE
individual and institutional investors. BEMBEANSHEE-
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F A M FRHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

27 LOANSTO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd) 27 BEREREFEE (B
(@)  The following table explains the aging of loans to customers past (a) TRRBEE2021F /52020512831 H
due for the past years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: IFFEFERAEERERNNIRE

Overdue days

BRBEH
Less than 30 days to 90 days to Over
30 days 90 days 180 days 180 days Total
DH0KX  0XENR  NXEIBX  I180KMLE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AE®TR AR®TR AR®TR ARE®TR ARETR

As at 31 December 202| 720215128318
Loans to customers past due BRNERER - - - 286,512 286,512
Purchased credit-impaired BADELERARE 38,228 2,620 2,064 111,162 154,074
As at 3| December 2020 2020128318
Loans to customers past due BASNEEREDR - - 2,167 285,264 287431
Purchased credit-impaired BADELERARE 16,209 2,045 9,275 114,442 141,971
(b)  The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3l (b) EE202I1FRK2020F12B3IHIEFE T8
December 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following: HERELARHEEEHEFETYRIE:
Year ended 3| December 2021
HE2021F1283 1 HLLEE
Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
E—REER EREER BEREER
12-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
12188 FAREA FIRM
FHEREX FHEREX RBEAEX st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBTRT ARBTRT AREBTR ARETR
Opening balance R 4E R - - 282,507 282,507
Net decrease for the period (i) ANERERD) - - (419) (419)
Ending balance HARAEER - - 282,088 282,088

SUSAEAMRAT 200 s | 279



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
4 A

iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

27 LOANSTO CUSTOMERS, NET (Cont'd) 27 BERERREE (B

(b)  The activity in the total ECL allowance for the years ended 3| (b) HEE2021FK2020F 12831 HIEFE >
December 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following (Cont'd): TEHREREBEAREFEREIHEETIE

R (#)

Year ended 3| December 2020
BZE200FE1NA3ALEEE

Stage | Stage 2 Stage 3
FMEE ETREER SRR
[2-month ECL Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL Total
12188 et F1RHA
BEEREL RHEREL BERERAERX st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETR AR®BTR
Opening balance HAVD 45 ER 667 413 280,394 281474
Net (decrease)/increase for the AHRFE (L) /180)
period (i) (572) (96) 1,701 1,033
Transfer L=V
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 2 E—[EEREREE TR (13) 13 -
Transfer from Stage | to Stage 3 EIERERE S =EH (84) = 84
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage | FREEREE—[EER 2 (A -
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 EIEREREF =R = (328) 328
Ending balance HARAEER - = 282,507 282,507
(@) This item includes changes of PD, EAD and LGD due to routine 0) ZEAOEEN YA EEHSIENEDN

updates to model parameters, and the impact of stage changes on

1%1 BAMOREQBRENEE MU
MEREMEHTARERBR BN E-

the measurement of ECL.

28 CASHAND BANK BALANCES

(@) Cash and cash equivalents (a)

28 BEKRIRTHAER
RERRSEEY

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETT AE®BFT
Cash at bank RITIRE 313,148 412,684
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T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

28 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (Cont'd) 28 RERIRITHER (&)
(b)  Restricted cash (b) ZRFIR=E

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBET T

Cash held on behalf of investors BETFAEAREEFBNRE()
through platform (i) 112,536 152,194
Deposit of secured transactions BERRZRES 112,556 69,541
225,092 221,735
(i) Cash held on behalf of investors through platform as at 3| 0) 7202 1 FE2020E 12831 H BB FER
December 2021 and 2020 mainly represented the cash in custody CEEFENRSFTEATERARAR
account on behalf of individual investment to hold fund. BUBEREENE®R-

29  SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARES HELD FOR 29 J37s~ B3 ERMIESEEEESE

EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES B I% (%
Shares held
for employee
Number of Share incentive
shares Share capital premium schemes
FiEES
IR
RO®E Rz R inimfE BB {7
US$'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

EZntn ARBTFrT AREFT ARETR

As at | January 2020 20201818 [,191,653,522 12 79 5,960,095 (12)
Share incentives exercised and BiIEREBHN

vested R {7 52 - - - 88,798 [
Issuance of ordinary shares BTEEK 166,666,666 = I 87,944 =
As at 31 December 2020 2020128318 1,358,320,188 12 90 6,136,837 (I
As at | January 2021 202118185 1,358,320,188 12 90 6,136,837 ()
Share incentives exercised and BTERGEBN

vested (a) f% 17 2 B (a) - - - 15,962 I
As at 31 December 2021 20215128318 1,358,320,188 12 90 6,152,799 (10)
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

29 SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE PREMIUM AND SHARES HELD FOR
EMPLOYEE INCENTIVE SCHEMES (Cont'd)

(@) During the year ended 3| December 2021, the subscription rights

attaching to 794,269 share options were exercised and 50,215,885

RSUs were vested under share incentives scheme. Reserve

amounted to approximately RMB15,403,000 were transferred to

share premium and the subscription prices exceed the par value

amounted to approximately RMB559,000 were also recorded in

share premium.

30 RESERVES

29 RE-ROEERMESREHETE
IS (&

(@) HBE2021F 12831 HIEEE 79426917

EREMWSNDEECETE MK

7 82BN ST E I8 T 8950,215,88517 5 PR 1 A%

HEBAEEE A AK5403,000TH

HECEBEERMDEE MFHREE

836 E B B BB 49 A R #5559,0007T 75 £

AR E o

30 f#fE
Share-based
Other  compensation Translation
reserve reserve reserve Total
URnAER
Hthi#E  AvE NS HhERE Wt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFTR AREBTRT ARBTT ARETR

As at | January 2020 12202051818 (258,352) 395,081 (152,328) (15,599)
Share incentives exercised and vested BT RSB ZE - (85,523) - (85,523)
Issuance of ordinary shares BITEBE (1,085) = = (1,085)
Acquisition of additional equity interests in a Ui — REIFfT /B8 /2 B] BV RRSM AR A

subsidiary (4,257) = = (4,257)
Share incentives awarded under share MR 2B s3I TE MR R

incentive plan BRADHEED - 49,039 - 49,039
Conversion of convertible bonds transferred — ] i B /A &) 7J A i B 5 8 43

to shares of a subsidiary R 21,236 = = 21,236
Currency translation differences BB =R = = (9,654) (9,654)
As at 3| December 2020 122020 128315 (242,458) 358,597 (161,982) (45,843)
As at | January 2021 202151818 (242,458) 358,597 (161,982) (45,843)
Share incentives exercised and vested BT K 57 B AV B 1D 52 B - (15,403) - (15,403)
Change in fair value attributable to change in A ABEF ABRNEH

the credit risk of financial liability at FVPL ~ BEE R RRESHEHH

AR EEEH (1,777) - - (1,777)

Share incentives awarded under share MR 2B s B TE TR R

incentive plan B0 5B - 30,317 = 30,317
Currency translation differences SIS E =28 = = 221 221
As at 3| December 2021 12021128318 (244,235) 373511 (161,761) (32,485)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company has adopted 51 Award Scheme and 51 Stock Scheme
(collectively, “Employee Incentive Schemes") to provide options and RSUs
to employees and senior management as an additional incentive for the
purposes of attracting and retaining the best available personnel. The
majority of the options and RSUs vest 50% at the second service year

end and 25% at the third and fourth service year end.

The Company has set up two structured entities, namely 5| Award
Limited and 51 Stock Limited, which are solely for the purpose of
administering and holding the Company’s shares for the Employee
Incentive Schemes. In addition, the Company entered into a trust deed
with an independent trustee (the “Trustee”) in November 2017, pursuant
to which the Trustee shall act as the administrator of the Employee

Incentive Schemes.

The Company has the power to direct the relevant activities of 51 Stock
Limited and 51 Award Limited and it has the ability to use its power
over the trusts to affect its exposure to returns. Therefore, the assets and
liabilities of 5| Award Limited and 51 Stock Limited are included in the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position and the ordinary
shares held for the Employee Incentive Schemes were regarded as issued
but not outstanding shares and presented as a deduction in equity as

“Shares held for employee incentive schemes”.

31

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

U AERNZ (T

NN T BIRANS | SEE 5T B K5 1 IR 5T & (478
MEeE#EEtE))  UARERERSREERER
15 B G e 52 PR 161 A 19 BB 11 1E 2 RE M SR > 1Y
5| KR BB T AT o KEbo BE BG E Ke =2 IR
AR BB LA 3R ZBER TS E B E R W B50% K i
FEZRFENERBFEFREB25%°

RAABERIMMEEESE BIS| Award
Limited&%51 Stock Limited> 2ABEERIFAEA
AEWEE BB T B FTIH D o Lo » KA
FR017E1BR—ZBIZEA (MZEAL) 5]
MEFEE BRI EE RE T2
BEEA -

KABBHEEIERS| Stock Limited&51 Award
Limited NHHRAER > BEHBRENEREHE
SENEAREERDRER - HIE>51 Award
Limited251 Stock Limited®V# & KB &t A
EENGREMBIRAER > BEREE B3
BENEBREAFEETELIFFTEINR
P25 % TR R E MBSt BRI A5 ) i
o
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B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

31  SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'd) 3 URMPAEBRNI (T &
The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to repurchase or settle REFTENIEGEC S EEEREN LT
the options in cash. WEERRS
(@)  Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their (@) MRITENERESE XERMEFS
related weighted average exercise prices are as follows: TEENEFHWT

2021 2021 2020 2020

Weighted Weighted

average average

Number  price in RMB Number  price in RMB

AR AR

#8 FHE #E FHE

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BFTR ARBTR ARBTRT ARETR

Outstanding at | January RIBIBEKRITE 76,488,354 1.92 88,766,046 2.88
Exercised during the year FERBITE (794,269) 03l (6,048,862) 027
Forfeited and expired during the year £ B2 W & & (1,977,675) 3.44 (6,228,830) 2.05
Outstanding at 3| December R12831 B HRITE 73,716,410 2.98 76,488,354 192
Vested and exercisable WI2B3 I BESREAA{TE

at 31 December 66,429,410 275 57,812,054 240
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T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

31 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Cont'd) 3 URMPAERNIZ(T @)
(b)  Movements in the number of RSUs during the years ended 31 (b) HBE2020F K202 F 12831 HIEFERN
December 2020 and 2021 are as follows: SREIRMEMNBBNESWT .
Number of RSUs
% PREIR 15
BHHA
Outstanding balance as at | January 2020 1220205 1 B | B RITEGEER 25,627,724
Granted g 19,468,260
Vested B 55 B (13,740,584)
Forfeited 22 (17,355,400)
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2020 1420205F 12831 HRY KR 1T 45 ER 14,000,000
Granted B 23,917,283
Vested ERE (10,059,083)
Forfeited BRIk (5,330,000)
Outstanding balance as at 31 December 2021 12202112831 BB KRITELEER 22,528,200
The fair value of each RSUs at the grant dates were determined NEYHBERSR4RBRMDEMNNA DB
by reference to the market price of the ordinary shares of the BILRREARA NG ZBERHNTEET
Company.
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

32 BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS

32 RITREMERR

As at 31 December

R128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BFT AREEFTT
Non-current liabilities: FERFERE
Bank borrowings (a) — secured IRITER () —FER 27,483 34,046
Other borrowings (b) — secured and unsecured HiER (b)) —BREREER - 25,000
Less: current portion of non-current liabilities B —EREENIERSaE (6,943) (31,563)
20,540 27,483
Included in current liabilities: FFAREIAME
Bank borrowings (a) — secured IRITIER (2 —BER 90,000 90,000
Other borrowings (b) — secured and unsecured HERR(b) — B R REER 75,000 50,000
Current portion of non-current liabilities —ERNEENIEREIEE 6,943 31,563
171,943 171,563
Total bank and other borrowings IRIT R E Mg T 4E%E 192,483 199,046
Borrowing by repayment schedule: g BB D HER
Within | year —FER 171,942 171,563
| year to 2 years —FEZF 7,344 6,942
2 years to 5 years “FERF 13,197 20,541
192,483 199,046
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32 BANKAND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

@

In August 2017, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB53,000,000
from Bank of Hangzhou. The loan bears interest at an annual rate
of 115% of the five-year loan benchmark rate of the People’s Bank
of China. The loan is repayable in eight years from the borrowing
date and is guaranteed by Sun Haitao, the director of the
Company, and secured by a pledge of the building held by Enniu
Network. As at 31 December 2021, the amount of approximately
RMB6,943,000 will be repaid within one year and was classified as
current liabilities. The amount of approximately RMB20,540,000
will be repaid beyond one year and was classified as non-current

liabilities.

In March 2020, the Group borrowed a loan of RMB90,000,000
from Bank of Wenzhou. The loan is repayable in one year and is
secured by a pledge of the building of Enniu Network with the
fixed interest rate of 6.75% per annum. In March 2021, the Group
renewed the loan of RMB90,000,000 with the fixed interest rate of
6.5% after expiry.

In May 2017, Enniu Network, together with Shenzhen Tiantu
Xingneng Investments (Limited Partnership) (“Tiantu Xingneng")
and China Merchants Securities Asset Management Co., Ltd.
(“CMS AM"), established a limited partnership, Hangzhou Shangniu
Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
(“Hangzhou Shangniu”). In November and December 2017, Enniu
Network entered into agreements with Tiantu Xingneng and CMS
AM, respectively that Enniu Network would repay the partnership
funds contributed by Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM in four years

with fixed interest rates of 8% and 8.035% per annum, respectively.

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

32 IRITREMER &

(@)

20176488 AEBEBMMBITEEA
153,000,000t e ERA EZFRHAR
IRITTHEFHAEREEN TN 5% FF]
X B -ZEREARERBHENFERN
BE BHARAEERBEFERKEBER
FRRFANBFIRRIERR 102021
FI12B318 > AR6,943,0000H 1 —
FREZETESEARDEBE VAR
#£20,540,0007CH I —FE U L EE I E S
fEaERBaE-.

R2020F3 8 AEERRMNBITEE
AR 90,000,000t c ERABR —FRNE
2w M B EENETIRREER B
EMEAEES6T75% 2021 F38 » NE
EREABUBENRSRBEE AR
90,000,0007T °

12017558 » B4 #A48E R R I X B =&
ERERE (BRER®) ((REHERE) &
FRESEEEEERAR (IBRE
ENHRUT—EBEBELE MIMNEFR
EEEAR X (BREE) (IhNE
H1) oRR2017FI 1B RI2B » BEBELED
AAXBEERBEEETLHE B
It B4 D PR E E FEH HK8% K
8.035%MNIMFEANERRBEERBEE
EHENGEEE-
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iR a M IR M EE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

32 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd) 32 IRITREMER
(b)  (Cont'd) (b) (&
The partnership funds of RMB25,000,000 and RMB90,000,000 R2019F 128318 REEHEKRBEHE
contributed by Tiantu Xingneng and CMS AM respectively ENEHBENEBEES AR25000,000
recorded as borrowing by the Group at 3| December 2019. The TR AR 90,000,000 CH ANEEEAE
partnership funds were secured by a pledge of the ordinary shares HoZ e BESHAEEFREFEHERTY
of Kaizhuo Technology held by the Group. In March 2020, Enniu B E B IR IR R IR (R o 1R2020FE3 8 0 B
Network repaid the remaining partnership fund of RMB90,000,000 FRERNTEREEEBERTEEBEES A
to CMS AM. In December 2021, the Group renewed the R #£90,000,00075 e FR202 1 FE 128 » REEH
partnership fund of RMB25,000,000 after expiry. TEaBE S AR25000,000cE fEE
5o
In May 2020, the Group borrowed RMB50,000,000 with fixed 2020658 AEBERRIEK
rate of 8.035% per annum from Shenzhen Tiantu Xingfu Equity EREKGEEEARATEHR AR
Investments Management Co., Ltd. The loan is guaranteed by Sun 50,000,0007C° B EFMEXAETEL.035% F
Haitao, the director of the Company. In December 2021, the HHEKRATEETREEEMR P200215F
Group renewed the loan and will repay in December 2022. A REEHHEHEFTES W1 2022
FNRABE-
33 TRADEAND OTHER PAYABLES 33 B KRHEMEMRIA
As at 3|1 December
R128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  ARBTR
Payables for equity investments (a) 112 B e 1 R I (2) 214,825 214,825
Payable to settlement banks TR BB ERTT X 32,566 21,582
Trade payables (b) B 5 EFIA(D) 26,254 8,149
Payroll and welfare payable P& TE R ARF 12,608 23815
Interest payable FE (I F) 8 10,401 4569
Professional service expenses HERBER 5,476 4,398
Other tax payable HMEMIRIE 3,473 7,375
Online promotion marketing expenses payable MBI B I R IE 1,065 2,471
External technical service expenses HMEB 2 1T AR 75 B A 906 28|
Deposit payables (c) i 3NEEACE) 700 2,387
Payable on behalf of credit card users RKREAEERENRIE 503 959
Payable to related parties (Note 35(e)) FE 1T B 75 =18 (MT5E35(e)) 565 218
Others Hith 8,827 25,309
318,169 316,338
(a)  Payables for equity investments primarily represent the cash (@) REREENHBETIZERKERSR
consideration due to the counterparties of equity transactions in HEMEBESSHFAFNESHEB
connection with the acquisition of Kaizhuo Technology.
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R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

33 TRADEAND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd) 33 BSKRHMEMRIE #)
(b)  Trade payables represent payables of fund transfer charges and (b) BZEMHIBEEESERE B &OIWAR
collection service charges. U ERER RIS o
The aging analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as BEENHFEBEBENRNZXEQHMNESR M
below: =;HHWMF .
As at 31 December
®128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFR  ARBTR
Within 30 days 30k 18,998 3519
30 to 90 days 30K E90K 3,070 |,847
90 to 180 days 90K ZE 180K 1,324 2,041
180 to 360 days 180K E360K 1,599 742
over 360 days 360K LA E 1,263 =
26,254 8,149
(c) Deposit payables primarily represent credit facilitation deposit (o) EffEETFEEEAEEDEMEEF
received from other lending platforms when the Group introduced A NEBEER AHEHMESEE S KE
investors to other lending platforms. WEEBRESEEo
34  FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVPL 34 BARBEFAEZNEMER
As at 31 December
128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFTT
Financial liabilities at FVPL BARBEGFAEBGNEMRAR
— Redeemable equity instrument (a) — A EL#HETA® 43,034 40,000
— Unissued shares (b) —REBITRRID(b) 8,074 7,370
51,108 47,370
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4 A
17177 g |

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

34

290

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FVPL (Cont'd)

@

In the first half of 2020, Shenzhen Xiaolanben entered into an
investment agreement with Shenzhen Tiantu Xingshen Tianshi
Venture Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) and
the other three third-party investors, the Group assessed and
accounted for the capital contribution as an equity instrument
contains an obligation to repurchase given the agreement terms
of redemption and liquidation preference. The capital contribution
was recognized as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss when received. In June 2020, Shenzhen Xiaolanben received
the fund contribution with aggregate amounted to RMB40,000,000

from the investors.

In December 2017, the Group acquired 100% shares of Kaizhuo
Technology from independent third parties for cash consideration
and issuance of certain shares of the Company.As at 3| December

2021, the issuance of shares had not been completed.
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34 RAABESABmNERER (&

(@)

F220204F £+ & SFRIINEREFRYIK
BlEAXFAERECHREE (ARS
) RHEMBE=FREETIRE R
BRI RBRGRR B EER A&
B rRERIEEFABGIEOE
AR T A AR T E H U BB i 50
REAMEESABENEMEBE R
20206 RIVNERBIRKEE FTE
& £ A R #40,000,0007T ©

12017F 128 AEBURERERET
HEFARATARMEBIE=ZFKERE
R A9 100%88 17 ° 1220215128315 > B
R EEAT I RTER ©
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or
indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence over the
other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control. Members
of key management and their close family members of the Group are also

considered as related parties.

As at 31 December 2021, relationship and details of transactions between

the Group and other related parties are disclosed below:

Name of the major related parties

35

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

R 325
W—AAENEERNEEENS - SRS —
TR HEREERRITEERTES AWSE
S RREETT o IR TR HBIER > TR AR 2 B
HoAERFTEEERNERRFLRIFRE
TERAHE TS °

2021 128318 AEREE MR 5 RS
BERFEHBEENT !

Relationship with the Group

TEMBSRE R Bl &£ MR &
Sun Haitao® Director of the Company
HgEo rABESE

Zheng Haiguo®
WS Eo

Zhu Jianfei®
RBIARY

Zou Yunli
HERE

Yu Jin
TFi&

Wong Ti
R

Ye Xiang
=22

Xu Xuchu
RIBH)

Zhao Ke®
ﬁiﬁ—[(m)

Chief Executive Officer and Director of the Company
RABITBAERRESE

Director of the Company
KRBEF

Director of the Company
KRBEF

Director of the Company
KRBES

Director of the Company
KRBEF

Director of the Company
KRBIES

Director of the Company
KRBEF

Director of the Company
KRBEF

SHEERBRATE 2021 FERE
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B HRRMEE

For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

B85
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

35 BBABERZ @)

Relationship with the Group

TEMBSRE R B7 & M Y R 14

Lam Yuhon® Key management personnel of the entity
R BRO ERZTIBEEAS

Zhang Xi Key management personnel of the entity
=1 ERZTIBEEAS

Zhejiang Anniu Technology Co., Ltd.
HIZ R ARAE

Beijing Juece Xincheng Technology Co., Ltd.
BRAREHBREBERAF

Hangzhou Sunyard Fantai Technology Co., Ltd.
FNEREZRRRBRAF

Linglan Network Technology (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
BEMER (L8 ARAHE

Shanghai Zhengcheng Information Technology Co,, Ltd.

LEBE2EERKEARAT

Zhuhai Yunyoudao Technology Co.,, Ltd.
HREEBEBEREAREEARF

Zhejiang Zhongma Technology Co., Ltd.
HIRERERARAR

Shark Kuaiyou Network Technology (Beijing) Co.,, Ltd.
ARRERESM OtR) BRAT

Hangzhou Zaodao Technology Co,, Ltd.
TN R RERHRBRAE

Hangzhou Ren Junxing Technology Co., Ltd.
FINEBTRIRARAE
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Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBEAZENKIRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REAEEEATENRIRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBMEALENKIRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEEERFZENRKIKERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBEALENRIRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REAEBEAXENKIRERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAERERRZENRKIKERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REEBMEAZENKIRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEEERARZENRIKERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAREBBEAFZENRKIRERT
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

Name of the major related parties

TEMBSRE R

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

35 BBERZ @)

Relationship with the Group

B17 &5 M Y R 4

Hangzhou Linglinggi Technology Co., Ltd.™
MMNEBZZERZBRAT

Beijing Xiaochenghuyu Culture Technology Co., Ltd.
BN ERXERHR AR A

Xinhuizhiyan Culture Communication (Beijing) Co., Ltd.
EEER R XEEEARAS

TOWERING GROUP INC.

Hangzhou Yingniu Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)

MMBFTRESBEE (AREGH)

Hangzhou Yigilaidian Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership)
MIN—EEREREGREE (BREE)

Hangzhou Fanniu Investment Management Partnership

(Limited Partnership)
MNZHREEEABEE BREE)

Suzhou Jiamu Wuyao Venture Capital Investment Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
BINEATAREREGERXE (BREB)

Hangzhou Lvji Network Technology Co., Ltd.
TN IR ABAE R IT A R AT

Pingxiang Chuangniu Asset Management Co., Ltd.
SRR EEEEARAT

Pingxiang Shiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
SFHEFEEERESBEE (BIREE)

Pingxiang Jiniu Asset Management Partnership
(Limited Partnership)
SERLTEEEEABLE BRER)

51 Xinhu LP

Rising Sun Limited

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REAEBEALENRIRENT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REAEBMEAFENRKERT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

REAEEBARZENRREANT

Investee over which the Group has significant influence

RAEBBEAFZENRKIKRERT

Investee of which the Group has joint control

ZAEEHREZERNRKRERT

Investee of which the Group has joint control

RAEEHAFEFHNRIRENT
Investee of which the Group has joint control
RAEBHAFERNRIRE AT
Investee of which the Group has joint control
RAEBHAFEFNKIREQT

Controlled by key management

RXEEEASES

Controlled by key management

RIEEEASES
Controlled by key management
RIEEEASES
Controlled by key management
2F

EEEASES

Controlled by key management

RIEEEASES

Controlled by key management

RIEEEASES
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

B85

294

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)

0}

(i

(ii)

()

On 7 January 2022, the Board announced that Sun Haitao had been
appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the
Company. Since then, Zheng Haiguo has ceased to be the Chief Executive

Officer and executive Director of the Company.

Zhu Jianfei has been appointed as an executive Director on 3 September
2021

On 3 September 2021, Zhao Ke resigned as an executive Director and the
Chief Financial Officer of the Company. Since then, Lam Yuhon has been
appointed as the Chief Financial Officer.

Hangzhou Yunpinh Information Technology Co., Ltd. changed its name to

Hangzhou Linglinggi Technology Co,, Ltd. on 2 August 2021,

Save as disclosed in elsewhere of these financial statements, the Group

entered into the following related party transactions during the year

ended 3| December 2021. In the opinion of the Director, the related

party transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of business

and at terms negotiated between the Group and the respective related

parties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 35 BAMARS &)
(@)  Loan referral service income, credit card technology service @ RUREEBHEENBIRBEBA-EHFE
income and other income-recognized in revenue (before net of BHERFFUWA R EMUT A (ORRIHEIRIE
sales tax and related surcharges) B HE A B3 AN #: i)

Year ended 3| December
BENAIALEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®ETT

Investees over which the Group has SREBEAZENWKRENT
significant influence 473 2,421
(b)  Origination and servicing expenses (b) WHERRTERZ
Year ended 3| December
BENAJBLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBTR AR¥EFTT
Investees over which the Group has SAREBEALENRLERT
significant influence 247 -
(c)  Sales and marketing expenses () HERZEHBES
Year ended 3| December
BENABLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AR¥EFT
Investees over which the Group has SRAEBEATENRKERT
significant influence 6,737 1,909
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

B85

296

RAF5 ¥R R B 5E

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 35 FRAEEA3RZ: (&)
(d)  Borrowings guaranteed by related parties (d) FBAESIEFRINERR
As at 3|1 December
R128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTE  AREFR
The Chairman of the Board XTI E 77,484 84,046
(e) Balances with related parties (e) EARAHKAHVAEER
As at 3|1 December
R128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT  ARETR
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Investees over which the Group has RAEBREATLENRRERT
significant influence 2,506 2,612
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE{TFRIE ~ 37 & K H fth FE UK 7RI
Investees over which the Group has REAEBEBEATENHKREAT
significant influence 37,664 7226
Directors of the Company KRBIESR 10,214 |
Controlled by key management RTEREEEED 100 100
47,978 7,327
Trade and other payables B 5 KREMERIE
Investees over which the Group has SAREBEATZENREE LT
significant influence 565 218

On |4 September 2021, the Company provided a loan to the
Chairman of the Board in the principle amount of RMB10,000,000.

K202 F9R 148 KRB HEEEEE
Rt E A ARH10,000000THER

The loan has a term of 3 years and a simple interest rate of 5.8% BERHRAIF  FRMEARS 8B KE K
per annum. The principle and accrued interest will be paid on FEST R B EIHE R BT o

maturity date.

Other than the loan mentioned above, the balances with related
parties as at 3| December 202! are interest-free and have no

fixed terms of repayment. R o
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T EHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

35 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd) 35 BAMEAE RS (&)
() Key management personnel compensations ) TEEHEEASHM
Key management includes executive directors and senior FTEEEEERITESASAEIRE
management. The compensations paid or payable to key cHEEERBENAENTIEEIE
management for employee services are shown below: BREHBS AT -

Year ended 3| December
BENAIBLEE
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT AREBFT

Share-based compensation expenses ARG AR 7% BT AV i BN B S2 24,739 66,472
Wages, salaries and bonuses T& s RIEAL 5,168 5,824

Other social security costs, housing benefits ~ ELf#t R & ~ F BEF K&
and other employee benefits Hitg 8=7 377 443
Pension costs-defined contribution plan BARERA—REMRNEE 189 64
30,473 72,803
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

36 NOTETO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation from loss before income tax to cash generated

from operating activities:

36 HRERTRERME
(@) RIRFSRAGRADAEEEHEEN
R

Year ended 3| December

BENA33BALEEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ABBFR  ARETR
Loss for the year FAEE (260,701) (1,716,406)
Adjustments for: AT IEEITHRE ©
Depreciation and amortization 8 R 5 27,247 73,589
Fair value losses on financial assets at FVPL AR fEEFT AT EMEEN
AREERBER 13,708 37,580
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVPL ~ HEZ A REEFT A
BaEMEENKR (1,389) =
Fair value loss/(gain) on financial liabilities BARBESABGESMAEEN

at FVPL NAEEFE W) 1,961 (17,000)
Loss/(gain) on wealth management products BB E @A 2, (W) 3 (5)
Loss on trust E5tE518 - 5,126
Interest expenses charged by trust senior EEELRFEE ARENF SR

tranche holders = 52
Share of net losses of associates FEREREARNBE AR

accounted for using equity method FELES 18 558 (MI5E20)

(Note 20) 2,121 5751
Share-based compensation expenses DURRD AERB B X 35,653 49,039
Loss on disposal of property and equipment H & K& & HE518 108 6,220
Expected credit losses (Note 12) TRERE 1Bk (M95E12) 15,398 665,465
Impairment loss (Note |3(a)) BIEEE (EE13() 151,720 424,583
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE— WA B RS RIE = (2,141)
Conversion of convertible bonds transferred —[E] [} /8 A Bl Al I EF B E

to shares of a subsidiary BRAD - 16,935
Finance expenses gl 13,067 (24,089)

259,597 1,241,105
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36 NOTETO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 36
(Cont'd)

@)

Reconciliation from loss before income tax to cash generated

from operating activities: (Cont'd)

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

meRERERME @)

@ RERFERABERANAKEEHELEN
RE: @

Year ended 31 December

HENAIALEE

2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRE  ARETR
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: REBEMRAEES
Increase in restricted cash ZPRHIIR G0 (5,641) (1,331,385)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets and EHNEENMEB ZRIFIE
trade receivables a2m wb (94,454) 512,429
Decrease/(increase) in loans to customers EEERURLD (80 13,124 (151,497)
Decrease in prepayments and other TET R IE R H At UG IR
receivables YA 24,820 186,627
Decrease in trade and other payables B 5 KR HEMEMRIE R (8,697) (50,327)
Decrease in contract liabilities =EO=NEpCES (733) (91,036)
Increase in taxes payables FESFRIEIE N 49,743 272,024
(21,838) (653,165)
Cash used in operating activities KEEEFTAMIRE (22,942) (1,128,466)
Non-cash investing and financing activities (b) IFRERERAMETE
As at 31 December
®128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFT ARETT
Payable for acquisition of a subsidiary Wi B — FEI B B8 /A B FE A 3R 1B (214,825) (214,825)
Acquisition of right-of-use assets RS E e = 3,932 1,890
sSHEAEERAT 200 £EHs 299
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

36 NOTETO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 36 #&ZaIRESHREXRME &)

()

(Cont'd)
Net Debt Reconciliation (0 BEFEHER
An analysis of net debt and the movements in net debt for the B E2021 FKR2020F 12831 B IEFEZF
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 are presented as BRRFEREHN DT ERW T ¢
follows:
Net Debt JFIEES

300

As at 31 December

128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARETT ARBET T

Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 313,148 412,684
Borrowings — repayable within one year ER—BR—FERNEERE (171,943) (171,563)
Borrowings — repayable after one year BEM—ER—FRER (20,540) (27,483)
Payable to trust senior tranche holders within B —F N EMMESEEBERIFTE A

one year ;IE = =
Lease liabilities HEEE (4,602) (4.816)
Net debt AR 116,063 208,822
Cash and liquid investments N RIREKE 313,148 412,684
Gross debt — fixed interest rates REH—BEEF= (192,483) (199,046)
Gross debt — variable interest rates RIEFE—FHAER (4,602) (4,816)
Net debt FEE 116,063 208,822
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36 NOTETO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Cont'd)

(c)  Net Debt Reconciliation (Cont'd)

R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

36 HLERERERMWE @)

(0 FEFEHIERE

Payable to

trust senior Payable to

tranche  trust senior

Cash and holders tranche

cash Liquid ~ Borrowings  Borrowings within  holders after
equivalents investments  (non-current) (current) one year one year Leases Total

AR—%R AR

EfER  —FRER

REk fam fw BEE  ERERA
RELEN  EHERE (FREDsH) (B FHEAME HEANE HE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBFR ARBTR ARETR AREFT ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Asat | January 2020 12020 1A 1H 1,283,144 - (149,046) (19.821) (20,100) - (47,447) 1,046,730
Foreign exchange adjustrents SMERE 127 - - - - - = 127
Acquisition-leases KiE-HE - - - - - - 1,890 1890
Cash flows Rene (870,587) = 90,000 (120,179) 20,100 = (10,003) (890,669)
Other non-cash movements HtFERE2E - - 31,563 (31,563) - - 50,744 50,744
As at 31 December 2020 142020128318 412,684 - (27483) (171563) = = (4816) 208,822
Foreign exchange adjustments SMERE (1,908) - - - - - - (1,908)
Acquisition-leases KE-RE - - - - - - 3932 3932
Cash flows RemE (97,628) - - 6,563 = = (4,196) (95.211)
Other non-cash movements HitFRE 5 - - 6,943 (6.943) - - 48 48
As at 31 December 2021 #2021 E12A31R 313,148 - (20,540) (171.943) - - (4,602) 116,063

37 KRB

37 DIVIDENDS

No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company for the year

ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

REZE2021F12B3IBIEEFEE » R AT RIK
THREIRRE (20205 : ) °
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For the year ended 3| December 202
BE021F1283IBLEE

38 FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 38 AT IR R L #IEES

COMPANY
(@)  Financial position of the Company (@ ETRTHERR
As at 31 December
®128318
2021 2020
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARSFR  ARETR
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RTB AR NKE 1,283,499 1,254,007
Receivables from subsidiaries FEUS & A Bl 7R 18 4,967,971 4891983
Total non-current assets JEREBEEAE 6,251,470 6,145,990
Current assets RENEE
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIBEEEY 9,097 85,318
Total current assets REEEMAE 9,097 85,318
Total assets BEEHE 6,260,567 6,231,308
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EkaE
Equity e
Share capital %N 90 20
Share premium k=] 6,152,799 6,136,837
Share held for employee incentive schemes  1F1EE 252 Eh 2 B9 AR5 (10) (rn
Reserves (Note 38 (b)) fEE (FIzE38(b)) 163,878 147,859
Accumulated loss (Note 38 (b)) K5TE18 (isE38(b)) (56,190) (53,467)
Total equity R 6,260,567 6,231,308
Total liabilities BfREE - -
Total equity and liabilities EmkaEat 6,260,567 6,231,308
The statement of financial position of the Company was approved RKATHFHRTERN2022FE3830BEES
by the Board of Directors on 30 March 2022 and was signed on its @i TR T RS Zo
behalf.
Sun Haitao Wu Shan
"BigE 2 H
Director Director
EE EE
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R E M B IR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE021F1283IBLEE

FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE 38 ATIMBIR R EFEEEE @)
COMPANY (Cont'd)
Reserve movement of the Company (b) ZTREEEES
Reserves Accumulated loss Total
f#th RithsiE 4t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AERBTR AERBTR AERBTR
As at | January 2021 202151818 147,859 (53,467) 94,392
Comprehensive loss 2EEE
Loss for the year FERBE - (2,723) (2,723)
Currency translation differences EismEEEE 922 — 922
Total comprehensive loss 2EEIRELE 922 (2,723) (1,801)
Transactions with owners as their HSABEREANEEAZ
capacity as owners B
Share incentives exercised and vested BATE e 57 8 A B 10 B2 B (15,403) - (15,403)
Share incentives awarded under employee {2 ZBI 5T 28 MR HH
incentive schemes R fn £ 30,317 - 30,317
Total transactions with owners as their HSABBEANBEEAZ
capacity as owners RA4BE 14,914 14914
As at 3|1 December 2021 7?2021 128318 163,695 (56,190) 107,505
Reserves  Accumulated loss Total
(E4i REtE518 wBst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFR  ARETR  AREBTR
As at | January 2020 120205 1518 189,843 (49,000) 140,843
Comprehensive loss 2HEEE
Loss for the year FEBE = (4,467) (4,467)
Currency translation differences BEELE (5,500) = (5,500)
Total comprehensive loss 2HEBBRRE (5,500) (4,467) (9.967)
Transactions with owners as their BSARBANBEEAZRS
capacity as owners
Share incentives exercised and vested B AT 18 5 B B O B 52 B (85523) = (85,523)
Share incentives awarded under employee 1B 28BN 51218 MR H Y
incentive schemes R 42 Eh 49,039 - 49,039
Total transactions with owners as their HSAaBEREANEEAZ
capacity as owners RABE (36,484) = (36,484)
As at 31 December 2020 1220205128318 147,859 (53/467) 94,392
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Five-Year Financial Summary
hFEMBERTE

For the year ended 31 December

HENA3IHLEEE

2017 2018
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETIT ARBTRT

2019 2020 2021
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®BTT AR®TR

Results

Revenue

E S
Wk

2,268,580 2,811,994

2,045,393 274,309 440,098

(Loss)/Profit for the year

N (BR) mr

(1378471)  2,168767

(.111043)  (1.716406) (260,701)

(Loss)/Profit attributable to: TH AL (8518)
vl
Owners of the Company KABIFRIBA (1,371,270) 2,162,084 (1,128,878) (1,699,071) (233,687)
Non-controlling interests JEIER R (7.201) 6,683 17,835 (17,335) (27,014)
(1,378471) 2,168,767 (1LI11,043)  (1,716,406) (260,701)
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREBETT ARBTT ARBTT AER®TT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERAE
Total assets WEE 7,725,042 7,532,198 5,740,426 1,871,738 1,559,214
Total liabilities S = R (12,306,598) (3985942)  (3,186,068) (890,152) (800,468)
(4,581,556) 3,546,256 2,554,358 981,586 758,746
Equity attributable to owners of ~ ANA TR AL
the Company L (4,584,513) 3,529,315 2,522,174 969,613 765,247
Non-controlling interests SFIERR T 2,956 16,941 32,184 11,973 (6,501)
(4.581,556) 3,546,256 2,554,358 981,586 758,746
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